GRAPHIC HEALTH WARNINGS ON AUSTRALIAN CIGARETTE PACKETS:

EVALUATION OF A SOCIAL MARKETING INTERVENTION

CAROLINE MILLER

BA(Hons) BEc MPH

JULY 2011

DISCIPLINE OF PUBLIC HEALTH SCHOOL OF POPULATION HEALTH AND CLINICAL PRACTICE FACULTY OF HEALTH SCIENCES UNIVERSITY OF ADELAIDE AUSTRALIA

A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF ADELAIDE

Contents

Thesis Abstract	4
Thesis Declaration	6
Publications contributing to this thesis:	7
Conference presentations arising out of this thesis:	7
Coverage of findings from this thesis in media	7
Statement of contributions to publications	8
	10
Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review	10
Background	10
Tobacco and Health	. 10
Tobacco is a unique consumer product	. 11
About tobacco control	. 12
The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC)	. 13
Restrictions on tobacco marketing	.14
Health Warnings on Cigarette Packets in Australia	.15
Australia's 2006 graphic cigarette packet warnings – the intervention	.16
Understanding and influencing behaviour	18
Introduction to social marketing	.18
Theoretical models of behaviour change applicable in social marketing	.21
Key predictors of behaviour	21
Beliefs and attitudes	21
Self-belief and perceived control	
Changing social norms	
The prostice of hebryicur above and acciel mericating	27
The practice of behaviour change and social marketing	
Attracting Attention and Raising Awareness	. 32
Persuasive communication styles	.34
Implications of theory for graphic health warnings on cigarette packets	
Evidence of the impact of cigarette pack warnings prior to 2006	
Research justification	
Research Aim and Research Questions	40
Thesis Outline	
Chapter 2	
Response of mass media, tobacco industry and smokers to the introduction of ar	mhic
cigarette pack warnings in Australia	19111C 12
Abstract	
AUSURACI	
	43
Introduction	
Methods	
Results	47
Discussion	52
Chapter 3	
Smokers' recall of Australian graphic cigarette nacket warnings & awareness of	•
associated health effects 2005-2008	55
Δ hetract	
Rackground	
Mathods	
MEMOUS	01

Results	
Discussion	69
Conclusions	72
Chapter 4	
Impact on the Australian Quitline of new graphic cigarette pack war	nings including the
Quitline number	
Abstract	74
Introduction	75
Methods	76
Results	77
Discussion	79
Chapter 5	
The impact of Australia's new graphic cigarette packet warnings on	smokers' beliefs
and attitudes	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	89
Results	92
Discussion	
Chapter 6: Conclusions	101
Summary of findings	101
Limitations	105
Evidence of the impact of cigarette pack warnings since 2006	108
Future Directions	113
Concluding remarks	
Bibliography	116
Appendices: Australian Graphic Health Warnings Reprints of published papers	124

Thesis Abstract

Tobacco-related illness remains the single greatest preventable burden of morbidity and mortality in Australia. Reducing tobacco use is a major public health imperative. This thesis investigates the impact of a public policy intervention designed to inform smokers of the harms associated with smoking and to reduce tobacco use; namely graphic consumer warnings labels on cigarette packets, introduced in Australia in March 2006. The specific aim of this thesis is to examine the impact of these warnings.

Social psychology provided a theoretical framework, with models predicting that behaviour can be influenced by new information. This thesis poses questions focussed on the relationship between such information, smokers' beliefs and attitudes, their behavioural intentions and their actual behaviour.

The first question examined is practical: *What occurred during the introduction and implementation of graphic consumer warnings labels on Australian cigarette packets*? This was asked with a view to (i) offering lessons for interested policy-makers in other countries; and (ii) documenting the intervention under study. The second question is: *Did the warnings attract the attention of smokers and communicate information about smoking to change smokers' beliefs*? Thirdly: *Were there attitude changes or other changes predictive of quitting*? and fourthly *Did behaviour change occur*?

Firstly, studies monitored press coverage about the new warnings and the pace of the rollout into shops. Results (presented in Chapter 2) document tobacco industry lobbying and its apparent influence in delaying the introduction of the warnings in Australia. The nature of the Australian legislation created further opportunities for delay.

The second question is addressed in Chapters 2 and 3. Chapter 2 reports on a smoker intercept study; conducted once new warnings were prevalent. Chapter 3 presents smokers' awareness of new warnings and their beliefs about a range of smoking-related health effects, from a series of cross-sectional population surveys spanning 4 years.

Chapters 4 and 5 look in detail at the third and fourth research questions i.e. the impact of on smokers' attitudes, intentions to quit and quitting behaviour. Chapter 4 presents the short-term marker of success - calls to the Quitline. Chapter 5 applies Fishbein & Ajzen's[1] Reasoned Action Approach with a cohort of smokers; using the model to

investigate the influence of graphic warnings on smokers' quitting behaviour and its precursors.

Taken as a whole, this thesis provides a case study of the roll-out of Australian graphic cigarette packet warning labels and evidence of their impact on smokers. Australia was the 8th country to introduce such warnings. A further 31 countries have since adopted them with many more planning to. Very little is published about the process of implementation and this information from the Australian roll-out offers insight for other policy-makers. This thesis also contributes very strong evidence that Australia's graphic warnings labels were successful in attracting smokers' attention and in communicating information that influenced their beliefs about the consequences of smoking. There is also good evidence of translation into interest in quitting and some evidence of quitting behaviour, the ultimate aim of the public policy intervention.

Thesis Declaration

This work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution to Caroline Louise Miller and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis, when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

The author acknowledges that copyright of published works contained within this thesis (as listed below) resides with the copyright holders of those works.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library catalogue and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Caroline Louise Miller

Signed:_____

Date: 10 July 2011

Publications contributing to this thesis:

- <u>Miller CL</u>, Hill DJ, Quester PG, Hiller JE. Response of mass media, tobacco industry and smokers to the introduction of graphic cigarette pack warnings in Australia. **European Journal of Public Health 2009, 19(6)**:644-649. [see Chapter 2 & Appendix 2]
- <u>Miller CL</u>, Quester PG, Hill DJ, Hiller JE. Smokers' recall of Australian graphic cigarette packet warnings & awareness of associated health effects, 2005-2008 BMC Public Health, 2011. 11:238. [see Chapter 3 & Appendix 3] **Note: Rated "<u>Highly accessed</u>" by journal
- <u>Miller CL</u>, Hill DJ, Quester PG, Hiller JE. Impact on the Australian Quitline of new graphic cigarette pack warnings including the Quitline number. **Tobacco Control** 2009, 18(3):235-237.
 [see Chapter 4 & Appendix 4]
- <u>Miller CL</u>, Hill DJ, Quester PG, Hiller JE. The impact of Australia's new graphic cigarette packet warnings on smokers' beliefs and attitudes. Australasian Marketing Journal 2011,19:181-188. [see Chapter 5 & Appendix 5]

Conference presentations arising out of this thesis:

- 1. <u>Miller, C</u>., Hill, D., Quester, P., and Hiller, J. (2010) Australia's graphic cigarette packet warnings implementation and impact, **Behavioural Research in Cancer Control**, Freemantle, Perth, Australia.
- 2. <u>Miller, C</u>., Hill, D., Hiller, J., & Quester, P. (2010) Australia's Graphic Cigarette Pack Warning: Implementation and Impact. **2008 World cancer congress**. Shenzhen, China.
- <u>Miller, C.</u>, Quester, P., Hiller, J., & Hill, D. (2009). Australia's Graphic Cigarette Pack Warnings. 2009 State Population Health Conference. Adelaide, Australia. **Note: Awarded <u>best paper</u>
- 4. <u>Miller, C</u>., Hill, D., Hiller, J., Quester, P., Hickling, J., & Byrnes, M. (2008). Graphic Cigarette Pack Warning: Impact on the Australian Quitline. **2008 World** cancer congress. Geneva, Switzerland.
- <u>Miller, C.</u>, Hill, D., Hiller, J., Quester, P., & Hickling, J. (2007). Impact on the Quitline of Australia's New Graphic Cigarette Pack Warnings. 2007 Oceania Tobacco Control Conference. Auckland, New Zealand.
- 6. <u>Miller, C.</u>, Hiller, J., Hill, D., & Quester, P. (2007). Impact on the Quitline of Australia's New Graphic Cigarette Pack Warnings. **2007 State Population Health Conference**. Adelaide, Australia.

Coverage of findings from this thesis in media

SMOKING More seek help, in The (Adelaide) Advertiser, 04 Feb 2009, p2.

Statement of contributions to publications

This work contains four papers for publication in peer-reviewed journals, three of which have been published and one of which is in press.

All four papers are authored by Caroline Louise Miller (CLM) and her 3 supervisors. In each instance, CLM is the first author.

In each instance, all authors participated in the conceptual development of the work reported in these manuscripts and the broad study designs. CLM was responsible for the detailed study designs and for implementation of the research projects, including the data collection. CLM performed the statistical and other analyses and interpreted the results. CLM drafted the manuscripts which were then edited by the co-authors and supervisors. CLM acted as corresponding author, dealing with revisions and responses to reviewers' comments, with contributions from and final approval of all co-authors and supervisors.

I certify that the statement of contribution is accurate.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge and thank the following people for their contribution to the production of this thesis.

Firstly I thank my supervisors, Professor Janet Hiller, Professor Pascale Quester and Professor David Hill, all three of whom motivated and inspired me. I am fortunate to have had the benefit of the wisdom and experience of three such accomplished and committed people, all leaders in their respective fields and all committed to public health. For me, they are mentors as well as supervisors. I very much appreciate the time they made for me in their very busy lives. They were supportive and encouraging at all times, they treated me like a colleague more than a student and working with each of them was a great pleasure.

I thank Professor Brenda Wilson, my work colleagues and my friends for their endless encouragement, for taking a genuine interest, for sharing in my successes and for bolstering my confidence along the way.

To my first ever "bosses" Dr Lyn Roberts and Professor Melanie Wakefield, I owe a unique debt of gratitude. They are dedicated and inspiring women who introduced me to tobacco control and public health. They believed in my abilities, they encouraged me in my career and they encouraged me to undertake a PhD. They both continue to be great mentors for me.

Finally, to my family, I thank Mum and Dad for making me believe that I could achieve anything I set my mind to. I thank my husband John for sharing that faith in my abilities, for his pride in my achievements and for his unerring encouragement of me. I also thank Mum, Dad and Bev for the hours and days of weekend babysitting while I chipped away at this thesis. For my little daughters Abby and Grace, I hope we will instil in you a belief in yourselves so that you have the confidence and persistence to pursue the things you enjoy and that are meaningful for you. I hope that this accomplishment will help light a path of learning for you as well.

Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review

Background

Tobacco and Health

"That so many diseases - major and minor - should be related to smoking is one of the most astonishing findings of medical research in this century; less astonishing perhaps than the fact that so many people have ignored it."

Sir Richard Doll, 1999[2]

In Australia, there is a considerable burden of morbidity and mortality, and associated health and social costs, from non-communicable diseases including cancer and heart disease.[3, 4] The determinants of health outcomes are complex and diverse, but much of the morbidity and mortality burden associated with such diseases is preventable. Estimates vary, but it is believed that at least half of cancer incidence is preventable by applying the knowledge that we already have, as is much of the incidence of other diseases. For both cancer prevention and heart disease, significant modifiable risk factors include: physical activity; nutrition; alcohol consumption; body weight and most notably, use of and exposure to tobacco smoke.[5] Exposure to risk factors is influenced by individual behaviour; living and working conditions; and social and cultural factors.

Every year, 15000 Australians die prematurely from a wide range of tobacco-related illnesses,[6] making tobacco the single biggest preventable cause of premature morbidity and mortality. Tobacco causes 10 times the number of deaths as occur from accidents on Australia's roads[7] and 15 times the number of deaths that are attributed to illicit drugs.[8] That smoking causes lung cancer and heart disease is widely known, but that smoking also causes cancer of the mouth and oropharynx, stomach, liver, pancreas, cervix, bladder, and acute myeloid leukemia [9] is less well understood.

Recent estimates show that 19% of the Australian adult population smokes daily.[10] Smoking rates vary across the community by a number of demographic factors including age, gender, education, and socio-economic status. The vast majority of smokers have tried to quit, and many have found it very difficult.[11] Because of the health consequences, tobacco use results in considerable costs to smokers and their families, businesses and the community as a whole.[12]

Tobacco is a unique consumer product

Tobacco is a unique consumer product: It is the only one which, when used as intended by the manufacturer, kills its long term users – probably half of them.[13]

The harm tobacco causes to the people who buy and consume it, makes it unlike any other product on the market. This also justifies intervention and regulation of the product, to help consumers understand better the risks associated with consumption.

Opposition to regulation of tobacco is often accompanied by the argument that smoking is as a "rational" choice to use "legal product" by adults who understand the risks.[14] This framing de-emphasises the unique nature of tobacco among other consumer products, and has several major flaws.

Firstly, there is the question of "rational" choice. Economic theory presumes that people's behaviour can be understood as the rational pursuit of self-interest.[15] The concept of rational choice refers to people choosing the best course of action, for their preferences, at a given time, having weighed up the information that they have when the choice is made. Implicit in the argument of rational choice is perfect information. When perfect information is compromised, so too is rational choice. As it is applied to tobacco consumption, this argument presumes that people genuinely understand and weigh up the costs (health, economic, social) versus the benefits (physiological pleasure, social) of smoking and choose to continue to start to smoke and continue to smoke. While it is true that virtually all smokers are able to affirm that smoking is harmful to health, far fewer accurately estimate the risk of disease or disability, or understand the breadth of illnesses tobacco causes or the chances of consequences in middle age.[11, 16, 17] Furthermore, there is evidence in tobacco company documents that tobacco companies have known for a long time about the effects of tobacco and have failed to disclose or denied this information to consumers.[18] Historically, health warnings on tobacco products have not provided full information about the harmfulness of this unique product.[19]

Secondly, tobacco smoking delivers nicotine, which is addictive.[20] Addiction thus impairs consumers' ability to make a rational choice about a product. Thirdly, the majority of smoking experimentation and initiation occurs among adolescents; well below the age of adulthood. By the time many new smokers reach adulthood they have already become addicted. Therefore, a decision to initiate smoking is rarely taken by an adult, and rational

choice is frequently impeded by inadequate information and, in any case, addiction undermines an individual's 'freedom' to choose.

Another reason for regulating tobacco products is that they generate negative externalities, which are the "costs or benefits arising from an economic transaction that falls on a third party and that is not taken into account...in the transaction".[15] In the case of tobacco, the private costs or the costs to the individual might be the expense of purchasing tobacco, the illness that may be incurred, medical expenses and lost earnings. This may not represent the total costs from that individual's tobacco use; there are also costs borne by others external to the tobacco user. Passive smoking is one example. A person who does not smoke but who works or spends recreation times in a smoky environment, which is smoky and suffers health or economic consequences is bearing costs. Another example is the broader, burden to children who lose a parent to tobacco.[21] These costs to society beyond the individual are negative externalities and they constitute another form of market failure. Market failure in the case of tobacco justifies government regulation of tobacco.

Tobacco is a consumer product that has been marketed heavily and with sophistication, hence glamorizing and normalising tobacco use. History demonstrates that extensive tobacco marketing continued, despite bans on tobacco advertising in the broadcast media of television, radio and print. [22] A plethora of internal tobacco industry documents reveal public relations and market segmentation strategies to deny scientific findings about the health consequences of tobacco use, and tobacco smoke exposure, to resist regulation of tobacco and to promote and sell tobacco to different sub-groups in western societies, as well as to pursue global expansion strategies.[23, 24]

Tobacco is a consumer product that that does not fit a traditional model of an efficient market for a consumer good. When markets fail to achieve (specify what), there is clearer justification for government or policy intervention. Such intervention may take many forms – one of which is mandatory information on labels to warn consumers of the harms associated with the product. Consumer warnings labels and their effects, in particular graphic health warnings on cigarette packets, are the subject of this thesis.

About tobacco control

Much of the progress that has been made in reducing tobacco use in recent decades has been through comprehensive tobacco control strategies. *Tobacco control* is the term used

to describe a range of regulatory and program measures, which work together to reduce the harm caused by tobacco. Examples of effective program measures include mass-media campaigns (which make plain the effects of tobacco use and motivate people to quit) and services for smokers such as telephone help lines or 'Quitlines'.

Tobacco control also includes a range of regulatory measures aimed to control supply of, reduce the promotion of, and reduce demand for tobacco products. Examples include: regulation of where and to whom tobacco products can be sold, tight controls over the promotion of tobacco, and heavy taxation of tobacco products to reduce demand.

The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC)

The "devastating health, social, environmental and economic consequences of tobacco consumption and exposure to tobacco smoke are a truly global problem".

World Health Organization, 2003[25]

The global burden on health from tobacco is enormous. In 2004, the World Health Organization (WHO) projected that "between 2000 and 2025 the number of smokers will rise from approximately 1.2 billion to more than 1.7 billion and the annual number of deaths, which is currently estimated at about 5 million, will almost double in 20 years".[26] An international treaty was developed under the auspices of the World Health Organization to provide a global framework for tobacco control measures – the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC). Australia became a full Party to the treaty at its inception, in February 2005. As of January 2011, the FCTC had 179 parties.[27]

Under international law, each of the Parties to the treaty, has minimum regulatory obligations and is also encouraged to undertake a range of other listed measures, in the interests of public health. These regulatory obligations include: taxation of tobacco products; tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship restrictions; protection from exposure to tobacco smoke; product content disclosure; and product labelling – discussed in greater detail below. Other non-regulatory obligations include: public education and awareness-raising; as well as efforts towards reducing tobacco dependence and increasing cessation.

As Australia has been one of the countries at the forefront of advances in tobacco control, many of the obligations of the FCTC were already in place in Australia at the time of its declaration.

Restrictions on tobacco marketing

"Australia is one of the darkest markets in the world... it probably is the darkest, I mean ourselves and Canada fight every month for who's got the darkest conditions to do tobacco manufacturing and marketing. And one of the things we can offer the world is what we do best, which is how to work, maximize, proactively drive our market position in a market that's completely dark.

David Crowe, Marketing Director, British American Tobacco (BAT) Australia, 2001[28]

Tobacco advertising has been prohibited from mainstream mass media such as television, on radio and at the cinema for several decades. In 1992, the Federal Government also prohibited tobacco advertising in print media and on billboards along with tobacco sponsorship, exempting the Formula 1 Grand Prix until 2006.[29] However, tobacco advertising was still permitted at the point of sale. These restrictions on advertising led to a rise in the importance of what is known as "below the line" marketing; and studies of tobacco industry documents have revealed that point of sale became particularly important.[30] Prior to the 1992 legislative change, when print- and sponsorship-related advertising were still permitted, conventional paid advertising was the primary vehicle for building brand image, and below-the-line strategies "provid[ed] important support for these established images".[30] In 1992, a Philip Morris Limited presentation argued: "new government restrictions are rapidly increasing the importance of retail marketing as a part of the overall marketing mix. With this comes aggressive competition for in-store space and importantly, cut through to the consumer...", the "net result" of which was that "we must now extend below the line programs to encompass the image building role... retail marketing is therefore no longer the support mechanism, [but] the primary communication vehicle".[31]

More recently, states and territories have legislated to prohibit advertising at point of sale, with some jurisdictions placing restrictions on display of the tobacco products themselves. (In South Australia, advertising proliferated at point-of-sale until it was prohibited by state regulations in March 2005.[32] In November 2007, the South Australian government

restricted the size of tobacco displays at point-of-sale, and has since announced its intention to eliminate display of tobacco at point-of-sale altogether.[33])

As opportunities for conventional paid advertising and sponsorship were eliminated in Australia and elsewhere, the cigarette packet itself became an increasingly important component of marketing strategy. Internal tobacco industry documents have shown that tobacco companies view cigarette packaging as a vehicle for creating significant in-store presence at the point of sale, and communicating brand image.[34] Documents also reveal the careful balancing act that companies have employed in using pack design and colour to communicate impressions about different products and to ensure that cigarette packaging appeals to selected target groups, including young adults and women.[34]

This communication medium would change when in September 2003, the Australian Government announced its intention to introduce as consumer health warnings on cigarette packets which included graphic imagery;[35] and subsequently introduced them in March 2006.[36]

Health Warnings on Cigarette Packets in Australia

Government health warnings on cigarette packets are one form of tobacco control regulation. Like other consumer warning labels, warnings on tobacco packets are designed to increase consumers' understanding of the harms associated with the product. Mandating such warnings on every package ensures that smokers can see the warnings when they handle the packet. It has been estimated that a 20-a-day smoker would be exposed to cigarette packet warnings 7000 times a year.[10]

The tobacco industry has had a long history of failing to warn consumers and even actively denying the harmful effects of its products. Health warnings on cigarette packets have faced a long history of opposition from the tobacco industry.[19, 37]

The first warnings appeared on Australian tobacco products in 1973. From 1973-1987, the warning consisted of "Warning. Smoking is a health hazard" in small font at the bottom of the packet. A new generation of warnings was introduced in 1987. From 1987-1994 the warnings were: "Smoking causes lung cancer"; "Smoking damages your lungs"; "Smoking causes heart disease"; and "Smoking reduces your fitness". Again the warnings appeared in small font on the bottom of the packet. In 1995, Australia was among the first countries to

introduce prominent warnings in black text on a white background, within a black border on the top cigarette packets. "Smoking damages your lungs" was discontinued and "Smoking Kills", "Smoking is Addictive", "Smoking when pregnant harms your baby" and "Your smoking can harm others" were included for the first time. These warnings took up around 25% of the front of the packet; the rest remained available to the tobacco companies.

Australia's 2006 graphic cigarette packet warnings - the intervention

In March 2006, Australian legislation came into force requiring consumer health warnings on cigarette packets, containing graphic imagery and a prominent Quitline telephone number. At the time, Australia was among only a handful of nations to have taken such a measure. Others were: Canada, Brazil; Singapore; Thailand; Venezuela; Jordan and Uruguay. Like the warnings that preceded them, the graphic warnings are mandated under federal trade practices legislation.[38, 39]

The legislation required that tobacco products sold in Australia, from 1 March 2006, display the new health warnings. The new health warning measures included the following provisions:[36]

- A new set of 14 health warnings comprising graphic images and explanatory messages which cover 30% of the front and 90% of the back of the pack, with graphics appearing on both the front and back of cigarette packets;
- Inclusion of the national Quitline number and website address on the back of packs to provide a contact for smokers for assistance with quitting;
- A new rotation system for health warnings in order to optimise consumer learning and awareness of the health effects of smoking. This involves the rotation of each set of 7 warnings alternatively, every 12 months. Warnings are also rotated within brands over each 12 month period;
- Removal of the requirement for manufacturers to list average levels of tar, nicotine
 and carbon monoxide yields on the side of pack (considered in the light of
 experience to have been unhelpful to consumers). Instead a qualitative information
 message on the health effects of chemicals in tobacco smoke is required on the side
 of the pack. This change is to highlight that there is no safe cigarette;

- An 18 month phase-in period from date of gazettal, during which time both the current or the new requirements would operate, thereafter only new health warnings could be displayed on product packaging; and
- A set of cigar-specific health warnings to be displayed on cigar packaging to increase the awareness of consumers of the health risks of smoking cigars.

The warnings can be viewed in Appendix 1, or online.[40]

The stated intention of the Australian Government in introducing the warnings was as follows:

The graphic health warnings provide a strong and confronting message to smokers about the harmful health consequences of tobacco products and convey the 'quit' message every time a person reaches for a cigarette. The graphic images, in combination with the health warnings and explanatory messages, are intended to increase consumer knowledge of health effects relating to smoking, to encourage cessation and to discourage uptake or relapse.[36]

Unlike other consumable products (i.e. food) there is no mandatory disclosure of ingredients in tobacco products. Instead, the Department of Health and Ageing negotiated a *Voluntary Agreement for the Disclosure of the Ingredients of Cigarettes* with the three tobacco companies, Philip Morris Limited, British American Tobacco Australia Limited and Imperial Australia Limited.[41] Under the Agreement the companies provide annual reports to the Government regarding the ingredients of cigarettes which are posted unmodified on the Departmental website.

The Australian Government produced a mass-media campaign to introduce the new cigarette packet warnings to Australian consumers. The Australian Government's *awareness raising campaign* screened in February 2006, and is available for viewing online.[42] In addition, a collaboration of Australian state and territory based non-government health agencies (including Quit, Cancer Council and the Heart Foundation) developed a cessation-oriented social marketing campaign to reinforce the pack warnings and promote quitting. The *Quit campaign* was started in May 2006, and is available for viewing online.[43, 44]

The new graphic cigarette packet warnings, and the accompanying campaigns, formed a significant and unprecedented tobacco control intervention in Australia. The look of tobacco packets changed markedly, as 30% of the front of the packet and 90% of the back

of the packet was taken up with prominent, full colour warnings, reducing further the discretionary space for tobacco companies' design elements.

The warnings as a policy intervention were designed to increase Australian smokers awareness of the harmful effects of smoking; to influence their perception of the risks associated with their own smoking behaviour and to decrease their comfort or satisfaction with their own smoking behaviour; to prompt thoughts of quitting and ultimately to reduce smoking behaviour. Evaluating the impact of this intervention is the broad topic of investigation for this thesis. The details of the aims and research questions are expanded upon at the end of this chapter.

The next section of this chapter outlines the theoretical and empirical work that forms the frame of reference or context for this thesis, which evaluates the impact of Australia's new graphic cigarette packet warnings. Relevant literature summarised relates to changing health behaviours, such as smoking, through information provision. Also provided is an up-to-date summary of the international literature covering the impact of graphic cigarette warnings. A further 30 countries have introduced graphic cigarette packet warnings in the time since March 2006, when the Australian law took effect and 2011. The number of papers evaluating the impact of graphic cigarette packet warnings is modest, although growing.

Understanding and influencing behaviour

Introduction to social marketing

In order to achieve public health gains of better health outcomes at a population level, such as reducing harm from tobacco, interventions need to succeed at achieving changes in behaviours among individuals, which aggregate into the population-level effects. How best to motivate, facilitate and sustain behaviour change is a primary concern for many disciplines including psychology, marketing (specifically social marketing and consumer behaviour) and the applied fields of public health and health promotion. The way in which each of these disciplines can contribute in this thesis to knowledge about the impact of graphic cigarette packet warnings and accompanying mass-media campaign, is discussed briefly below.

Psychology is the scientific study of human behaviour. It examines: behaviour itself, learning processes, cognitive processes of attention, information processing and problem solving which underpin human functioning in order to understand and predict behaviour. While not pertinent to the current thesis, it can also be the study of human emotions, personalities and human interactions.[45] A field within psychology relevant to the current thesis is social psychology, which is defined as "the thought, feeling, and behaviour of individuals" as shaped by "the actual, imagined or implied presence of others".[46](p.3) Social psychology examines perceptions, attitudes structures, attitude change, motivation, persuasion, social norms and conformity; all of which have significant influence on behaviour. Efforts to predict and then influence health behaviours have gained much from the science of psychology.

Marketing is traditionally a commercial discipline and practice. In general terms, marketing is defined as identifying (and/or creating) consumer needs and meeting those needs, through consumer exchange of money for goods and services. A highly sophisticated understanding of how to advertise and sell products has evolved. The practice of marketing has relevance to tobacco control, as tobacco is a consumer product, which has been and still is the focus of heavy marketing by industry and counter-marketing by health professionals. This thesis looks at the consumer product of tobacco, and its package and the impact of changes to the package, on consumers' appraisal of the product; its purchase and use.

Social marketing is a relatively new field of study and practice that is also concerned with advertising and persuading people (or consumers) to change their behaviour. Broadly speaking, social marketing applies the principles and techniques of commercial marketing to achieve socially constructive outcomes. Social marketing also employs the principles of communication and persuasion theory and models of attitude and behaviour change, which have originated from the discipline of social psychology.[47] Andreasen defined it as follows: *"Social marketing is the adaptation of commercial marketing technologies to programs designed to influence the voluntary behaviour of target audiences to improve their personal welfare and that of the society of which they are a part."[48] The success or otherwise of commercial marketing is judged against its "bottom line" of increasing sales; for social marketing the "bottom line", against which it can be judged is influencing behaviour [48] or social change for the well-being of the community.[49]*

One of the fundamental aspects of (social) marketing, shared with social psychology, is recognition of the influence of the social and physical environment on individual behaviour. Comprehensive social marketing campaigns might involve communication of a message to individuals to try to persuade them to change a voluntary behaviour, or they might also be designed to persuade legislators to mandate changes that influence the physical environment, or influence public opinion thereby changing the social environment. Information provision to change beliefs and attitudes, and structural changes which influence environments are often integral to social marketing interventions, but such changes are a means to an end, not the end itself, since behaviour change is the goal.

Three core strategies of social marketing which aim to bring about behaviour change are (i) to educate; (ii) to motivate; and (iii) to advocate.[49] Education provides information and understanding about behaviour or assists in the development of skills to change the behaviour. Motivation goes beyond dispassionate presentation of information and involves presentation of information together with explicit or implied arguments so as to persuade the target audience to accept the communicator's ("source's") recommendations.[49] For example, rather than presenting a statistic about a health outcome of a behaviour, a health effect may be dramatised in an attempt to change the target audience's perceptions of the severity or likelihood of experience of that health outcome as a result of continuing the behaviour in question. Advocacy is aimed at bringing about structural change through policy innovation to vary social, physical and policy environments to prompt or facilitate the desired behaviour change.

Tobacco control has a well-established track record of applying the theory of social psychology, to develop social marketing interventions, to bring about behaviour change in populations. For three decades, quit campaigns discouraging smoking have been used to change beliefs and attitudes, to influence intentions to quit and to influence actual smoking behaviour. Governments have legislated to restrict where people can smoke and to restrict the marketing and promotion of tobacco products. The inclusion of graphic warnings on cigarette packet themselves and the television campaigns that accompanied their introduction provide another example of a social marketing intervention designed to influence behaviour.

Theoretical models of behaviour change applicable in social marketing

Key predictors of behaviour

The fields of social psychology and marketing understand behaviour both as the function of, and predicted by, a number of independent variables. These disciplines study the mechanisms by which these independent variables operate to influence behaviours. As well as investigating what influences behaviour, the disciplines also postulate how changes to behaviour are brought about directly and/or via the predictors of behaviour.

The underpinnings of behaviour or key predictors, and how to influence those predictors, are integral to this thesis. Implicit and explicit in the design of the policy intervention under investigation – graphic health warnings on cigarette packets – was the intention to influence behaviour by influencing its pre-cursers such as knowledge, beliefs and attitudes. The theoretical constructs and empirical studies from social psychology, and their practical application in social marketing, are examined for insights into ways in which the components of the intervention would be likely to influence behaviour. In evaluating the intervention, the current thesis will examine whether change in behaviour has taken place – the key outcome of interest being the use of tobacco products. The thesis will also focus more closely on the extent to which the intervention has brought about changes in the independent variables that social psychological (and marketing) literature predicts should lead to behaviour change.

The remainder of this section summarises the key variables that social psychology theory predicts are relevant to bringing about behaviour change, with an emphasis on social cognitive (or information processing) theories which have relevance for the current context of new graphic health warnings on cigarette packet.

Beliefs and attitudes

The proposition that behaviour is influenced by attitudes and beliefs, and that changing attitudes and beliefs is one mechanism to change behaviour, is fundamental in the discipline of social psychology and the practice of social marketing. The relationship between beliefs, attitudes and behaviour is complex and has been extensively investigated.

The field of attitude definition and measurement has an entire literature of its own. Although attitude is variously defined in social psychology literature, a fundamental working definition of an attitude is as a positive or negative evaluation. Within the context of this thesis, those evaluations (or attitudes) are about the behaviour of smoking and its various consequences.

What people think, or believe, and how they process information - i.e. cognition - has a central role in theories of attitude formation and change. Social cognition research focussed on how people make sense of messages, other people and themselves, has produced several highly influential and theories of attitude change, with relevance for this thesis.

Consistency theories posit relationships between cognitive processes and attitudes, with implications for behaviour. Festinger's cognitive dissonance theory [50] focuses on the inconsistency among cognitions, but also between cognitions and behaviour. Inconsistency is viewed as causing a state of dissonance. There is a (psychological) discomfort caused by this dissonance which generates a drive to reduce that discomfort. Smoking provides a relevant example. Most smokers report believing that smoking can kill, and yet most people, including smokers, report wanting to live a long and healthy life. The behaviour of smoking is inconsistent with the cognition of wanting to live a long and healthy life, again creating cognitive dissonance. Similarly, smokers may have several different smokingrelated cognitions, some consonant with the behaviour (e.g. I enjoy smoking) and some dissonant with the behaviour (e.g. smoking causes cancer; smoking makes me smell). Theory predicts that if dissonant cognitions outweigh the consonant ones, then the smoker would experience cognitive dissonance. Cognitive dissonance can be reduced cognitively or behaviourally. Cognitive consistency can be increased, by decreasing the importance of the dissonant cognitions e.g. downplaying the risks, or by increasing the important of consonant cognitions so that an overall positive attitude towards smoking behaviour can be retained. Another, less easy option for reducing cognitive dissonance is to change the behaviour by quitting smoking. Studies have reported that smoking-consonant cognitions or self-exempting beliefs are widespread among Australian smokers. Commonly held beliefs include: scepticism about the harms of smoking e.g. "many people who smoke live long and healthy lives"; smoking is "worth it"; everything is dangerous and "smoking is no more risky than lots of other things"; and protective beliefs such as "exercising and eating healthily and will cancel out smoking".[51, 52] It has also been reported that some selfexempting beliefs influence interest in quitting, and that interventions which challenge "skeptic" beliefs and "worth it" beliefs by making the harms of smoking more salient are likely to increase cognitive dissonance and increase engagement with quitting.[52]

Consistency theories also propose that people seek out, notice and interpret information in ways that reinforce their attitudes and dissonance theory predicts that people will try to protect their attitudes by avoiding information that increases dissonance. This involves three elements: selective exposure (i.e. people are motivated to avoid information that is inconsistent with their belief, attitude or behaviour), selective attention (i.e. providing more attention to information that is consistent) and selective interpretation (i.e. translating ambiguous information to be consistent with existing attitude). The empirical evidence to support the notion of selective exposure has been mixed, but the evidence for selective attention and interpretation is stronger. Cognitive Dissonance Theory and Balance Theory [53] have both demonstrated that information that is consistent with attitude is easier to learn and remember.

These original traditional cognitive consistency theories have the basic postulate that attitude and behaviour change come about because people are motivated to reduce internal discrepancies and to avoid the uncomfortable feeling of holding two conflicting beliefs. Cognitive dissonance theory would predict that any new information about smoking may increase dissonant cognitions, making the smoker uncomfortable and motivated to change either their cognitions or behaviour to reduce the inconsistency. However, empirical studies have shown that people are biased in the attention they give to and the way they interpret information which is reinforcing of versus contradictory to their current attitude or behaviour. The implications for social marketing are that attitude change (and behaviour change) could be expected to be elicited by presenting new and confronting negative information about smoking.

McGuire's Chain of Persuasion [54] is another relevant early information-processing theory of attitude change, with implications for social marketing. The Chain of Persuasion theory proposes that people process and evaluate information or arguments, either agreeing or disagreeing with them, and thereby altering attitude and potentially behaviour. McGuire's model proposes a series of cognitive processes as necessary conditions for communications to be effective in changing attitudes and influencing behaviour. These steps are: (i) exposure – first a person must be exposed to the message; (ii) attention – the person must receive or attend to the message; (iii) comprehension – the recipient must understand the message; (iv) yielding – the recipient must be persuaded by the content of the message in order to change his/her attitude. Furthermore, and to generate behaviour change, there must be (v) retention – the changed attitude must be maintained in the face of competing information and influences such as friends with different views; and (vi)

retrieval – the attitude must be remembered in a relevant situation; then the person must take the (vii) decision – to act upon their attitude; and (viii) behave – according to their attitude. This model and the associated field of empirical research build on the early cognitive consistency theories by demonstrating the significance of: features of the communicator; attributes of the message; and characteristics of the audience, in changing attitudes and behaviours.

Many classical theories of attitude like those outlined above, posit that attitudes are formed and changed based on conscious and careful consideration of information relevant to the attitude (or behaviour) in question. However, psychological studies in cognition have systematically demonstrated that people take short cuts in searching for and processing the information they encounter. For example, the Heuristic-Systematic model [55] argues that people only engage in such conscious processes when they are sufficiently motivated and have the capacity to do so. When people are motivated they engage in systematic processing which involves weighing up the pros and cons of an argument and testing the argument against an existing attitude. Systematic evaluation of attitude-relevant information has been shown to be more likely to occur in cases where: the message is of high personal relevance; when the attitude in question is important; or when the person finds that their attitude is inconsistent with the majority view.[56] The faster, easier, heuristic evaluation of attitude-relevant information provides cognitive shortcuts for people. People learn certain heuristics which they apply to attempts to persuade them and to process the information contained in a message. One example of such a heuristic is that "experts can be trusted".

The theoretically similar elaboration likelihood model,[57] outlines a set of situations in which people will or will not be likely to attend in detail to attitude-relevant information or a message. In brief, when a person is both motivated and able to think carefully about a message, that person engages in extensive elaboration (cognitive processing) of that message. Examples of motivating factors which favour contemplative cognitive processing are perceived relevance of message topic and an innate disposition towards cognition or thinking. Examples of disabling factors are time pressures and distractions in the environment and lack of relevant knowledge needed to scrutinise the arguments. During high elaboration, people engage with and assesse the merits of the argument carefully. They may check the argument against what they already know, or seek out further information. If the elaboration process generates a positive appraisal of the message then the message is accepted and an attitude is formed or changed to be consistent with the

message's proposition. If the merits of the argument are assessed unfavourably then the message is likely to be rejected.

More commonly, people engage in low elaboration and look for simple characteristics of the message or its presentation context to determine whether they should accept the message. When low elaboration occurs and people use the peripheral route, the persuasion heuristics or "rules" of thumb people apply become significant. According to the elaboration likelihood model, cognitive engagement is important because attitudes formed under high elaboration are stronger than those formed under low elaboration.[57]

These social cognition models outlined above have an underpinning tenet: people are motivated to hold 'correct' attitudes, and when motivated and able, people will respond to the quality of an argument. These theoretical models, which articulate how attitudes are formed and changed, provide a broad framework for understanding the basic processes behind persuasive communication.

From these models and empirical literature come principles which underpin many applied theories and much practice in health promotion, including social marketing. (The implications for graphic health warnings on cigarette packets will be expanded in a later section.) The highly applied Health Belief Model [58] developed in the US Public Health system in the 1950's reflects the emphasis on cognition and the weighing up of opposing cognitions, in predicting health behaviour. This model assumed that attitudes and behaviours are influenced by: a person's belief that they are susceptible to health consequences related to a behaviour; a personal appraisal that those health consequences are serious; the person's perception that the behaviour has more costs than benefits; and that there is some "cue to action" or precipitating force changing the current (implicitly balanced) state. The cognition-based health belief model continued to be one of the most frequently applied models in published reports in health education and health behavior until the early 1990s. It is still influential for developing the communication components of social marketing campaigns.

A systematic review in 1992 found it lacked predictive power,[59] probably due to its lack of scope in discussing other predisposing and enabling factors. The model did not have the predictive power of newer cognitive models, which did account for other constructs, notably the Theories of Reasoned Action and Planned Behaviour (discussed in detail below). The next section briefly discusses two additional constructs which have become

seminal in social cognitive theories and the study of health behaviour change; namely efficacy-beliefs and social norms.

Efficacy-beliefs

Much behaviour, such as quitting smoking, is complex and can require considerable motivation and skill. People's appraisal of their own capabilities and the control they have over outcomes are held to be important. Many prominent social psychology theories not elaborated upon here, emphasise the role of control beliefs in predicting behaviour. The most relevant to this thesis is Albert Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory,[60] which used the term self-efficacy to describe people's perception that they can perform a desired behaviour. He argued that people's self-efficacy or belief in their ability to control an outcome, mediated their behaviour. Self-efficacy is an important construct in the context of trying to promote quitting smoking. Research has shown that self-efficacy judgements are related to whether or not an individual will undertake particular goal-directed activities, the amount of energy that the individual will put into that effort, and the length of time that the individual will persist in striving to achieve a particular goal. Unless people believe have the belief that they can achieve the desired effects by their actions, they are unlikely to persist in the face of difficulty. The stronger the self-efficacy, the more likely individuals are to believe they can achieve their goal, and the more likely they are to view obstacles to that achievement as surmountable. Response efficacy then describes people's perception that performing the desired behaviour will lead to the desired outcome (e.g. quitting smoking will lead to avoiding heart disease).[61]

Empirical testing of a range of social cognitive theories emphasising beliefs, attitudes and self-efficacy has demonstrated these theories' capacity to predict a range of health behaviours, including, safe sex, breast-feeding, cancer screening, exercise, dietary intake, weight loss and alcohol consumption.[62]

Changing social norms

The previous discussion has focused on cognitive factors internal to the individual which are likely to influence behaviour. In addition to internal psychological factors, social learning theories [63, 64] emphasise the influence of external or environmental social factors on behaviour. Central to social learning theory is the tenet that behaviours are learned by observation of others, as well as by observations of outcomes of behaviours. People wish to avoid negative consequences, and maximise positive results. If people observe positive, desirable outcomes from behaviour, then it is argued, they are more likely to model, imitate, and adopt that behaviour themselves.

Both social psychology and marketing theory recognise that social conformity, or the tendency to want to be like relevant and significant others, is a fundamental component of human behaviour. People conform consciously and unconsciously in their everyday behaviours. Some social psychological theories argue that subjective norms or social norms have a direct impact on intentions and, in turn, behaviour. Social norms reflect the extent to which relevant others are perceived to be supportive of the person taking an action, and the person's motivation to comply with those expectations. Overall it has been demonstrated that people are more likely to intend to perform a behaviour, when they believe that other people who are important to them think that they should perform it.[65]

Many consumer products, such as alcohol and tobacco, are consumed in social situations and carry social meaning. Arguably, tobacco is close to a person's public image of being a non-smoker or a smoker, even a smoker with a particular persona reflected in their cigarette brand choice. Smoking with friends can be an important part of people's smoking behaviour and in some cases, smoking may be perceived as highly integral to social functioning. Because smoking also has serious health-consequence, most people report having pressure from friends or family to give up smoking. Smoking is, therefore, a behaviour with several social components and likely to be influenced by social norms.

The Theory of Reasoned Action and the Theory of Planned Behaviour

The Theory of Reasoned Action and the later Theory of Planned Behaviour are seminal theories from social psychology that represent the culmination of earlier theories of social cognition. The Theory of Reasoned Action and the Theory of Planned Behaviour encompass many of the factors listed above, which have been demonstrated to influence behaviour. Fishbein and Ajzen's original Theory of Reasoned Action[65, 66] argues that people are essentially rational decision makers who make systematic use of the information available to them. Actions are largely seen to be made by choice and under an individual's control. The figure (1.1) below provides a basic overview of the Theory of Reasoned Action (with additional variables from the Theory of Planned Behaviour presented in a different colour). Fishbein and Ajzen's (recently re-labelled) Reasoned Actioned Approach [1] provided the theoretical framework for part of this thesis.

Figure 1.1: Schematic presentation of the Theory of Reasoned Action (blue) and Theory of Planned Behaviour (blue plus purple). Adapted from Fishbein & Ajzen[65, 66]



A person's volitional *behaviour* is held to be predicted directly by an individual's intention to take action. That is to say, at a given point in time, people do what they intend to do. The person's behavioural intentions, in turn, are a combined function of personal and social factors. The Theory of Reasoned Action proposed that behavioural *intention* is determined by a weighted function of that individual's (i) attitude towards performing that behaviour and (ii) the perceived *subjective norms* or perceived social pressure to perform the behaviour. The Theory of Planned Behaviour extended the Theory of Reasoned Action by incorporating self-efficacy or perceived behavioural control as a direct influence on intention and behaviour.[67] *Perceived behavioural control* (see Figure 1.1 above) is the extent to which the individual believes that taking the action will be hard or difficult. Most behaviours require skills, resources and cooperation of others to facilitate the behaviour or self-efficacy.

Attitudes about whether to take the action are themselves the product of the sum of salient *behavioural beliefs* about the consequences of the action weighted by the evaluation of those consequences (*outcome evaluation*). Salient behavioural beliefs are the beliefs about the behaviour in question which are most prominent and relevant for the individual. Attitudes towards the behaviour can range from highly favourable to highly unfavourable, and are determined by the perceived personal consequences of an action, and its perceived likelihood of occurrence. If the individual believes the behaviour will lead overall to a

positive outcome, they will hold a positive attitude, if they believe that performing the behaviour will lead overall to a negative outcome, they will hold a negative attitude. *Subjective norms* are a function of the perception of the extent to which relevant others and groups support taking the action, and the individual's motivation to comply with expectations of others.

Generally speaking, people will intend to perform a behaviour when they evaluate it positively, when they believe that important others think that they should perform it, and when they believe that they will be able to perform it. Certain factors are argued to increase the correspondence between behavioural intentions and behaviour.[68] Intentions will correspond with behaviours according to the extent to which the measures of these elements are consistent. These include correspondence between the elements that make up intentions, and the stability of intentions over time. The elements of intention are: (i) the action itself (e.g. not purchasing cigarettes or not smoking a cigarette); (ii) target (e.g. cessation); (iii) time (e.g. in the next week); and (iv) context (e.g. while at work, at home and out with friends). The stability of intentions also affects the predictive power of intentions on behaviour. The longer the time between measured intention and behaviour, the less stable the intention. For example, an intention to quit smoking tomorrow would be more predictive than an intention to quit smoking next year sometime, but only because, according to this essentially information processing model, the determinants of intention (behavioural, normative and control beliefs) might have changed in the mean time. Greater knowledge about an issue also strengthens the relationship between intention and behaviour.

While the Fishbein and Ajzen model acknowledges the place of social influence and of confidence in one's ability to carry out an action, the beliefs that people hold about a behaviour which underpin attitudes, are fundamental determinants about whether to perform that behaviour. Importantly, it is only salient beliefs that determine attitudes. These are defined as 'top of mind' beliefs about a behaviour, that is to say they do not require to be prompted into consciousness, and are therefore assumed to be capable of determining intentions and behaviour on an ongoing basis. It is postulated that no more than 5-7 salient beliefs are held for any attitude object. Elements of the above model can be quantified.[69] Salient beliefs are measured though salient belief statements assessed on Likert scales:

e.g. *Evaluation* (e): outcome X of performing behaviour Y would be [very good to very bad]; *Belief* (b): outcome X is [not likely to very likely] to happen to me.

Attitude = Σ (Evaluation of each behaviour's consequences * the strength of *belief* that performing the behaviour will lead to that consequence.)

Attitude = $\Sigma_n e^*b$

The behavioural beliefs that underpin attitude have been formed from a variety of information sources, including past personal experiences. Those beliefs are the most accessible to intervention by communication to an individual from a third party.

Fishbein and Ajzen's original theories, recently re-labelled by the authors as the Reasoned Action Approach[1], are social cognition theories. As noted above, in their early writings Fishbein and Ajzen's [65, 66] argue that people are essentially rational decision makers, systematically using information available to them whose actions are largely made by choice and under an individual's control. At a fundamental level, this Approach has a lot in common with how economic theory understands behaviour; as the outcome of rational choices of individuals, taking the best course of action for themselves, given the information available. In an earlier section, the point was made that rational choice about tobacco use can be compromised by addiction. Fishbein and Ajzen address the question of whether intentions and cognition become irrelevant and addiction controls behaviour in case of addictive behaviours, such as smoking, drug use and gambling. They argue that their theoretical Approach holds for addictive behaviours.[1] In all but the most extreme cases of psychological or physiological addition, they argue that people still engage in addictive behaviours because they intend to do so. In every instance, people's intentions are explained by underlying beliefs, attitudes, perceived norms and perceived control. In fact, people's knowledge of their addiction and their experience of trying to change that addictive behaviour may inform their beliefs about the behaviour and their perceptions of control .[1]

Fishbein and Ajzen's Reasoned Action Approach has been widely applied and successfully used to predict of a range of health behaviours, such as safe sex, breast-feeding, cancer screening and weight loss, and also addictive behaviours including smoking, alcohol and drug use and gambling.[1, 46] To date this approach does not appear to have been applied to the examination of the impact on attitudes of interventions such as graphic cigarette packet warnings.

In this thesis, the Reasoned Action Approach will guide empirical testing of effects of exposure to new cigarette pack warnings, and more specifically to effects on quitting smoking. It will explore the quitting behaviour; intentions to quit smoking; attitudes towards quitting smoking; normative beliefs about quitting smoking and perceived control over quitting smoking.

The thesis will explore the influence of graphic health warnings on cigarette packets on relevant variables within the model. Graphic health warnings on cigarette packets, depicting the harms of smoking, could influence quitting intentions and behaviour, via attitudes, by engendering salient beliefs about negative consequences of smoking that displace previously held salient beliefs. As well, graphic warnings might change the outcome evaluation (e.g. increase the negative valence of gangrene as a consequence of smoking). Since it is the product of perceived likelihood and outcome evaluation that is relevant, change in either would have an impact on a person's attitude.

Arguably, the graphic health warnings on cigarette packets might also influence smokers' peers' perceptions of the risks and benefits of smoking and their approval or disapproval of the smoker's behaviour; thereby affecting social norms. In addition, it is also possible that the inclusion of the Quitline number on cigarette packets might influence smokers' perceptions of their own ability to quit smoking. However, it is anticipated that any effects on social norms and perceived control are a less likely outcome of new graphic health warnings on cigarette packets and it is anticipated that the most likely change would be to beliefs and evaluations of the harms associated with continued smoking versus quitting.

Before turning to test the theoretical models described in detail above, the next section of this chapter describes how some of the theoretical constructs above have been applied in the practice of social marketing. Implications of the lessons about persuasive communication of information or arguments are also discussed in relation to the intervention of graphic health warnings, and the attributes that would or would not make them likely to deliver information in a way which affects attitude.

The practice of behaviour change and social marketing

Several relevant principles emerge about what should make communications, such as the current intervention, more effective in changing attitudes and beliefs.

Attracting Attention and Raising Awareness

A first step in motivating behaviour change is generating some recognition that change is required. In consumer behaviour theory this is called "activating problem recognition". In health, it is referred to as "awareness-raising". Loosely, these terms refer to taking an issue of concern to the health agency, government or other agency, of which people are unaware or have low awareness, and putting it on the people's personal agenda for change.

People may not recognise such problems before they occur and until it is too late, when the timing of the solution is difficult or impossible. Social marketers try to trigger problem recognition before the negative outcome occurs. In the case of health, the negative health outcome can be close in time to the behaviour e.g. unprotected sex leading to contracting a sexually transmitted disease, or very distant and remote e.g. excess sun exposure leading to melanoma. General awareness of some outcomes associated with a behaviour can be high e.g. drinking alcohol causes drunkenness, or less well understood e.g. drinking alcohol causes bowel cancer. The job of the social marketer is to increase the awareness in the target audience that the behaviour, e.g. unprotected sex, excess sun exposure, or excess alcohol consumption, is a "problem" requiring behaviour change.

Smoking is behaviour with multiple serious health, social and economic consequences for the individual smoker, for government and the broader community. The "problem" behaviour that the graphic cigarette packet warnings are trying to raise awareness about is smoking tobacco. The goal is to increase awareness among smokers by focussing on the, mostly distant, negative consequences of smoking.

Much effort in social marketing in health is aimed at awareness-raising through information provision. The graphic warnings on cigarette packets will present a combination of new information and old information in new ways. The intention is that this information: (i) gets attended to; (ii) is appraised as relevant; (iii) changes the consumers' attitude towards smoking and/or (iv) raises the urgency of smoking as an issue which requires action. There are important lessons from the theory about how to maximise the chances of new information being processed by the intended recipient.

Taking in and processing new information involves effort – to attend to, interpret and prioritise that information. People have considerable information in their long term memory that they have already acquired from numerous sources including: first-hand personal experience; personal sources such as friends or family; and independent sources

such as the marketing efforts of government, companies and other agencies. New information-seeking, and even attending to information presented, requires effort and has an opportunity cost. Furthermore, people vary in their capacity and motivation to analyse and interpret new information, particularly when message content conflicts with existing attitudes or behaviour. Because of these factors, theories state that people may be biased against attending to and thinking about information and in some cases, it may not occur.

People's attention is selective. Empirical studies have provided insight into different aspects of stimuli which can be manipulated to increase attention relevant to health warnings. Format factors that increase the probability of attention to a stimulus include: increase in size; increase in intensity; colour; movement; position (near the centre of the field of vision); simplicity or format; contrast; and isolation (e.g. white space).[70, 71] In terms of information delivery, simplicity increases the likelihood of attention and too much information risks overloading the intended recipients, causing them to ignore all of the information.[71] Adaptation level theory shows that stimuli, including advertisements, will stand out when they are first introduced, but there is likely to be attenuation over time. [71]

Some of this theoretical work has already been validated with text-based cigarette packet warnings in Australia. Research conducted after the introduction of the 1995 black and white warnings found that awareness of the warnings and awareness of the health effects of smoking increased with greater warning size; and stronger messages contributed to salience.[72] However, at the time, other features of the packet promoting brand were found to be more salient, leading to a call for larger more salient warnings in the future.[73]

A basic prerequisite for this intervention – new graphic cigarette packet warnings – to be effective in raising smokers' awareness was that they must first be noticed – the warnings must attract and retain attention. The pack warnings introduced in March 2006 were <u>larger</u> than ever seen before in Australia, they used photographic images in <u>colour</u>; the graphic image of a health effect was to <u>contrast</u> with the appealing aesthetics of the rest of the cigarette packaging itself and the image was accompanied by white text on a black background for high <u>contrast</u>. The message in text was short, <u>simple</u> and to the point.

Theory and previous empirical studies suggest that the design features of the new graphic cigarette packet warnings should have promoted smokers noticing and attending to them. In addition to visual presentation of stimuli, the nature of content also influences the likelihood of attention a new message. For example, perceived personal relevance of a

message increases attention to new messages. Other mechanisms which make have been shown to make information or messages more influential are discussed below.

Persuasive communication styles

There are important elements of communication styles which have been found to enhance the ability of a message to change attitudes. These include the credibility of the source, use of emotion, and the framing of the message in terms of gains or losses.

Source credibility consists of trustworthiness and expertise of the source providing the information.[46] Source credibility is also important for information processing. It is relevant when people engage in detailed cognitive processing of messages to make them compelling and it is important if people use heuristics or shortcuts such as "experts are right" to appraise messages. If the source has no motive other than to provide complete, objective and accurate information then a source is more likely to be seen as trustworthy. High credibility sources can have an immediate and significant impact on attitude change that a low-credibility source does not have. Major non-government organisations in health are frequently seen, and seek to be seen, as both trustworthy and expert. Friends are frequently seen as trustworthy, but not necessarily expert. It is worth noting that over time the source of information can dissipate and even low-credibility sources presenting information over time can build up into what is called the 'sleeper effect' – an apparently counter-intuitive psychological phenomenon whereby an individual becomes more persuaded by a message over time.[74]

If the information included on the pack warnings is seen to be coming from an expert and trustworthy source, it should increase the chances of it being persuasive and therefore changing attitudes. The pack warnings intervention attempts to provide factual information from a credible source. If the source, namely the Australian Government, is viewed as expert and trustworthy, then the information contained in the warnings should be more likely to change beliefs and attitudes. If the source is seen to have a conflict, such as not being sincere or having too much of an interest in revenue from cigarette excise, then there may be an issue of source credibility. The sources of the mass-media campaigns accompanying the introduction of graphic health warnings on cigarette packets were major non-government organisations (i.e. Quit, Heart Foundation, and Cancer Council). These agencies are likely to be seen to have a sound motive – reducing smoking and therefore heart disease and cancer, and to have scientific credibility at their foundations.

As noted above and elsewhere,[71] some people will have the motivation and ability to engage in extensive cognitive elaboration of the messages on cigarette packets; other people will not and/or circumstances will not always be conducive to such elaboration. In light of this, the content of the warnings themselves should be more likely to be persuasive if the arguments presented are strong and people find them compelling.

However, because there is also likely to be low elaboration, the cigarette packet warnings could be expected to be persuasive if the shortcuts they provide – such as unattractive imagery and credible sources – gain ready acceptance through more peripheral routes of processing which also leads people to accept the basic message that smoking leads to serious health consequences.

Emotional appeals use largely non-verbal communication techniques to bring about attitude change. Emotional appeals, such as those arousing a (positive) physiological reaction have been shown to increase: (i) advertisements' ability to attract and retain attention; (ii) the level of mental processing of the advertisement; (iii) memorability of advertisements; (iv) liking of advertisements; (v) involvement; and (vi) liking of products advertised.[75] Repeated exposure to positive emotional arousal has been shown to increase brand preference through classical conditioning.[75] Negative emotional appeals which help smokers not only to "know" what the consequences of smoking-related harm would be like but also to "feel" the consequences, have been used frequently and successfully in anti-tobacco advertising in the past decade.[76] If the graphic warnings make the effects of smoking real for smokers, rather than provide statistical information they should be more likely to influence attitudes.

Fear appeals are used heavily in social marketing and commercial marketing. Examples from social marketing include road safety campaigns and anti-smoking campaigns. It was traditionally held in psychology and marketing that fear arousal is highly motivating and effective in changing attitudes but must not generate so much fear that consumers' defence mechanisms lead them to discount the messages out of hand.[77] More recently this widely held concern has been challenged and fear appeals have been widely used in tobacco control social marketing efforts with great effect.[78] The messages contained in the warnings are designed to change cognition but also to produce a visceral "yuck" response, which is affect-based. The affective component is negative rather than positive so could be expected to decrease liking of the behaviour (smoking) and the product (cigarettes).

Gain and loss framed messages. Nearly all health-related messages can be conceptualised in terms of gains (benefits) and losses (costs) Gain- and loss-framed alternatives do not have the same impact on decision-making.[79] People have been shown to avoid risky or uncertain behaviours when framed in terms of gains, but prefer to take risks and tolerate uncertainly when considering the same options in terms of avoiding loss or costs. It has been shown that, to the extent that a health-related behaviour involves the risk of an unwanted outcome, or is 'risky' to perform, behaviour messages framed in terms of loss rather than gains should be more effective. This was demonstrated when women were shown messages about Breast Self Examination (BSE) in the 1980s. Loss-framed messages were associated with higher intention to undertake BSE and BSE behaviour at follow up than gain-framed messages.[80] Loss framed messages were found to be similarly more effective in encouraging mammograms and HIV testing. It is argued that cancer or HIV screening is a risky behaviour because it is designed to find out if people have a disease. On the other hand, many prevention behaviours, e.g. promoting physical activity, are designed more to maintain existing health. Consistent with this perspective, studies have shown that gain-framed messages can increase use of child restraints, requests for high SPF sunscreen and intentions to use condoms.

It has been argued previously that gain-framed positive messages about quitting on pack warnings or in social marketing campaigns would be more appropriate than loss-framed messages because quitting smoking is a preventative health behaviour.[71] However, smoking involves a major risk of unwanted outcomes (serious health consequences). Quitting smoking is a behaviour people engage in to avoid such outcomes, and many smokers will already be experiencing the symptoms of smoking such as early signs of emphysema. Quitting smoking itself can also be conceived of as having risks, such as discomfort from withdrawal, self-deprivation of something enjoyable, social changes and concern about not succeeding. Therefore, it is expected here that loss-framed messages will, in fact, be more effective in persuading people to initiate smoking cessation behaviour than gain-framed messages.

Implications of theory for graphic health warnings on cigarette packets

The tobacco control intervention under study – new graphic health warnings on cigarette packets – provided warning information for consumers (smokers) on cigarette packets with
the intention of influencing beliefs, feelings (or evaluations), attitudes, behavioural intentions and ultimately behaviour. In the current context, there are two behaviours of interest: smoking behaviour and quitting behaviour.

Beliefs and attitudes towards smoking are not necessarily equal to and opposite of beliefs and attitudes about quitting. Smokers may hold negative attitudes about smoking but their attitudes about quitting may be even more negative. Theory suggests that in order to change smoking behaviour, any tobacco control intervention needs to offer a persuasive message, which generates negative attitudes towards smoking behaviour and positive (or less negative) attitudes towards quitting. As a result, the smoker is uncomfortable, no longer wants to smoke, is motivated to act, and so wants to quit or is prepared to quit.

Pack warnings should have been most likely to influence smoking behaviour if they: increased beliefs (feelings or evaluations) that smoking leads to very bad health outcomes; increased beliefs that a negative health outcome is likely to occur as a consequence of smoking; and/or therefore smoking should be avoided. Generating positive beliefs about quitting – such as social approval for quitting or self-efficacy to quit – should also promote quitting behaviour; all via the mediator of increased quitting intentions. As outlined above, the new warnings contained graphic imagery about multiple tobacco-related pathologies, but also promoted the Quitline, with one warning dedicated to quitting smoking.

Other variables should have influenced the likelihood of the intervention succeeding in changing behaviour; the most basic of which being design of the warnings and their ability to attract and maintain attention. The credibility and trustworthiness of the source of the message (the Australian Government and health agencies by association), and the strengths of the case presented in the message itself, should also have influenced smokers' processing and acceptance of the messages. The basic design should also have increased message persuasiveness and acceptance, among smokers who do not stop to think intently about the message text.

Evidence of the impact of cigarette pack warnings prior to 2006

As mentioned previously,[72, 73] there was some research conducted in the lead in to and in the immediate aftermath of the introduction of Australia's 1995 black and white cigarette packet warnings. The preliminary developmental research concluded, "to be effective, health warnings need to be noticed, persuasive and provide guidance for appropriate action. To be noticed, health warnings need to stand out from the surrounding pack design and they need to be large enough to be read easily. To be persuasive, the warnings need to be understood, believed and judged to be personally relevant by the reader."[73](p.1152) The preliminary research also found that existing smokers were not adequately informed of the health consequences of smoking and that potential smokers were likely to be even less informed. It also found the new warnings were salient but not as salient as the producers' trademarks and other commercially designed components of the pack. The authors also cautioned about the 'plateauing' of effects of the warnings and called for stronger warnings and regular changes to warning regimens. After the warnings were introduced, Australian research demonstrated increases in awareness of warnings and knowledge consistent with the health messages and better informed smokers.[72] There was also evidence in the first few months of implementation of some behaviour changes including avoiding buying packets with new warnings, smoking less and talking about the warnings. Longer-term studies found evidence of the warnings stimulating thoughts about the negative effects of smoking and consequent action of not smoking a previously planned cigarette. This spontaneous rejection of a cigarette was predictive of later cessation.[81] These warnings were in place in Australia for 11 years.

At the time of the announcement that Australia would introduce graphic cigarette packet warnings, a handful other countries had already introduced graphic packet warning labels and published research on their impact. Canada was the first country to require colour graphic cigarette packet warnings, introducing them in 2000. Much of the work published prior to their introduction in Australia in 2006 was Canadian. In summary, Canadian research demonstrated that graphic cigarette warnings were an effective way of communicating the health impacts of smoking.[82-84] A Canadian study of 616 adult smokers demonstrated that the graphic warnings were noticed by smokers, that smokers engaged cognitively with the warnings' contents, and that thinking in depth about the warnings was predictive of quitting intentions. In-depth processing of the warnings was predictive of making some attempt at cessation over the following three months.[83] Brazilian data, published on line, demonstrated that graphic warnings had had a significant impact on smoking intentions and behaviour.[85]

Unlike the Australians warnings, neither Canada nor Brazil featured a Quitline number (prominently) on their packets and neither country has published data on the impact on their Quitlines or Smokers' Help Lines. There was some indicative evidence of likely demand for the Australian Quitline from the Dutch research which demonstrated an

increased and sustained demand (3.5 times baseline) for its Quitline after including the number with new prominent written warnings.[86]

Note: In the time while this thesis was underway, other research was conducted on the topic of graphic health warnings. This research is summarised in Chapter 6.

Research justification

The impact of Australia's new graphic cigarette packet warnings, together with the accompanying social marketing (Quit) campaign, warranted evaluation. While a handful of countries had introduced graphic cigarette packet warnings, or a prominent Quitline number, Australia was the first to introduce both. Australia was also the first country to introduce the warnings and supplement them with a social marketing campaign promoting quitting tailored to the content of the warnings. Evaluation of the individual and cumulative impact of these interventions was intended to add the work from Canada and inform tobacco control efforts in the majority of countries that did not have graphic cigarette packet warnings at the time, but were likely to introduce them as they ratified the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. The current thesis was planned within this context.

This thesis documents the intervention. It describes the impact of the graphic cigarette pack warnings on smokers, and it also seeks to interpret and evaluate that impact using lessons from social psychology theory and empirical literature, as well as the documented experience from social marketing. Social psychology and social marketing offer much to the understanding and prediction of behaviour change, within the context of an intervention which seeks to offer a persuasive message via new information (or old information presented in a new way).

Fishbein and Ajzen's the reasoned action approach (the Theory of Reasoned Action and the Theory of Planned Behaviour) synthesises the relevant factors of beliefs, attitudes, social norms and perceived control, into two models which are designed to predict behaviour change. With smoking behaviour as the outcome, this thesis will test the predictive utility of the two models. This thesis will measure each of the constructs within the model(s) in the context of the intervention. The ability of the models to predict behaviour change should be influenced by the extent to which the elements of the intervention successfully bring about change in the pre-cursers to behaviour change.

Research Aim and Research Questions

The aim of the current research is to assess the impact of a public policy intervention – graphic cigarette packet warnings introduced to Australian in 2006 – on smokers; including influence on quitting behaviour and its precursors.

The research questions addressed, in turn, are:

- 1. How did the implementation of this policy occur in Australia and are there lessons of process to help policy makers in other countries?
- 2. Were the new warnings successful in attracting the attention of smokers, and communicating information about smoking to change smokers' beliefs?
- 3. Did the new warnings lead to any attitude or other changes in smokers, predictive of future quitting?
- 4. Did the new warnings lead to change in behaviour?

It was hypothesised, that the graphic cigarette packet warnings would be noticed and attended to. It was hypothesised that graphic cigarette packet warnings would then lead to changes in smoking behaviour beliefs; specific to the messages on the packets, and that this would lead to changes in attitudes, intentions and potentially smoking behaviour.

Thesis Outline

Paper 1 (Chapter 2) examines Question 1 and documents the introduction and implementation of graphic consumer warning labels on Australian cigarette packets, with a view to (a) evaluating/documenting the process of the implantation to offer lessons for public policy makers in other countries, yet to introduce graphic consumer warning labels on cigarette packet; and (b) measuring the exposure of Australian smokers to the new warnings labels. Firstly, it details the volume and nature of press coverage of the new warnings; secondly it documents the pace of the roll-out into retail stores; and then describes the exposure that smokers intercepted in the city streets had had to new warnings and their initial reactions to them. These studies took early measures of the intervention's presence, which is rudimentary to the interventions ability to capture attention and awareness raise. By monitoring the media, there is documentation of the environment surrounding the introduction of the intervention. Media monitoring documents the unpaid publicity the intervention and its core communication messages received (namely health effects of smoking contained in the warnings). Media monitoring also documented publicity given to counter arguments from the tobacco industry or others. The public

framing formed part of the social environment of the intervention. While very preliminary, the smoker intercept survey included in this chapter was designed to gauge smokers' early reactions to the graphic health warnings (Question 3).

Paper 2 (Chapter 3) used a series of cross-sectional population surveys spanning 4 years to documents smokers' awareness of new cigarette packet warnings (Question 2, see page 40). It also documents coincidental changes in smokers' beliefs about a range of smoking-related health effects, including those which were the subject of the new cigarette packet warnings (Question 2). In order for the information and messages contained within the graphic health warnings to be effective, they must be noticed. This paper measured smokers' general unprompted and prompted awareness of new warnings. Smokers' prompted recall of each individual warning was measured, as were smokers' beliefs about all of different health outcomes features on the warnings. This was done to see if different warning messages and styles had different effects on message cut through and smoking-related beliefs.

Papers 3 (Chapter 4) and 4 (Chapter 5) looked at the new warnings impact on smokers' behaviour (Question 4, see page 40). Paper 3 examined the short term marker of success for promoting quitting, in calls to the Quitline. Paper 4 employed Fishbein & Ajzen's[1] widely applied Reasoned Action Approach. It applied the model to investigate the potential impact of new graphic cigarette packet warnings on determinants of smokers' behavioural intentions and actual behaviour (Questions 3 and 4). A cohort of smokers, recruited from the (same) 2005 population survey (presented in Chapter 3) was followed up after a year; when the new packs were known to be prevalent (established in Paper 1).

The next four chapters of this thesis consist or reproductions of four papers published in peer-reviewed journals. Their formats reflect the requirements of the individual journals. There will be some repetition within the introductory sections of each chapter, reflecting the background that was required for the independent readers of the four papers. References for the articles have been removed and consolidated at the end of thesis.

Chapter 2

Response of mass media, tobacco industry and smokers to the introduction of graphic cigarette pack warnings in Australia

PUBLICATION:

Miller CL, Hill DJ, Quester PG, Hiller JE. *Response of mass media, tobacco industry and smokers to the introduction of graphic cigarette pack warnings in Australia*. European Journal of Public Health 2009, 19(6):644-649.

ABSTRACT

Background: In 2006, Australia introduced graphic cigarette packet warnings. Previous warnings were text only. New warnings include one of 14 pictures, many depicting tobacco-related pathology.

Methods: This study monitored the roll-out of the health policy initiative using multiple methodologies. Print media coverage of new pack warnings was observed over 3 years. Story content was coded as positive (supportive of pack warnings), neutral or negative. An observational study of small random sample of metropolitan stores (n=16) over 7 months measured the pace of the roll-out in shops. Once new packs were readily available in stores, smokers (n=152) were intercepted in city streets and asked about their reactions. **Results:** Of the 67 media stories, 76% were positive or neutral about the new warnings and 15% were negative. Supportive content presented health benefits. Unsupportive content presented industry arguments. After the legislative change, it took two months before any new packs appeared in stores. 60% said new warnings detracted from the look of their brand. 51% felt increased risk of dying from smoking-related illness. 38% felt motivated to quit.

Conclusion: Plans by government to introduce graphic warnings were delayed up to two years, apparently by heavy industry lobbying. Actual widespread appearance in shops occurred several months after the implementation date. While media coverage of the new warnings reported the industry arguments against them, the balance of coverage was overwhelmingly positive. Smokers' initial reactions were in line with tobacco control objectives.

Key points:

- Tobacco industry lobbying tactics appear to have been effective in delaying the introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings in Australia. The same tactics are likely to be used in other countries.
- Australian legislation proscribed a date of production for new packs, rather than a date of sale, which created further opportunities for delays. Policy makers in other countries could proscribe a date for sale rather than a date for manufacture to avoid this.
- Many smokers demonstrated an almost warm acceptance of the new labelling regime, and preliminary evidence of increased intentions to quit.

INTRODUCTION

Legislative measures which control the distribution, use, promotion and packaging of tobacco products are an essential tool for tobacco control. The World Health Organisation's Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (WHO FCTC)[25] is a global health treaty designed to help curb the global tobacco epidemic and associated burden of disease and mortality. Countries that ratify the WHO FCTC commit themselves to a schedule of tobacco control legislative reform in an effort to advance disease prevention and health promotion.

Evidence-based comprehensive tobacco control programs include demand reduction and supply reduction provisions. Core demand reduction strategies include price (tax) and counter-marketing (anti-tobacco advertising). The regulation of packaging and labelling of tobacco products is one component of a comprehensive approach (see Articles 6-14)[25] to reducing the demand for tobacco products. [25, 87]

The rationale for package warnings is based on the principle that "[e]very person should be informed of the health consequences, addictive nature and mortal threat posed by tobacco consumption".[25] Package warnings should contribute to understanding of the health consequences of smoking, thus decreasing motivation to smoke, increasing motivation to quit and decreasing the consumption of tobacco overall.[88, 89] The FCTC outlines countries' legal obligations with regard to the size and content of cigarette packet warnings. Pictorial warnings are recommended and several countries are legislating for the mandatory inclusion of graphic cigarette packet warnings. [90-92] To date, 15 countries have introduced graphic cigarette packet warnings. Although the European Union provided graphic warnings for use by each of its member states, only Belgium has adopted them to date.

In 2006, Australia changed from text-based to pictorial warnings on tobacco products. Trade practices legislation[38] mandated that prescribed health warnings be included on cigarette and other tobacco packaging. From 1 March 2006, starting with any products manufactured on or after 1 March 2006, the regulations required that graphic warnings (images, explanatory messages and the Quitline number) covered 30% of the front and 90% of the back of the pack.[39] The 14 warnings were divided into two sets.[36, 93, 94] From 1 March 2006 to 31 October 2006, only Set A was printed on packs. This set comprised graphic pictures associated with messages such as smoking causes: peripheral vascular disease; emphysema; mouth and throat cancer. Other messages were: Smoking clogs your arteries; Don't let children breathe your smoke; Smoking - a leading cause of death; and Quitting will improve your health.[93]

This paper presents a study of the roll-out of graphic cigarette packet warnings in Australia using three perspectives: media coverage of the policy initiative from inception through roll-out; observations in shops; and smokers' responses. Specifically, the aims of this research were to explore the nature and extent of media reporting of the policy initiative; the rate at which the new packs replaced the old ones in retail outlets; and the very early reactions of smokers when exposed to the graphic messages

METHODS

Media coverage

Print media coverage was monitored in Australian national daily papers and major metropolitan papers in Sydney, Melbourne and Adelaide from the first announcement of the Australian Government's intention to legislate for new graphic cigarette packet warnings (September 2003) until 6 months after the legislation took effect (September 2006). General news, editorials and letters to the editor were classified as "print media stories". The file of all material used in this analysis is available at:

http://www.cancersa.org.au/cms_resources/200808%20Graphic%20Warning%20Media%2 0Coverage.pdf.

Print media stories were coded by one author into five categories: "actively positive"; "positive"; "neutral"; "negative"; and "actively negative". A story was coded as "actively positive" or "actively negative" when the article was arguing in favour or against graphic cigarette packet warnings. When articles were fact-based rather than argument-based they were coded as "generally positive", "generally negative" or "neutral". Codes were determined on the basis of the volume of text within the article dedicated to the purported merits or limitations of graphic warnings.

Point-of-sale observations

Tobacco points-of-sale observations were undertaken to detect when packets with new warnings first started to make an appearance in shops and when they were widespread. A methodology was designed to provide these markers, rather than to measure with accuracy the percentage prevalence of types of packets in stores. Point-of-sale observations were also designed to inform the timing of the smoker intercept survey. They provided an indication of when packets with new warnings were starting to become prevalent, an in roughly equal proportion to packets with old warnings, but not at saturation. The stores observed were in the Adelaide CBD, the same location as the smoker intercept survey.

Retail outlets for the observations were randomly selected from the Electronic Yellow Pages 2005 edition for Adelaide and Melbourne from all listings located in the central business districts under: "supermarket" OR "food &/or general stores"; "tobacconist"; "Deli" [Adelaide only] "Milk Bar" [Melbourne Only]; and "service station". Two from each of the main listings described were randomly selected and visited on the first Tuesday of the month for 7 months; starting 7 March 2006. An additional observation was made in Adelaide and incorporated a visit prior to the implementation of the legislation.

Research assistants introduced themselves to the retailer, identifying themselves as working for the Cancer Council. They asked for permission to observe the cigarette display stating that they were conducting a study on tobacco displays in retail outlets. The total number of packages visible was counted and the number of new warnings and old warnings were recorded for the eight top selling brands. Also recorded was the presence or absence of promotional items for sale such as tins or cigarette pack covers.

Smoker intercept survey

In July 2006, when approximately half of packets in retail outlets were those with new warnings (see Results), people smoking outside office buildings in Adelaide's central business district were intercepted by research assistants working for the Cancer Council and were asked to participate in a brief survey. People smoking in groups were interviewed asked to step away from the group before interview.

Participants were asked whether they had with them, or had ever bought a packet of cigarettes with the new warnings. They were asked which warning(s) they had seen on packets they had purchased. They were then asked about their own initial reactions to the

warnings, first unprompted, then using a scale of affective responses.[95] They were asked whether "...seeing the images increase[s], decrease[s] or make[s] no difference to [their] perception of dying from a smoking-related illness, should [they] continue to smoke?" Participants were also asked whether they thought the new warnings detracted from the look of their brand, (answering "yes"/"no").

This study received approval from the Human Research Ethics Committees of the University of Adelaide and The Cancer Council South Australia. Analyses were conducted using SPSS v15.0.1.

RESULTS

Media coverage

Volume of articles

During the observation period, graphic cigarette packet warnings were mentioned in 67 separate stories. Of these, 76% were "actively positive" (n=29) or generally positive (n=29) about the new warnings, 9% (n=6) were "neutral "and 15% were "actively negative" (n=5) or "generally negative" (n=5).

As depicted in Figure 2.1, print media coverage was prevalent at the time of the government announcement of its intention to legislate (September 2003) during the lead up to its implementation (February 2004) and around the time of the government's announcement of its final decision about the nature and timing of the introduction of the new warnings (June 2004).

A small number of stories appeared in June 2005, arising from a journalist's Freedom of Information search of government documents into the process of decision making about the timing and nature of the warnings. There was another spike in stories just before the warnings were to be introduced (February 2006), and another in the months following implementation (April-June 2006).



Figure 2.1: Number of media stories over time, and tone of stories

Content of articles

Articles surrounding the initial announcement of the intention to introduce graphic packet warnings contained statements from three sources: government, health agencies, and the tobacco industry. Government content included the initial announcement of intention to legislate in the next calendar year (i.e. 2004), the plan to have graphic warnings covering 50% of the front and 50% of the back of the packets and health reasons for introducing warnings.[35] During the final announcement of the revised size of warnings (30% of front and 90% of backs of packets) and revised timings(early 2006), government content included their decision to amend the size of the warnings to allow for brand communication.[96]

Tobacco industry arguments reported at the time of the initial announcement were not supportive of the introduction of the warnings. Key themes were that: the timing of implementation was too rapid and; there was no evidence on the effectiveness of warnings; that the new warnings would be anti-competitive and impinge on the ability to communicate brands/trademarks to customers; that people would use cigarette packet covers; and that the introduction of the new graphic warnings would foster a black market.[97, 98]

Articles in the lead up to the government's final announcement, and in a smaller number of articles published a year later, reported that the tobacco industry had lobbied hard against the introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings and that this had resulted in amendments of the size of the warnings and significant time delays.[99-102] Additional

arguments put forward by industry included: that the Australian Department of Health and Ageing bureaucrats had undertaken rushed and inadequate consultations; that industry would have to import new expensive machinery to print the new packages; that industry research with smokers demonstrated such warnings would be ineffective; that retailers would suffer harm; and that the government's small business credentials would be damaged. There was also mention of potential litigation under the Australian Constitution. Once the final announcement by government had occurred, there were neither tobacco company interviews nor positive framing of tobacco industry arguments in stories.

Health agency content was supportive of the proposed warnings, focussing on their benefits for health and their demonstrated effectiveness in promoting quitting. At the time of reported lobbying and changes to government's plans, health agencies argued for larger warnings and for a swift implementation. They also presented a case against the industry's arguments about ineffectiveness and raised questions about political donations, challenging the industry's motives.[103-105]

Stories in the lead up to the actual implementation of the warnings were all positive, covering the reasons for the warnings. There were also a small number of positive stories a few months after the warnings were introduced, at the time that an accompanying anti-tobacco television campaign was launched.[106-108]

A group of stories appeared about cigarette packet covers in the first half of 2006. Apart from one, these stories were confined to Adelaide where a sporting personality's wife was reported as selling cigarette packet covers in two teams' livery. The majority of these stories were in favour of the warnings, negative about covers and the association with the teams elicited very negative response by supporters of the sport. However, some letters to the editor at this time were negative about graphic warnings.[109-114]

In late 2006, the final few stories about graphic warnings generally referred to them as effective health interventions when discussing other topics such as potential health warnings and alcohol.[115, 116]

Point-of-sale Observations

Participation

Eight stores were observed in each of Victoria and South Australia. Participation rates peaked at 100% (16 out of 16 stores) at the first visit, dropping to 88% (14 out of 16 stores) by the end of the study.

Pace of roll-out of new warnings at point-of-sale

At the time of legislative implementation (March 2006), there were no packets with new warnings in the stores visited. In April 2006, packets with new warnings were starting to appear and by June 2006, all of the observed stores had at least some cigarette packets with the new warnings. By September 2006, six months after the implementation date, around 80% of the eight top selling brands carried the new warnings (see Figure 2.2).





Other changes at point-of-sale

Between visit 1 (March 2006) and visit 7 (September 2006), two Melbourne stores had moved their cigarettes completely out of sight. In Adelaide, one store turned all cigarette packets upside down and back to front which considerably obscured new warnings. Otherwise, there were no changes to cigarette positioning or displays.

'Special edition' cigarette tins and cigarette packet covers were made available for sale at the time of the introduction of the legislation. These became less prevalent over time (March 2006: 4 out of 16 stores compared with September 2006: 1 out of 14 stores).

Intercept Survey

In total, 152 smokers participated in the survey; 61% of participants were female. Thirtytwo smokers approached (17%) declined to participate.

Exposure to new warnings

Overall, 58% (n=88) of those interviewed were carrying a packet with them at the time with 86% of all participants (n=131) able to remember the warning on their current packet. Twenty- two participants (15%) had or reported having a packet with the old text style warnings and 109 (70%) had a packet with new graphic warnings on them. The remainder were unsure (n=17) or used a cigarette holder or tin or said that they didn't know (n=4).

Of all participants, only two (1%) said that they had never bought a packet with a new warning and were not interviewed further. The remainder (n=150) had bought a packet with the new warnings on them at some point. Six (4%) said their current pack was the first pack they had bought with new warnings, 15 (10%) had bought their first pack within the past fortnight, a further 39% had bought it within the past 3-4 weeks and 44% had bought one a month or more ago.

The pack messages that participants least recalled purchasing were "smoking – a leading cause of death" (47%) and "quitting will improve your health" (41%). The most recalled messages were "gangrene/ peripheral vascular disease" (82%) and "mouth and throat cancer" (70%).

Smokers' reactions to new warnings

Initial responses (i.e. unprompted) to the new warnings were disgust (36%), shock (6%), anger (4%), distress (1%), or feeling motivated to quit (3%). Thirty percent reported feeling indifferent. As shown in Table 1, prompted responses indicated that 55% reported feeling alert in response to the warnings, 38% (95% CI: 30-48) felt motivated to quit, and a lesser proportion 23% (95% CI: 16-30) were upset or distressed by them. Half (51%) reported that seeing new warnings increased their own risk perception of dying of a smoking-related illness.

During the course of the survey, a total of eighteen respondents indicated that they tried to avoid the warnings, with six respondents reporting buying tins and three reporting transferring cigarettes to packets with old (non-graphic) warnings.

Over half of respondents (60%) reported that the new cigarette warnings had a negative impact on the look of their brand. When offered the opportunity to comment at the end of

the interview, 47 (30%) commented in support of the new warnings. Many offered comments indicating that they thought such warnings were an important motivator to quitting and a deterrent to non-smokers, including young people. Overall, 24 (16%) offered negative comments, mostly relating to their perception that the warnings were unlikely to work.

First reaction to the warnings (prompted) % <i>moderately to very much</i>	n=149 (95% Cl)
Inspired (to quit)	29%
Determined (to quit)	(22-36)
Determined (to quit)	(18-32)
Alert	55%
	(47-63)
Scared	19%
	(13-25)
Afraid	17%
	(11-23)
Nervous	19%
	(13-25)
Upset	17%
	(11-23)
Distressed	10%
	(5-15)
Excited	3%
	(0-6)
Enthusiastic	4% (4 7)
	(1-7)
Changes to perception of chances of dying from smoking related illness	n=148 (95% CI)
Increased	51%
	(43-59)
Decreased	1%
	(0-3)
No Difference	49% (41-57)
Do the warnings detract from the look of your brand?	n=149 (95% CI)
Yes	60%
	(52-68)
No	40% (32-48)

DISCUSSION

While Australia was among the first countries to legislate for graphic cigarette warnings, with only a handful of countries preceding it, the results of this research indicated that the introduction of graphic cigarette warnings was slower in Australia than elsewhere. In

Canada, there was a 6-month lead time from legislation to implementation and in Brazil there was a 12-month lead time. In Australia, there was a 9-month delay between the government publicly announcing its intention to legislate and its final decision about legislation content, with legislation not taking effect until a further 20 months. As reported in this paper, analysis of press coverage shows that the delays coincided, and were consistent, with the lobbying by the tobacco industry.

Australian legislation mandated a starting date for production of packets with new warnings rather than a starting date for sale in retail outlet. Thus, new packets did not appear in shops until a month after implementation and they were not prevalent until three months later. Six-months after implementation, new warnings were increasing in prevalence but had not yet reached saturation. Countries planning to introduce similar legislation may prefer to follow New Zealand's practice and legislate a sale date rather than a production date, thereby avoiding delays in implementation.

Promotion of cigarette tins and covers are often cited as a likely 'side-effect' of introducing warnings, undermining their impact. There was little evidence of retailers attempting to avoid displaying warnings by turning packets or taking other measures. The smoker intercept study also showed that while there was some use of tins and covers, they were far from generalised.

The policy intent for the new pack warning regime was to reduce tobacco use. The media coverage was supportive of graphic cigarette packet warnings, ultimately citing them as an effective intervention on which others could be modelled, e.g. alcohol. The negative news coverage was consistent in its themes, with a central theme covering the industry arguments that warnings would not be effective. Other neutral media coverage resulting from a Freedom of Information request also reported that industry lobbying of politicians was heavy and effective in delaying the introduction of the pack warnings.

Initial affective responses reported by smokers were encouraging indicating that the new packet warnings had increased their perceptions of dying from a smoking related illness, and/or they reported feeling motivated to quit in response to them. The packets with messages about mouth cancer (82%) and gangrene (70%) were the most recalled.

These results are limited in their generalisability and larger scale studies are required to validate the impact of the warnings at a population level, and to assess any impact on quitting behaviour.

Despite these limitations, the tobacco industry's public objection included the assertion that the policy would be ineffective in reducing tobacco use. It also raised brand identity and operational issues, either because it truly was the industry's main concern or because it needed a publicly-acceptable rationale for objecting. A striking feature of our results is the almost warm acceptance by many smokers of the new labelling regime. Given the 'friendship' it has been claimed smokers have for their very own brand of cigarettes[117-119] and the untiring efforts of tobacco companies to build this friendship and loyalty,[34, 120] we might expect more resentment from smokers for having their familiar pack defaced by unwelcome graphic images. It is encouraging that there was little evidence of such negativity, suggesting that even among current smokers there is at least a latent readiness to be confronted by the hard facts about the consequences of smoking.

Chapter 3

Smokers' recall of Australian graphic cigarette packet warnings & awareness of associated health effects, 2005-2008

PUBLICATION:

Miller CL, Quester PG, Hill DJ, Hiller JE. *Smokers' recall of Australian graphic cigarette packet warnings & awareness of associated health effects, 2005-2008.* BMC Public Health 2011, 11:238.

ABSTRACT

Background

In 2006, Australia introduced graphic cigarette packet warnings. The new warnings include one of 14 pictures, many depicting tobacco-related pathology. The warnings were introduced in two sets; Set A in March and Set B from November. This study explores their impact on smokers' beliefs about smoking related illnesses. This study also examines the varying impact of different warnings, to see whether warnings with visceral images have greater impact on smokers' beliefs than other images.

Methods

Representative samples of South Australian smokers were interviewed in four independent cross-sectional omnibus surveys; in 2005 (n=504), 2006 (n=525), 2007 (n=414) and 2008 (n=464).

Results

Unprompted recall of new graphic cigarette warnings was high in the months following their introduction, demonstrating that smokers had been exposed to them. Smokers also demonstrated an increase in awareness about smoking-related diseases specific to the warning messages. Warnings that conveyed new information and had emotive images demonstrated greater impact on recall and smokers' beliefs than more familiar information and less emotive images.

Conclusions

Overall graphic pack warnings have had the intended impact on smokers. Some have greater impact than others. The implications for policy makers in countries introducing similar warnings are that fresh messaging and visceral images have the greatest impact.

BACKGROUND

The World Health Organisation's Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) is a global health treaty designed to help curb the global tobacco epidemic and associated burden of disease and mortality.[25] Countries that ratify the FCTC commit themselves to a schedule of tobacco control legislative reform in an effort to advance disease prevention and health promotion. The regulation of packaging and labelling of tobacco products is one component of a comprehensive approach (see Articles 6-14). Australia was one of the first 40 countries to ratify the FCTC, and so became a full Party on 27 February 2005. In early 2006, Australia followed Canada, Brazil, Singapore, Thailand, Venezuela and Panama in introducing new graphic cigarette packet warnings.[39] Many other countries have since introduced them or are in the process of doing so.

Cigarette packet warnings are an important form of health communication to consumers. Australia's graphic health warnings were designed to provide "a strong and confronting message to smokers about the harmful health consequences of tobacco products and convey the 'quit' message every time a person reaches for a cigarette".[36] The stated intention was that graphic images would increase consumer awareness of the health effects of smoking, which would in turn decrease likelihood of smoking.[36]

Theories of consumer behaviour and social psychology predict that a number of predisposing variables influence behaviour and the probability of behavioural change, with people's beliefs being an important contributor.[61, 66, 75, 121] Consumer behaviour theory holds that behaviour change, such as stopping smoking, can be induced by increasing consumer perception that the behaviour is a 'problem' for them, requiring behavioural modification.[75] By increasing a person's belief that smoking leads to negative health consequences, pack warnings could change the consumer's satisfaction with his/her current status as a smoker and induce (or increase) his/her desire to quit, increasing the chances that s/he would try to quit.

It has been widely demonstrated that beliefs which are 'top of mind' for people or salient are also more likely to influence behaviour.[1, 66] Hence, if pack warnings increase a person's awareness that smoking leads to particular negative health consequences, and the beliefs about those health consequence are salient for the smoker, they would be more likely to influence quitting behaviour.

Of course, other factors can also induce behavioural change such as other internal factors[61] and social and environmental factors also influence smoking behaviour.[66]

Beliefs are, however, an important antecedent of behaviour change, and one that has the potential to be influenced by information contained in graphic cigarette packet warnings.

In order to change beliefs, consumer information first has to be noticed and attended to. Tobacco health warnings have also been shown to be effective in attracting and maintaining attention, as well as assisting information processing, provided the messages are clear, noticeable, strong, direct and frequently rotated.[71] International studies have demonstrated greater knowledge about particular health effects in countries where those health effects are the subject of a cigarette packet warning than in countries where they are not.[82] These studies have confirmed that smaller text-based cigarette packet warnings have lesser impact while larger warnings, including those with clear, simple language and graphic images, are associated with: better knowledge; higher recall; greater motivation to quit; and quit attempts.[82, 83, 89, 122-124] Some smokers also take steps to avoid stronger warnings, particularly some graphic warnings.[89] Borland et al. found no evidence that warning avoidance, arguably a defensive reaction against fear-arousing warnings, had a negative effect on quitting behaviour.[125]

The new Australian graphic cigarette pack warnings (available for view elsewhere[40]) are larger than ever seen before on Australian cigarette packets and cover 30% of the front and 90% of the back of the pack. The graphic image of a health effect contrasts with the otherwise appealing aesthetics of the rest of the cigarette packaging. The Quitline number is 'stamped' on top of the graphic image on the backs of packs.

There are 14 different warnings divided into two sets; Set A and Set B.[36] The sets of warnings are rotated 12-monthly, including a 4 month transition period, during which any of the warnings from either set may appear. Set A only could appear on packs manufactured or imported from 1 March– 31 October 2006. Set B only could appear on packs manufactured or imported from 1 March– 31 October 2007.

The packs include a combination of new and familiar images and new and familiar messages. Some messages had been on text-based packets for some time; others had not. Some images and messages had been used before in televised anti-tobacco social marketing campaigns; others had not. Table 3.1 lists the new warnings and the extent to which the text and imagery is new to Australian smokers. For example, "Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease", and "Smoking causes mouth and throat cancer" were unique in that they contained both new images and new messages and had not previously been the subject of text-based pack warnings or social marketing campaigns. Hence, these warnings would be novel for many smokers. By contrast "Smoking causes lung cancer" was

introduced as a text-based pack warning in 1987 and the image on the packet was used in a televised anti-tobacco campaign from 1997.

We wanted to explore the changes in recall of the new warnings over time as well as changes in beliefs about the health effects of smoking, associated with the new system of graphic warnings. We also looked at the differential impact of individual new health warnings on smokers, given that the extent to which each of the new warnings: captures attention; delivers new information (or old information in new ways); is comprehended; changes awareness or beliefs about health effects; and is recalled, are all important aspects of information processing. These variables influence the degree to which different warnings may influence behaviour change.

One study has already indicated that Australian warnings were noticed by the majority of adolescents and led to increased cognitive processing about the health risks covered.[126] Another study demonstrated that new Australian health warnings were read and noticed more than UK's text only warnings and that they stimulated thoughts about the harms of smoking, thoughts about quitting and the behaviour of foregoing cigarettes.[127] Our study measured changes in smokers' basic beliefs about the different harms of smoking, at the adult population level over time, as the various warnings were rolled out. The study also measured degree of recall of specific warnings. In this study, changes in beliefs and recall were measured across smokers in the community as a whole and among different subgroups, such as younger smokers. The purpose of these sub-group analyses was to ascertain whether graphic cigarette packet warnings had differential impact with different demographic groups of smokers or whether any impact was universal. Anti-tobacco television campaigns have consistently demonstrated that images and messages eliciting a visceral response and messages that are novel or "new news" are more likely to be attended to and have impact on quitting behaviour.[128-130] Hence, it is hypothesized that new packet warnings which are most novel or contain the newest 'news' for smokers will result in the greatest attention to the pack warnings themselves, greatest recall of warnings and greatest increases in basic beliefs about smoking related illnesses. It is further hypothesized that visceral images will have greater impact on these variables than other images.

Text	Image	First use of warning o	First use of warning components				
		Text	Image	campaign on health effect			
Set A							
Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease	Gangrenous foot	2006 (Mar)	2006 (Mar)	No			
Smoking causes emphysema	Dissected lung	2006 (Mar)	1997	Yes			
Smoking causes mouth and throat cancer	Cancerous lip	2006 (Mar)	2006 (Mar)	Νο			
Smoking clogs your arteries	Dissected artery	2006 (Mar)	1997	Yes			
Don't let children breathe your smoke	Child on oxygen	2006 (Mar)	2006 (Mar)	Yes			
Smoking - a leading cause of death	Bar chart	2006 (Mar)	2006 (Mar)	Yes			
Quitting will improve your health	Quitline caller	2006 (Mar)	1998*	Yes			
<u>Set B</u>							
Smoking causes blindness	Eye close up	2006 (Nov)	2000	Yes			
Smoking doubles your risk of stroke	Dissected brain	2006 (Nov)	1998	Yes			
Tobacco smoke is toxic	Beaker of chemicals	2006 (Nov)	2000*	Yes			
Smoking harms unborn babies / (Smoking while pregnant may harm the unborn child)	Premature baby	2006 (Nov) / 1995	2006 (Nov)	Νο			
Smoking is addictive	Stained fingers	1995	2006 (Nov)	Yes			
Smoking causes lung cancer	Tumour close up	1987	1997	Yes			
Smoking causes heart disease	Heart surgery	1987	2006 (Nov)	Yes			

Table 3.1: New cigarette packet warnings and previous use of warning components in Australia

* Essentially equivalent image to that was used in television campaign

Other factors likely to influence behaviour change, including perceived ability to change behaviour, social and environmental factors are beyond the scope of the current study.

METHODS

Sample

Data were collected as a part of the South Australian Health Omnibus Surveys; annual independent cross-sectional surveys of the South Australian population, undertaken from September to November. These population surveys involve a multistage, systematic, clustered area sample of households, with Australian Bureau of Statistics Collector's Districts as the sampling frame. Greater details on sampling are provided elsewhere.[131] At each selected household, one person aged 15 years or older whose birthday was due next was selected for interview. Structured interviews were conducted in the respondents' own homes by trained interviewers. Up to six call-back visits were made to each household in an attempt to obtain an interview if the respondent was not home.

The South Australian Health Omnibus Survey tool used the same methods each year. Data were weighted by household size, age, gender and local government area, so that estimates would reflect the South Australian population. Hence, the samples are directly comparable from year to year. Studies measuring changes over time in behaviour and attitudes in the South Australian population, using this tool and its comparable samples, have been accepted in many areas of inquiry.[132-136]

Data for this study were collected in the South Australian Health Omnibus Surveys of 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008. The survey achieved response rates of 70.9%, yielding 3047 interviews in total and 571 smokers in 2005; 63.8% with N=2969 (609 smokers) in 2006; 62.7% with N=2401 (478 smokers) in 2007; and 53.6% with N=2824 (553 smokers) in 2008. Despite different response rates the samples from the four survey years did not differ significantly in age, gender or quitting experience. Respondents were classified as smokers if in response to the question: "Do you currently smoke: daily; at least weekly (but not daily); less often than weekly; or not at all", they answered other than "not at all". Similarly, respondents were classified as smokers of manufactured cigarettes: Daily, weekly; less than weekly; or not at all". This study is restricted to the responses of smokers of manufactured cigarettes. Non-smokers (never-smokers and ex-smokers) were not

included in this study because it was not expected that they would be exposed to or attuned to cigarette packet warnings.

The 2005 survey occurred before any new packet warnings were introduced, the 2006 survey occurred after Set A warnings were introduced and became prevalent in stores[137] but before Set B warnings were rolled out. The 2007 survey occurred after Set B warnings were introduced.

Measurements

Participants were asked a series of questions. To measure top of mind awareness of the effects of smoking, participants were first asked "Which illnesses are caused by smoking?" Participants were not prompted with response options. Some but not all of the pre-coded response options matched the new warnings, as listed in Table 2. To assess recall of pack warnings, participants were asked "In the past 6 months, how often, if at all, have you noticed advertising or information that talks about the dangers of smoking, or encourages quitting". Prompted response options were "never", "rarely", "sometimes", "often" or "very often". If they did not respond "never" they were then asked "Where did you see that information?" Unprompted pre-coded responses included "TV", "radio", "cigarette packets", "cinema" and "internet". Smokers and ex-smokers were later asked "As far as you know, what do the warnings on cigarette packets say?" Pre-coded options for the unprompted responses included all new and previous cigarette packet warnings as well as "Quitline number", "Pictures of effects of smoking" and "Don't know/can't remember". Participants were also asked "Can you tell me the name of any services or programs available to help people quit smoking". Unprompted response options were "Quitline", "Quit campaign", "Nicotine Replacement Therapy", "Zyban/buproprion", "Talking to a doctor", "Alternative Therapy", "Other" and "Don't know". Subsequent to that, smokers were asked whether "During the past year, you have done any of the following: "Called the Quitline", and so on for other quitting services. All of these questions have been routinely used in the South Australian Health Omnibus Survey for 10 years.

Newness or novelty of text and images included in the graphic cigarette packet warnings is defined by their use in previous population based tobacco control interventions, namely text-based cigarette packet warnings and mass media cessation campaigns. Table 1 provides information about previous use of pack warnings text content and images. When text has been used previously in text-based cigarette packet warnings it is classified as "old". When text has not been used previously in text-based cigarette packet warnings it is

classified as "new". When images have been used in mass media campaigns previously they are classified as "old" and when they have not they are classified as "new".

Statistical Analyses

Data analyses were undertaken using STATA v10.0. STATA provides survey estimating tools required to account for this survey design. The survey estimating tools adjust the standard errors to account for the design which involved clustering by Australian Census District, stratification (metropolitan vs rural) and data that are weighted to the population. Inter-year and intra-year differences between proportions were analysed using Pearson chi-square statistics which are then converted in to F-statistics to account for survey design.

RESULTS

Respondents

The South Australian Health Omnibus Survey samples reflected the South Australian population. In the 2005 survey, for example, 49.0% of respondents were male. Overall, 23.7% were aged 15-29, 27.9% were aged 30-44, 24.0% were aged 45-59 and 24.3% were aged 60+. In 2005, 77.5% of respondents were Australian born (with 3.5% of respondents being Indigenous Australians), 9.4% were from the UK or Ireland; 6.4% were European born and 6.1% were born in other countries. Overall, 6.5% of respondents were still at school, 12.5% did not complete high school, 28.2% had high school education only, 36.3% had completed a trade or certificate and 15.9% had completed a university degree. In 2005, 18.7% of the sample were current smokers and 16.5% (n=504) were smokers of manufactured cigarettes. In 2006, 20.5% were smokers and 17.7% (n=525) smoked manufactured cigarettes. In 2008, 19.6% were smokers and 16.4% (n=464) smoked manufactured cigarettes.

Awareness of health effects

Table 3.2 shows the changes in awareness about different health consequences of smoking over time. Top-of-mind responses that smoking caused gangrene increased 6-fold between

baseline (2005) and the next year when those warnings were introduced (2006). Awareness that smoking caused mouth cancer more than doubled. Top-of-mind awareness that smoking caused blocked arteries, blindness, stroke, throat cancer and harm to unborn babies all rose significantly after the related warnings were introduced.

		2005	2006	2007	2008			
		(n=504)	(n=525)	(n=414)	(n=464)			
Beliefs that smoking caus	es illness and/o	or damage to th	ne body					
Set A related beliefs	Text/Image							
Emphysema	New/Old	60%	59%	57%	52%			
Mouth cancer	New/New	10%	24% ^a	21% ^a	21% ^a			
Throat cancer	New/New	14%	17%	17%	22% ^b			
Gangrene	New/New	4%	27% ^a	25% ^a	28% ^a			
Blocked arteries	New/Old	10%	19% ^b	14%	12% ^β			
Set B related beliefs								
Blindness / Eye damage	New/Old	16%	11%	25% ^b	16% [¢]			
Stroke	New/Old	9%	8%	17% ^b	11% [¢]			
Harms unborn babies*	New/Old	8%	5%	13% [°]	13%			
Addiction [#]	Old/New	7%	10%	10%	10%			
Heart disease [#]	Old/New	39%	34%	36%	33%			
Lung cancer [#]	Old/New	55%	53%	55%	55%			
<u>'Control' beliefs</u>								
Asthma	n/a	20%	19%	15%	6% ^a			
Cough	n/a	9%	6%	8%	12%			
Blood pressure	n/a	11%	7%	7%	7%			
Impotence	n/a	0%	0%	<1%	<1%			
What services are availab	le to help smok	ers auit						
Quitline		71%	75%	81% ^a	78% [°]			
Correct recall of Quitline r	number	5%	n/a	14% ^b	n/a			
Method of quit attempt (of tried to quit in the past year	Method of quit attempt (of those who tried to quit in the past year)			(n=163)	(n=164)			
Called the Quitline	-	7%	8%	11%	12%			
* Similar to previous warning "si	moking in pregnancy	may harm the unbor	n child"					

Table 3.2: Awareness of health effects, Quitline and use of Quitline (unprompted) (smokers of manufactured cigarettes only)

b

Significant difference from baseline (2005) p<0.05

β Significant difference from 2006 p<0.01 φ Significant difference from 2007 p<0.05

Between baseline and 2006 and/or 2007 and/or 2008, significant increases in awareness occurred for nearly all diseases which were also the subject of new pack warnings. No

Old warnings and new warning Significant difference from baseline (2005) p<0.001 Significant difference from baseline (2005) p<0.01

increases were observed in awareness about emphysema, lung cancer, heart disease or addiction, all of which started from a high baseline and/or were already warnings on packs. No increases were observed in health effects unrelated to pack warnings e.g. asthma and impotence.

Unprompted awareness of the Quitline as a service available to help smokers quit rose significantly over time, as did the proportion of smokers able to recite the Quitline number.

Recall of warnings

Table 3.3 shows that general recall of anti-tobacco advertising among smoking participants increased markedly in the year that pack warnings were introduced. This effect was specific to cigarette pack warnings, in that while there was a more than doubling in participants reporting (unprompted) they had noticed anti-tobacco information on cigarette packets, virtually no change was observed in relation to television or other sources. Cigarette packets became the second most cited source of anti-tobacco messaging after television. When prompted, 86% of smokers reported noticing new warnings on cigarette packets.

Immediately after the two-phased introduction of the new pack warnings, for all the new health warnings significant increases were observed in the proportion of smokers recalling new messages. There was no increased recall of any of the new graphic warnings that retained old messages. The long standing warning "Smoking causes lung cancer" remained the most recalled (48%), followed by the totally new "Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease" (40%), "Smoking causes throat and mouth cancer" (32%), "Smoking causes heart disease" (31%) and "Smoking harms unborn babies" (31%). Recall was lowest for "Tobacco smoke is toxic" (4%), "Quitting will improve your health" (6%), "Smoking – a leading cause of death" (10%). The graphic new version "Smoking is addictive" remained low at 8%. The mean absolute change for "new"/"new" warnings (i.e. packs with new images and new text; n=4) was 23% and the mean absolute change for "new"/"old" and "old"/"new" packs (n=9) was 7%.

Differences between subgroups

Table 3.4 shows the difference responses of sub-groups to the new warnings. All groups were significantly more likely to report noticing cigarette warnings after the new warnings were introduced.

"Smoking harms unborn babies" was more recalled by younger smokers. Female smokers were more likely to recall warnings relating to gangrene, mouth cancer and children than their male counterparts. These were the exception; more often than not, there were no significant differences in recall of the warnings between sub-groups. Generally, warnings with the highest increased recall overall (e.g. "gangrene" and "mouth and throat cancer"), were also the warnings with the highest increases in recall among all sub-groups. Generally, warnings that had weaker recall overall were also the weakest within the sub-groups.

Younger smokers were significantly better able to recount the Quitline number than older smokers after it was introduced onto cigarette packets, showing a dramatic increase from baseline. After the new warnings were introduced, awareness of the Quitline number increased in both smokers interested to quit in the next 6 months and those not interested. A greater gain was observed among smokers not (yet) seriously considering quitting.

Effects over time

Tables 3.2 and 3.3 present data from 2005 to 2008. Data in Table 3.3 show that cigarette packets remained a noticed source of anti-tobacco advertising. Table 3 shows indications of decline in recall of warnings introduced in early 2006 (Set A) during 2007, with some recall rebounding again in 2008. Similarly, some fall off of Set B warnings recall occurred in 2008. Table 3.2 shows very little evidence of decline in recall of health effects of smoking specific to new packet warnings, 2 years post first implementation. Table 3.3 shows that two-years post implementation, "Smoking causes lung cancer" remained the highest recalled pack (46%), followed by a second tier: "peripheral vascular disease", "heart disease", "emphysema", "unborn babies", "mouth and throat cancer" ranging from 30% to 24% unprompted recall. Those with lowest impact initially remained low, with recall ranging down to 4% for "toxic" and "addictive".

Table 3.3: Noticing warnings and recall of specific pack warnings (unprompted) (smokers of manufactured cigarettes only)

% often or very often 67% $89\%^a$ $91\%^a$ Where - % on TV 89% 93% $91\%^a$ Where - % on radio 19% 22% 20% Where - % on cigarette packs 20% $56\%^a$ $57\%^a$ Notice warnings on cigarette packets (prompted)% Often or very often 63% $86\%^a$ -Recall of new warningsPictures 0% $14\%^a$ $9\%^a$ Quitline number $<1\%$ $9\%^a$ $10\%^a$ Set AText/ImageSmoking causes emphysemaNew/Old 3% $23\%^a$ $20\%^a$ Smoking causes peripheralNew/New $<1\%$ $32\%^a$ $16\%^{a,\alpha}$ Smoking clogs your arteriesNew/New 2% $10\%^a$ $5\%^c$ Guitting will improve your healthNew/Old 0% $6\%^a$ $5\%^a$	93% ^a 93% ^c 24% 2% ^c 53% ^a
Where - % on TV89%93%91%Where - % on radio19%22%20%Where - % on laternet<1%	93% [°] 24% 2% [°] 53% ^a
Where - % on radio19%22%20%Where - % on laternet<1%	24% 2% ^c 53% ^a
Where - % on Internet<1%1%1%Where - % on cigarette packs20%56% a57% aNotice warnings on cigarette packets (prompted)% Often or very often63%86% a-Recall of new warningsPictures0%14% a9% aQuitline number<1%	2% [°] 53% ^ª
Where - % on cigarette packes20%56% a57% aNotice warnings on cigarette packets (prompted)% Often or very often63%86% a-Recall of new warningsPictures0%14% a9% aQuitline number<1%	53% ^ª
Notice warnings on cigarette packets (prompted)% Often or very often63%86% a-Recall of new warningsPictures0%14% a9% aQuitline number1%9% a10% aSet AText/ImageSmoking causes emphysemaNew/Old3%23% aSmoking causes mouth and throat cancerNew/New<1%	
% Often or very often63%86% a-Recall of new warningsPictures0%14% a9% aQuitline number<1%	
Recall of new warningsPictures0%14% a9% aQuitline number<1%	-
Pictures Quitline number0% 14% 14% 10% 10% 14%9% 10% 10% 10%Set AText/Image Smoking causes emphysemaNew/Old3% 23% 23% 23% 20% 10% 23%Smoking causes mouth and throat cancerNew/New 1%32% 16% 16% 16% 16% 16% 16% 16% 16% 16% 16	
Quitline number<1%9% a10% aSet AText/ImageSmoking causes emphysemaNew/Old3%23% a20% aSmoking causes mouth and throat cancerNew/New<1%	12% ^a
Set AText/ImageSmoking causes emphysemaNew/Old3%23% a20% aSmoking causes mouth and throat cancerNew/New<1%	12% ^a
Set AText/ImageSmoking causes emphysemaNew/Old3%23% a20% aSmoking causes mouth and throat cancerNew/New<1%	
Smoking causes emphysemaNew/Old3%23% a20% aSmoking causes mouth and throat cancerNew/New<1%	9– 0/ 3
Smoking causes mouth and throat cancerNew/New<1%32%16% fmSmoking causes peripheral vascular diseaseNew/New0%40% a26% a,αSmoking clogs your arteriesNew/Old<1%	27% [°]
Smoking causes peripheral vascular diseaseNew/New0%40% a26% a,αSmoking clogs your arteriesNew/Old<1%	24%
Smoking clogs your arteriesNew/Old<1%11% a7% a, αSmoking – a leading cause of deathNew/New2%10% a5% cQuitting will improve your healthNew/Old0%6% a5% aDon't let children breath in your smokeNew/New1%13% a2% α	30% ^{α,α}
Smoking – a leading cause of deathNew/New2%10% a5% cQuitting will improve your healthNew/Old0%6% a5% aDon't let children breath in your smokeNew/New1%13% a2% a	14% ^{α,δ}
Quitting will improve your healthNew/Old0%6% a5% aDon't let children breath in yourNew/New1%13% a2% αsmoke	10% ^a
Don't let children breath in your New/New 1% 13% ^a 2% ^α smoke	7% ^a
	7% ^{c, α, δ}
Set B	
Smoking causes blindnessNew/Old<1%17% a	12% ^{a,ø}
Smoking doubles your risk of New/Old <1% 9% ^a stroke	5%ª
Tobacco smoke is toxicNew/Old<1%4% a	4% ^b
Smoking harms unborn babies*Old*/New29%31%	25%
Smoking is addictive [#] Old/New 8% 8%	4% ^c
Smoking causes heart disease [#] Old/New 38% 31% ^c	28% ^b
Smoking causes lung cancer*Old/Old56%48% c	46% ^b
Don't know/can't remember 2% 3% 5% ^c	5% ^c

а

b

Old warnings and new warning Significant difference from baseline (2005) p<0.001 Significant difference from baseline (2005) p<0.01 Significant difference from baseline (2005) p<0.05 с

χ δ

Significant difference from 2006 p<0.001 Significant difference from 2006 p<0.05 Significant difference from 2007 p<0.001 Significant difference from 2007 p<0.05 φ

	Notice (unpro	packs pmpted	Gangrene		Emph	ysema	Mouth & Throat		Arteries		Don't let children		Cause of death		Quitting	
	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006
Age groups																
15-29 years (n ₂₀₀₅ =135;	26.1	60.7 ^α	0.0	39.5 ^α	2.2	19.8 ^α	1.7	36.5 ^α	0.0	7.6 ^χ	0.7	18.4 ^α	2.2	12.2 ^β	0.0	2.6
$n_{2006}=159)$					~ .											8
30-44 (n ₂₀₀₅ =205; n ₂₀₀₆ =168)	15.4	56.5°°	0.5	46.5 ^{°°}	3.4	29.4 ^a	0.3	31.2 [°]	0.5	11.7	1.2	12.6 ^{°°}	1.4	8.0	0.0	7.0 ^p
$45-59 (n_{2005}=109; n_{2006}=130)$	20.5	52.8°	0.4	37.0°	5.8	21.8°°	1.6	28.3°	0.0	13.6°	0.9	8.4°	2.1	10.1^	0.4	9.0°
60+ (N ₂₀₀₅ =35; N ₂₀₀₆ =68)	25.7	46.9*	0.0	30.2	1.6	18. <i>1</i> ∝	0.0	28.8	0.9	15.4 ^p	0.0	7.4	0.0	5.7 ~	0.0	4.2
<u>Sex</u> Malo (n258: n284)	19.0	ED Ea	0.2	D 22.4α	20	24 0α	0.0		0.4	ο σα	0.0	D	С 26	C 6 F	0.2	η ηα
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Wate} (112005 = 230, 112006 = 204) \\ \text{Eomalo} (n_{2005} = 246; n_{2006} = 204) \end{array}$	10.9	52.5°	0.2	33.4 47.6 ^α	2.9	24.9 [°]	0.0	24.1 40.0 ^α	0.4	8.5 11.0α	0.0	8.0°	2.0	0.5 12.0 ^α	0.2	4.4 7 ε ^α
$\frac{1}{2005} = 240, \frac{11}{2006} = 241)$	22.1	59.5	0.4	47.0	4.0	21.2	0.9	40.0	0.2	14.0	1.0	10.1	0.0	13.0	0.0	7.5
Yes $(n_{2005}=275; n_{2005}=287)$	18.9	54 7α	0.0	38 8 ^α	32	21 6α	0.6	34 5α	04	9 2α	14	14 Ο ^α	16	8 5 ^β	0.0	6.0α
No/Can't say (n ₂₀₀₅ =229:	22.3	56 7^{α}	0.6	41.3^{α}	3.7	25.2^{α}	1.3	28.5^{α}	0.2	14 1 ^α	0.3	11.0^{α}	1.6	10.7^{α}	0.2	5.6^{α}
n ₂₀₀₆ =235)		00.7	0.0	11.0	0.1	20.2		20.0	0.1		0.0	11.0		10.7	0.1	0.0
TOTAL (n ₂₀₀₅ =504; n ₂₀₀₆ =525)	20.5	55.6 ^α	0.3	40.0 ^α	3.4	23.2 ^α	0.9	31.8 ^α	0.3	11.4 ^α	0.9	12.7 ^α	1.6	9.5 ^α	0.1	5.8 ^α
			Unborn		Blindness		Lung cancer		Heart		Stroke		Addictive	Toxic		
	Cor	rect	Unt	born	Blind	iness	Lung	cancer	Не	art	Str	оке	Addi	ctive	lo	XIC
	rec	rect call	bat	oorn bies	Biind	iness	Lung	cancer	He	art lisease	Str	оке	Addi	ctive	10	XIC
	Cor rec Quitli	rect call ne no.	bab	born bies	Blind	iness	Lung	cancer	He	art lisease	Str	оке	Addi	ctive	10	XIC
	Cor rec Quitli 2005	rect call ne no. 2007	2005	born bies 2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	He c 2005	lisease 2007	2005	оке 2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Age groups	Cor rec Quitli 2005	rect call ne no. 2007 d	2005	2007 d	2005	2007	2005	2007	He c 2005	isease 2007	2005	оке 2007	2005 C	2007	2005 C	2007
Age groups 15-29 years (n ₂₀₀₅ =135; n ₂₀₀₅ =119)	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8 ^β	2005 27.4	2007 d 41.3	2005 0.9	2007 11.9 ^α	2005 b 59.3	2007 50.2	He c 2005 45.9	art lisease <u>2007</u> 28.7 ^χ	2005 0.7	2007 5.4 ^χ	2005 c 12.9	2007 11.6	2005 C 1.9	2007 4.1
Age groups 15-29 years (n ₂₀₀₅ =135; n ₂₀₀₇ =119) 30-44 (n ₂₀₀₅ =205: n ₂₀₀₇ =148)	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8 ^β 11.9	2005 27.4	2007 d 41.3 34.2	2005 0.9	2007 11.9 ^α 19 9 ^α	2005 b 59.3 62.6	2007 50.2	He c 2005 45.9 36.9	art lisease 2007 28.7 ^χ 38.0	2005 0.7	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9	2007 11.6 8.3	2005 c 1.9	2007 4.1 5.6 ^α
Age groups 15-29 years (n ₂₀₀₅ =135; n ₂₀₀₇ =119) 30-44 (n ₂₀₀₅ =205; n ₂₀₀₇ =148) 45-59 (n ₂₀₀₅ =109; n ₂₀₀₇ =109)	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8 ^β 11.9 6.8 ^β	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0	2007 11.9 ^α 19.9 ^α 20.3 ^α	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0	45.9 36.9 35.0	2007 28.7 ^x 38.0 26.9	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9 2.6	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2	2005 C 1.9 0.0 0.0	2007 4.1 5.6 ^α 3.5 ^χ
Age groups 15-29 years (n ₂₀₀₅ =135; n ₂₀₀₇ =119) 30-44 (n ₂₀₀₅ =205; n ₂₀₀₇ =148) 45-59 (n ₂₀₀₅ =109; n ₂₀₀₇ =109) 60+ (n ₂₀₀₅ =55; n ₂₀₀₇ =39)	Cor red Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0 0.0	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8 ^{β} 11.9 6.8 ^{β} 1.8	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6 18.3	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4 13.0	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0 0.0	2007 11.9 ^α 19.9 ^α 20.3 ^α 13.1 ^β	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6 33.2	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0 38.3	2005 45.9 36.9 35.0 26.7	2007 28.7 ^χ 38.0 26.9 22.0	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β 7.5 ^χ	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9 2.6 5.4	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2 8.3	2005 c 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	2007 4.1 5.6 ^α 3.5 ^χ 3.6
Age groups 15-29 years (n ₂₀₀₅ =135; n ₂₀₀₇ =119) 30-44 (n ₂₀₀₅ =205; n ₂₀₀₇ =148) 45-59 (n ₂₀₀₅ =109; n ₂₀₀₇ =109) 60+ (n ₂₀₀₅ =55; n ₂₀₀₇ =39) Sex	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0 0.0	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8^{β} 11.9 6.8^{β} 1.8	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6 18.3	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4 13.0	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0 0.0	2007 11.9 ^α 19.9 ^α 20.3 ^α 13.1 ^β	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6 33.2	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0 38.3	45.9 36.9 35.0 26.7	2007 28.7 ^x 38.0 26.9 22.0	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β 7.5 ^χ	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9 2.6 5.4	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2 8.3	2005 c 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	2007 4.1 5.6 ^α 3.5 ^χ 3.6
$\begin{array}{r} \underline{Age\ groups}\\ 15-29\ years\ (n_{2005}=135;\\ n_{2007}=119)\\ 30-44\ (n_{2005}=205;\ n_{2007}=148)\\ 45-59\ (n_{2005}=109;\ n_{2007}=109)\\ 60+\ (n_{2005}=55;\ n_{2007}=39)\\ \underline{Sex}\\ Male\ (n_{2005}=258;\ n_{2007}=200)\\ \end{array}$	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0 0.0 5.9	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8^{β} 11.9 6.8^{β} 1.8 10.7	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6 18.3 29.4	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4 13.0 28.0	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0	2007 11.9 ^α 19.9 ^α 20.3 ^α 13.1 ^β 14.5 ^α	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6 33.2 58.1	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0 38.3 45.1 ^x	45.9 36.9 35.0 26.7 39.1	2007 28.7 ^x 38.0 26.9 22.0 29.2	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.9	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β 7.5 ^χ 8.3 ^α	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9 2.6 5.4 6.9	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2 8.3 7.9	2005 c 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	2007 4.1 5.6 ^α 3.5 ^χ 3.6 4.4 ^β
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline Age \ groups \\ \hline 15-29 \ years \ (n_{2005}=135; \\ n_{2007}=119) \\ \hline 30-44 \ (n_{2005}=205; \ n_{2007}=148) \\ \hline 45-59 \ (n_{2005}=109; \ n_{2007}=109) \\ \hline 60+ \ (n_{2005}=55; \ n_{2007}=39) \\ \hline \\ $	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0 0.0 5.9 3.6	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8^{β} 11.9 6.8^{β} 1.8 10.7 16.8^{α}	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6 18.3 29.4 27.6	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4 13.0 28.0 34.1	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.5	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{2007} \\ 11.9^{\alpha} \\ 19.9^{\alpha} \\ 20.3^{\alpha} \\ 13.1^{\beta} \\ 14.5^{\alpha} \\ 19.5^{\alpha} \end{array}$	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6 33.2 58.1 54.1	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0 38.3 45.1 ^χ 52.1	2005 45.9 36.9 35.0 26.7 39.1 36.4	2007 28.7 ^x 38.0 26.9 22.0 29.2 32.6	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.9 0.3	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β 7.5 ^χ 8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α	Addi 2005 C 12.9 8.9 2.6 5.4 6.9 9.6	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2 8.3 7.9 8.5	2005 C 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0	2007 4.1 5.6 ^α 3.5 ^χ 3.6 4.4 ^β 4.5 ^χ
$\begin{array}{r} \underline{Age\ groups} \\ 15-29\ years\ (n_{2005}=135; \\ n_{2007}=119) \\ 30-44\ (n_{2005}=205; n_{2007}=148) \\ 45-59\ (n_{2005}=109; n_{2007}=109) \\ 60+\ (n_{2005}=55; n_{2007}=39) \\ \underline{Sex} \\ Male\ (n_{2005}=258; n_{2007}=200) \\ Female\ (n_{2005}=246; n_{2007}=214) \\ \underline{Planning\ to\ quit\ in\ next\ 6\ months} \end{array}$	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0 0.0 5.9 3.6	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8^{β} 11.9 6.8^{β} 1.8 10.7 16.8^{α}	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6 18.3 29.4 27.6	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4 13.0 28.0 34.1	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.5	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{2007} \\ \textbf{11.9}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{19.9}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{20.3}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{13.1}^{\beta} \\ \textbf{14.5}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{19.5}^{\alpha} \end{array}$	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6 33.2 58.1 54.1	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0 38.3 45.1 ^{χ} 52.1	2005 45.9 36.9 35.0 26.7 39.1 36.4	2007 28.7 ^χ 38.0 26.9 22.0 29.2 32.6	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.9 0.3	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β 7.5 ^χ 8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9 2.6 5.4 6.9 9.6	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2 8.3 7.9 8.5	2005 C 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0	2007 4.1 5.6^{α} 3.5^{χ} 3.6 4.4^{β} 4.5^{χ}
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline Age groups \\ 15-29 years (n_{2005}=135; n_{2007}=119) \\ 30-44 (n_{2005}=205; n_{2007}=148) \\ 45-59 (n_{2005}=109; n_{2007}=109) \\ 60+ (n_{2005}=109; n_{2007}=109) \\ \hline 60+ (n_{2005}=258; n_{2007}=200) \\ \hline Female (n_{2005}=246; n_{2007}=214) \\ \hline Planning to quit in next 6 months \\ \hline Yes (n_{2005}=275; n_{2007}=209) \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0 0.0 5.9 3.6 5.9	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8^{β} 11.9 6.8^{β} 1.8 10.7 16.8^{α} 12.9^{χ}	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6 18.3 29.4 27.6 27.9	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4 13.0 28.0 34.1 35.8	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.5 0.2	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{2007} \\ \textbf{11.9}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{19.9}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{20.3}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{13.1}^{\beta} \\ \textbf{14.5}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{19.5}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{18.3}^{\alpha} \end{array}$	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6 33.2 58.1 54.1 59.2	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0 38.3 45.1 ^x 52.1 51.2	2005 45.9 36.9 35.0 26.7 39.1 36.4 41.0	2007 28.7 ^χ 38.0 26.9 22.0 29.2 32.6 32.8	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.9 0.3 0.5	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β 7.5 ^χ 8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α 9.8 ^α	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9 2.6 5.4 6.9 9.6 7.6	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2 8.3 7.9 8.5 8.0	2005 C 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.3	2007 4.1 5.6^{α} 3.5^{χ} 3.6 4.4^{β} 4.5^{χ} 3.7^{β}
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline Age groups \\ 15-29 years (n_{2005}=135; n_{2007}=119) \\ 30-44 (n_{2005}=205; n_{2007}=148) \\ 45-59 (n_{2005}=109; n_{2007}=109) \\ 60+ (n_{2005}=255; n_{2007}=39) \\ \hline Sex \\ Male (n_{2005}=258; n_{2007}=200) \\ Female (n_{2005}=246; n_{2007}=214) \\ \hline Planning to quit in next 6 months \\ Yes (n_{2005}=275; n_{2007}=209) \\ No/Can't say (n_{2005}=229; \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0 0.0 5.9 3.6 5.9 2.8	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8^{β} 11.9 6.8^{β} 1.8 10.7 16.8^{α} 12.9^{χ} 14.8^{β}	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6 18.3 29.4 27.6 27.9 29.3	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4 13.0 28.0 34.1 35.8 26.4	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.5 0.2 0.5	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{2007} \\ \textbf{11.9}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{19.9}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{20.3}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{13.1}^{\beta} \\ \textbf{14.5}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{19.5}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{18.3}^{\alpha} \\ \textbf{15.8}^{\alpha} \end{array}$	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6 33.2 58.1 54.1 59.2 52.5	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0 38.3 45.1 ^χ 52.1 51.2 46.2	2005 45.9 36.9 35.0 26.7 39.1 36.4 41.0 33.9	2007 28.7 ^χ 38.0 26.9 22.0 29.2 32.6 32.8 29.0	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.9 0.3 0.5 0.8	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β 7.5 ^χ 8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α 9.8 ^α 7.8 ^α	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9 2.6 5.4 6.9 9.6 7.6 9.0	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2 8.3 7.9 8.5 8.0 8.4	2005 C 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.3 0.8	2007 4.1 5.6^{α} 3.5^{χ} 3.6 4.4^{β} 4.5^{χ} 3.7^{β} 5.1^{χ}
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Cor rec Quitli 2005 7.2 5.8 1.0 0.0 5.9 3.6 5.9 2.8	rect call ne no. 2007 d 26.8^{β} 11.9 6.8^{β} 1.8 10.7 16.8^{α} 12.9^{χ} 14.8^{β}	2005 27.4 33.6 25.6 18.3 29.4 27.6 27.9 29.3	2007 d 41.3 34.2 22.4 13.0 28.0 34.1 35.8 26.4	2005 0.9 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.5 0.2 0.5	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{2007} \\ 11.9^{\alpha} \\ 19.9^{\alpha} \\ 20.3^{\alpha} \\ 13.1^{\beta} \\ 14.5^{\alpha} \\ 19.5^{\alpha} \\ 18.3^{\alpha} \\ 15.8^{\alpha} \end{array}$	2005 b 59.3 62.6 51.6 33.2 58.1 54.1 59.2 52.5	2007 50.2 56.0 41.0 38.3 45.1 ^x 52.1 51.2 46.2	2005 45.9 36.9 35.0 26.7 39.1 36.4 41.0 33.9	2007 28.7 ^x 38.0 26.9 22.0 29.2 32.6 32.8 29.0	2005 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.9 0.3 0.5 0.8	2007 5.4 ^χ 10.5 ^α 10.7 ^β 7.5 ^χ 8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α 9.8 ^α 7.8 ^α	Addi 2005 c 12.9 8.9 2.6 5.4 6.9 9.6 7.6 9.0	2007 11.6 8.3 4.2 8.3 7.9 8.5 8.0 8.4	2005 c 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.3 0.8	2007 4.1 5.6^{α} 3.5^{χ} 3.6 4.4^{β} 4.5^{χ} 3.7^{β} 5.1^{χ}

Table 3.4: Unprompted recall of health warnings by sub-group (smokers of manufactured cigarettes only)

Significant difference between years: Chi-square: $\alpha = p<0.001$; $\beta = p<0.01$; $\chi = p<0.05$ Significant differences within year (between subgroups): Chi-square: a = p<0.001; b = p<0.01; c = p<0.05; Chi-square for trend: d = p<0.001

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrates that new graphic cigarette packet warnings coincided with increased awareness among smokers of the health consequences of smoking observed in cross-sectional surveys of South Australian smokers across four years. While it is possible that these increases in awareness of smoking related illnesses may have happened due to other influences or by chance, new graphic cigarette packet warnings are the most likely cause of the increases in awareness of smoking related disease.

Over the time that new graphic cigarette pack warnings were introduced, we observed substantial increases in top-of-mind awareness of diseases that were the subject of new warnings, and no increases in awareness of other health effects. Further supporting evidence was provided by the increased proportion of smokers who reported noticing warnings on cigarette packets after the new warnings were introduced. We also observed significant increases in smokers' unprompted recall of pack warnings as a source of anti-tobacco information. Again, this effect was isolated to pack warnings and not generalised to other sources such as television. After the new warnings were introduced, cigarette packets became second only to television as a recalled source of anti-tobacco messages for smokers. Arguably, noticing anti-tobacco messages on television could be at saturation point, after 20 years of regular anti-smoking campaigns. However, there was no increase in noticing messages on the less used media of radio or on the internet.

As observed in this study, it has been demonstrated previously that new messages delivered via television campaigns can markedly increase awareness of smoking related diseases in a 6-month period. As was the case in this study, the effects on awareness were specific to the diseases highlighted in the advertisements and not generalised to all smoking related illnesses.[128]

Similar to the Canadian experience,[89] cigarette packets became a prominent important source of anti-tobacco information after graphic cigarette warnings were introduced, and they remained so in the 2 years after they were introduced. In this study there was some evidence of a spike of recall of new warnings with some short term attrition, followed by more steady results. Importantly, most of the data in this study are on unprompted recall, so it is to be expected that top-of-mind recall of warnings and associated health beliefs would be highest in the year that new warnings are introduced, and that it might subsequently be displaced from top of mind by more recent warnings. This would be consistent with Fishbein & Ajzen's[66] contention that people's salient beliefs about the consequences of any contemplated action do not exceed 5-9 in number. Warning and

health effect recall does appear to stabilise but more longitudinal data are required to ascertain longer term effects.

The impact varied greatly between warnings. "Smoking causes:-heart disease" and "lung cancer" are warnings that have been on Australian cigarette packets for a long time (as text-based warnings). They are also diseases which a high proportion of smokers were already aware were caused by smoking, at baseline. Awareness of these diseases and recall of these pack warnings remained high but demonstrated no improvement once the new graphic warnings were introduced. "Smoking is addictive" was also a graphic adaptation of an old text-based warning. Like "heart disease" and "lung cancer" messages, no significant increase was observed in awareness of the relationship with smoking, or in recall of the warnings. However, unlike "heart disease" and "lung cancer", "addictive" stayed at a low level on both measures. At baseline, smokers already had a high awareness of the relationship between smoking and emphysema. The introduction of the completely new "emphysema" warning (with a familiar graphic – see Table 6.1), did increase recall of the warnings but did not shift the already high awareness of the disease among smokers. These four cases suggest that adding a graphic image (or at least these graphic images) to an old warning or an "old news" disease did nothing to improve awareness or recall.

By contrast, when baseline awareness of a disease/damage caused by smoking was low, and the disease/damage had not previously been used as a pack warning, awareness grew very significantly. Greatest growth in awareness was observed in relation to gangrene (4% to 27%) and mouth cancer (10% to 24%), both of which were "new news" and contained new images. Even topics that involved new warnings but images and messages which had been the subject of previous tobacco control campaigns (see Table 6.1) induced significant growth in awareness: "blocked arteries" increased 8%; "blindness" increased 9%; and "stroke" increased 8%. Hence, based on these examples, adding a new graphic image (or at least these graphic images) to a new warning would seem to improve awareness considerably, as does adding a familiar graphic image to a new warning.

Moreover, those warnings most recalled across the board and in different subgroups were those which were "new news", and used new images and particularly images of body parts likely to elicit a visceral "yuck" response. "Gangrene" (40% unprompted recall) and "mouth cancer" (32%) were dominant in this sense. Although "heart disease", "lung cancer" and "harms unborn babies" were also recalled well (49%, 31% and 31% respectively) and contained visceral or emotive images, the new packs failed to provoke an

improvement in recall over baseline, suggesting their high recall cannot be attributed to the graphic imagery.

The warnings with weakest recall were "Tobacco smoke is toxic" (4%), "Smoking is addictive" (8%), "Quitting will improve your health" (6%), "Smoking – a leading cause of death" (11%). With the exception of "Smoking is addictive" all of these warnings are general rather than specific about the consequences of smoking and none of these warnings contain images of body parts. Anti-tobacco television campaigns have consistently demonstrated that images and messages eliciting a visceral response and messages that are novel or "new news" are more likely to be attended to and have impact on quitting behaviour.[76, 129, 130] This study demonstrates that these finding are generalisable to cigarette pack warnings. This study also demonstrates that these findings apply to smokers in general, as well as to and different subgroups of smokers.

The addition of the Quitline number to the cigarette packet appears to have increased general top-of-mind awareness of the availability of the Quitline service. This is noteworthy because the Australian Quitline has been operating for over two decades and already enjoyed high levels of awareness. Although not significant, a coincident trend was observed in increased use of the Quitline as a source of help to quit. The proportion of smokers who knew the Quitline number doubled; and in 2007, one in eight smokers could recite the number accurately. An independent study demonstrated that calls to the Australian Quitline doubled in the year after the new warnings were introduced.[138]

Health promotion often aims to segment different messages for different markets in the expectation of having greater impact. The case has been made, using mass-media quit campaigns as the example, that this is unnecessary and even counter-productive because it comes at a cost, namely the dilution of resources required for population-wide campaigns.[139] Comparisons between warnings as well as comparisons between population sub-groups show that what "works", works well across the board and what "doesn't work" across the board, also doesn't work well with any subgroup. The only exception in this study was the greater propensity shown by women and younger smokers to respond to warnings about unborn babies and children, presumably because of their closer specific personal relevance. Overall, this study provides another example of a population-based intervention working well with both smokers generally and within subgroups, building the case for non-segmented interventions.

This study provides clear evidence that Australia's new graphic cigarette packets succeeded in attracting the attention of Australian smokers. A limitation of this study is

that it did not explicitly ask smokers what, about the different warnings, attracted their attention, nor did it ask smokers directly about their perceptions of the credibility of different warnings. Some warnings may have been better recalled than others because smokers thought they made outrageous and incredible claims. However, this study provides evidence that smokers did find the highly recalled warnings credible. The fact that smokers' unprompted recall of illnesses caused by smoking increased. in line with the increased recall of warnings is evidence of this. Changes in awareness about the harms of smoking are an important antecedent to behaviour change for many smokers. Whether behaviour change did follow was not been measured in the current study.

This study provides support for the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control Article 11, mandating large cigarette packet warnings and recommending graphic imagery. Tobacco control policies, such as the FCTC and Australia's National Tobacco Control Strategies, recognise the complexity of smoking behaviour and the multiple behavioural and structural interventions required to reduce tobacco's toll. Graphic cigarette packet warnings play a role as one component of a comprehensive suite of tobacco control interventions.

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, Australian graphic cigarette packet warnings have been shown in this study to have caught the attention of Australian smokers who have extended the range of their beliefs about the harmful consequences of smoking. Lessons for policy makers planning to introduce graphic warnings are that, as with anti-tobacco television campaigns, "new news" attracts more attention than "old news" and visceral images are more powerful than other graphics. The importance of "new news" should also be considered by policy makers in countries where graphic warnings have already been introduced, as many of the health effects of smoking are unfamiliar to many smokers and an opportunity exists to increase awareness by updating and rotating warnings.
Chapter 4

Impact on the Australian Quitline of new graphic cigarette pack warnings including the Quitline number

PUBLICATION:

Miller CL, Hill DJ, Quester PG, Hiller JE. *Impact on the Australian Quitline of new graphic cigarette pack warnings including the Quitline number*. Tobacco Control 2009, 18(3):235-237.

ABSTRACT

Background: In March 2006, Australia introduced graphic pictorial warnings on cigarette packets. For the first time, packs include the Quitline number.

Objective: To measure the combined effect of graphic cigarette pack warnings and printing the Quitline number on packs on calls to the Australian Quitline service.

Methods: Calls to the Australian Quitline were monitored over 4 years, two years before and after the new packets were introduced.

Results: There were twice as many calls to the Quitline in 2006 (the year of introduction), as there were in each of the preceding two years. The observed increase in calls exceeds that which is explained by the accompanying television advertising alone. While call volume tapered back in 2007, it remained higher than before the introduction of new packets. No change was observed in the proportion of first time callers.

Conclusion: Introducing graphic cigarette packet warnings and the Quitline number on cigarette packets boosts demand for Quitline services with likely flow on effects to cessation.

What this paper adds: Many countries are moving to introduce graphic cigarette packet warnings; some with a Quitline or helpline number. However, the impact on calls to the Quitline of graphic (in contrast to text-only) warnings with accompanying Quitline number has not yet been quantified. This study shows that even in a 'mature' tobacco control environment like Australia, such an intervention has considerable positive impact on demand for a Quitline, with positive implications for quitting.

INTRODUCTION

In March 2006, graphic health warnings were included on cigarette and other tobacco packs in Australia. In addition, and for the first time, the Australian Quitline number was printed on packets. Prior to 2006, Australia had text based warnings. There was an infoline number printed in small text on the side of the pack. This number diverted to the Quitline.

Like the text-based warnings that preceded them, the graphic health warnings are mandated under Australia's Trade Practices Act[39] which includes regulations to inform and protect consumers. Graphic images and explanatory messages cover 30% of the front and 90% of the back of the pack. The message "You CAN quit smoking. Call the Quitline 131 848, talk to your doctor or pharmacist, or visit <u>www.quitnow.info.au</u>" is also included on the back of all packs. The Quitline number is also 'stamped' on top of the graphic image on the backs of packs. Regulations prescribe the details of the size of the elements.[39] There are 14 different warnings divided into two sets,[93, 94] rotated semi-annually. Many but not all of the messages and images were new to Australian smokers. Currently, there is no provision to update the messages or images on packets which were introduced to consumers in 2006.

A series of mass-media campaign activities accompanied the introduction of the new cigarette packet warnings. The Australian Government screened an *awareness raising campaign* in February 2006.[42] In addition, a collaboration of Australian state and territory based non-government health agencies developed a campaign to reinforce the pack warnings and promote quitting. This *quit campaign* featured two television commercials (TVCs) linked directly to the new graphic cigarette packet warnings; *Amputation*[43] linked to the warning *Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease* and *Mouth Cancer*[44] linked to the warning *Smoking causes mouth and throat cancer*. *Amputation* first aired in May 2006 and *Mouth Cancer* first aired in July 2006.

Australia is not the first country to introduce a Quitline or smokers' helpline number on cigarette packets. In 2002, a smoking cessation message and quit line number were included on Dutch cigarette packets, along with prominent text warnings. This led to a 3.5 fold increase in calls to the Dutch Quitline.[86] In the UK, written pack warnings, accompanied by a smoking helpline number, were reported as the second largest driver of callers to the National Health Service Stop Smoking Helpline.[140] However, to date, no data have been published on the impact of the graphic cigarette packet warnings, accompanied by a Quitline number, on demand for a Quitline service.

It is well established that television advertising to promote quitting can increase calls to Quitlines[141-143] and, therefore, quitting itself.[144] This study measures the impact of new style cigarette packets, which included graphic cigarette packet warnings and the Quitline number, on calls to the Australian Quitline, and the extent to which call volume exceeded that which would be expected from the usual mass-media cessation advertising.

METHODS

Quitline call data

The Australian Quitline can be accessed from anywhere in Australia by dialling 131848 or 13 QUIT (137848) for the price of a local call. The Telstra Analyser®, software of the telecommunications provider, provides data on volume of calls, call source (broken down by state and region), time and duration of calls.

Individual states and territories have their own databases of caller details. These data were examined in one jurisdiction (South Australia), where callers who spoke to a counsellor (51% of all callers) were asked routinely whether they had called the Quitline before.

Advertising data

Television anti-smoking advertising is quantified using Target Audience Rating Points (TARPs), provided by media agency ACNielsen (Sydney, Australia). TARPs are a standard measure of television advertising weight. TARPs are used to indicate the number of people within a certain demographic group that were exposed to an advertisement within a given period of time. For example, 100 TARPs for one week is equal to an average of one exposure per person in the target population within that week of the campaign. In the present study, the TARPs relate to the target audience of Australians aged \geq 18 years.

Analyses

Data analyses were conducted with SPSS v15.

Linear regression analyses were used to estimate the effect on calls to the Quitline of television advertising and the introduction of graphic pack warnings using data from January 2004 to December 2007 inclusive. In regression modelling, calls to the Quitline

were the dependent variable, TARPs were a continuous independent variable and separate dummy variables were created for 2006 and 2007. Although data were not distributed normally, data were not transformed as this did nothing to strengthen the resulting model.

RESULTS

Figure 4.1 shows the volume of calls to the Australian Quitline service over a four-year period. Every year, calls to the Quitline peak at New Year, around World No Tobacco Day (31 May) and coinciding with other major cessation campaigns. In 2006, the Australian Quitline received 164 850 calls. This compares with 81 490 calls in 2004, 84 442 calls in 2005 and 117 544 calls in 2007. The number of calls received in 2006, the year that new graphic cigarette packet warnings including the Quitline number were introduced, represents a doubling of calls received in either of the two preceding years. The number of calls received in 2006 was 40% higher than those received in 2007, the year after the warnings were introduced.

Calls increased markedly when new cigarette packet warnings were first introduced. Call volume levelled off in the weeks following the initial launch but built up again in subsequent months when the accompanying quit campaign TVCs were launched.

The linear regression model showed significant relationships between the independent variables and the dependent variable overall and had good overall explanatory value (F=133.4; p<0.001; Adj R²=0.657). The model predicted a base number of calls (constant B=1161; t=17.0, p<0.001); a significant linear relationship between every 100 TARPs and calls to the Quitline (B=119.0; t=12.6; p<0.001); and separate independent increases in calls were observed for years 2006 (B=1236.2; t=11.7; p<0.001); and 2007 (B=341.0; t=3.2; p=0.001), above what was explained by TARPs alone. Call volume was still elevated in 2007, compared to 2004 and 2005, although there was erosion in call volume from 2006.

When a South Australia sub-sample of callers to the Quitline was examined further, it revealed that there was no increase in the proportion of first time callers in 2006 (77%), the year in which new pack warnings including the Quitline number were introduced, compared to 2005 (78%).



Figure 4.1: Calls to the Australian Quitline prior to and after the introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings

DISCUSSION

Australia is a 'mature' tobacco control market where most forms of tobacco promotion are banned, increasing the significance of the packet as a medium for marketing.[28, 34] The introduction of graphic health warnings on cigarette packets represented a major change in Australia. The new warnings are larger than the old text based warnings, they are in colour, many feature confronting images known to have a strong impact on smokers[137] and, for the first time, they feature the Quitline number prominently. Graphic cigarette packet warnings provided a chance to communicate new information to Australian smokers in a new way. They went some way towards countering the glamorisation and promotion of tobacco through packet appearance.

Since the 1980's, most Australian state and territories have established strong antitobacco (quit) mass-media campaigns, supported by the Australian Quitline. Because of the clear relationships between high-quality mass-media campaigns, calls to the Quitline and quitting behaviour,[141, 144] the introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings was viewed by health agencies as an opportunity to reinforce and sustain any impact with tailored new mass media quit campaigns. As a consequence, it is not possible to completely separate the independent effects of the packs themselves and the accompanying mass-media communications themed around the pack warnings.

However, the rise in calls to the Australian Quitline service observed in this study was substantial and sustained. The size and timing of the rise in calls, compared to the previous two years, indicates that this is highly likely to be due to the introduction of the new graphic cigarette packet warnings which included the Quitline number. The regression analysis also demonstrates that it is very unlikely that mass-media alone explained the observed increase in calls because the introduction of the warnings had an independent effect. Further evidence that mass media quit campaigns were not the primary cause of increased calls is the fact that some of the increase in calls was observed prior to the launch of the quit campaigns. The Quitline number is a prominent but integrated component of the new-style warnings on Australian cigarette packets. There was no prominent display of the Quitline number on Australian cigarette packets prior to this, only the low-profile infoline number. Therefore it is not possible to separate the contributions of the components of the new warnings: namely the visual

image, the large warning text, the detailed warning on the back of the packet or the Quitline number. Their impact has been measured as a whole.

There was no change in the proportion of first time callers, compared to the previous year, indicating that the intervention had a positive effect upon both new quitters and repeat callers. The observed increase in call volume did persist in the year following the introduction of the warnings (2007). Although there are 14 different warnings, with a scheduled rotation mechanism, it is likely that the reduction in call volume was due to a degree of 'wear out'. This provides another example of a health promotion intervention having a positive effect more akin to a spring than a screw.[145] The analogy is one about sustainability. Once driven down, a screw stays where it is whereas a spring needs ongoing pressure to avoid a rebound due to opposing force. Tobacco control initiatives, such as graphic warnings, compete in an environment with opposing forces, including below-the-line tobacco promotion and consumer adaptation levels to warnings. The apparent 'wear out' of the initial impact of the warnings suggests the need for governments to be able to change warnings both for the sake of maintaining novelty (and avoiding desensitisation) and to inform smokers of the hazards that come to light from research published since the set of warnings was prescribed.

In conclusion, the Australian Quitline experienced a doubling of calls upon introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings which included a prominent Quitline number. Other countries with mature tobacco markets could expect a similar impact upon introduction of graphic warnings, especially if accompanied by reinforcing mass-media activities. The flow-on effects in terms of quitting are likely to be substantial. Previous research has demonstrated that at 12 months, around 30% of callers to the Australian Quitline have succeeded in quitting smoking,[141] making such warnings an important source of consumer information but also a worthwhile cessation intervention.

Chapter 5

The impact of Australia's new graphic cigarette packet warnings on smokers' beliefs and attitudes

REFERNCE:

Miller CL, Hill DJ, Quester PG, Hiller JE. *The impact of Australia's new graphic cigarette packet warnings on smokers' beliefs and attitudes*. Australasian Marketing Journal 2011, 19:181-188.

ABSTRACT

In 2006 Australia introduced graphic cigarette health warnings (GHW) on cigarette packets, depicting a range of tobacco-related pathology. This intervention, controlling the appearance of a consumer product, was designed to raise consumers' awareness of the harms of tobacco use, motivate quitting, and discourage uptake of smoking.

This study applies the reasoned action approach to assess the relevance of GHW-related beliefs and attitudes to smokers' behavioural intentions and smoking behaviour.

A sample of 587 smokers was recruited through a random representative population survey in 2005, prior to the introduction of new warnings. A subset of 158 was followed up a year later.

The results show that GHW-related beliefs and attitudes were predictive of intention to quit smoking. Intentions to quit were, in turn, predictive of quitting behaviour as measured in the follow up stage. New GHW, smokers are presumed to have been exposed to, were also associated with changes in beliefs over time.

INTRODUCTION

In Australia and New Zealand alike, non-communicable diseases including cancer and heart disease place a huge personal, social and economic burden on the community.[146] While the determinants of health outcomes are complex and diverse, much of the morbidity and mortality burden associated with such diseases is preventable and tobacco smoking is one of the most important contributors.[3] Around 17% of the Australian adult population smoke,[146] and every year 15,000 Australians die prematurely from a wide range of tobacco-related illnesses;[6] 10 times the number of deaths as occur from accidents on Australia's roads.

Opponents of tobacco control regulation and legislation often frame smoking as a "personal" and "rational" choice to use a "legal product".[147] This position has three major flaws. First, the extent to which most consumers' choice about using tobacco products is rational, is debatable. Economic theory presumes that people's behaviour can be understood as the rational pursuit of self-interest.[15] The concept of rational choice refers to people choosing the best course of action, for their preferences, at a given time, having weighed up the information that they have when the choice is made. Implicit in the argument of rational choice, as it is applied to tobacco consumption, is the assumption that people genuinely understand and weigh up the costs (health, economic, social) versus the benefits (physiological pleasure, social) of smoking, and choose to continue to smoke.

In the absence of perfect information, consumers' rational choice is severely impeded. While it is true that virtually all smokers are aware that smoking is harmful to health, far fewer accurately estimate the risk of disease or disability, or understand the breadth of illnesses tobacco causes or the possible consequences in middle age.[11, 16, 17, 148] The fact that smoking causes lung cancer and heart disease is widely known, but that smoking also causes cancer of the mouth and oropharynx, stomach, liver, pancreas, cervix, bladder, and leukemia (for those aged over 30 years) [6] is far less well understood. There is evidence in tobacco company documents that tobacco companies have known for a long time about the effects of tobacco and have failed to disclose or denied this information from consumers.[18] Historically, health warnings on tobacco products have faced a long history of opposition from the tobacco industry and have in no way provided full information about the harmfulness of the product.[19, 37] In

addition to such deficits in consumers' knowledge about the health costs of smoking, tobacco products have been marketed heavily and with sophistication, emphasizing alleged "benefits" and ignoring their addictive nature.

Second, tobacco smoking delivers nicotine, which is addictive.[20] Addiction distorts the consumer's ability to make a truly 'free' choice about a product. Third, while smoking is often argued to be an adult choice, only a minority of new smokers are over the age of 18. The majority of smoking experimentation and initiation occurs amongst adolescents well before adulthood. By the time many new smokers reach adulthood, they have already smoked for long enough and consumed enough tobacco to have become addicted. When market failure occurs, as it does in the case of tobacco consumption, there is clear justification for public policy intervention.

Tobacco control is the term used to describe the comprehensive range of policy and program measures, which work together to reduce the harm caused by tobacco. Examples of programs include: evidence-based mass-media social marketing campaigns (which make plain the effects of tobacco use and motivate people to quit) and quality services to smokers such as telephone help lines or 'Quitlines'. Policy measures aim to reduce the promotion of demand for and supply of tobacco products. Examples include: taxation of tobacco products; regulation of sale; tight controls over marketing and promotion; and consumer product warning labels.

Government health warnings on cigarette packets are a significant part of tobacco control regulation. Like other consumer warning labels, warnings on tobacco packets are designed to increase consumers' awareness and understanding of the harms associated with the product,[36] as smokers and potential smokers are exposed to the warnings every time they purchase a tobacco product, and every time they handle it. It has been estimated that a 20-per-day smoker would be exposed to a health warning around 7000 times each year.[10]

Australia's first warnings appeared on tobacco products in 1973: "Warning – Smoking is a health hazard" in small font at the bottom of the packet. New generations of warnings were introduced in 1987 and 1995. In March 2006, Australia introduced cigarette packet warnings with graphic imagery depicting tobacco related pathology,

accompanied by a prominent Quitline number. The details are available elsewhere. New Zealand followed suit in 2008.

Raising consumers' awareness of the dangers of tobacco products via warnings is done with a view, ultimately, to changing smoking behaviour.[36] Theory and empirical studies have demonstrated that there is a range of factors that influence volitional behavior, including people's beliefs and attitudes. Fishbein and Ajzen's [1] reasoned action approach (which encompasses the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA)[65, 66] and the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB)[67]), holds that people's volitional behaviours can be predicted by their behavioural intention. That is to say, at a given point in time people do what they intend to do. In turn, behavioural intentions are determined by three constructs: (i) attitudes towards the behaviour; (ii) subjective norms, or perceived social pressure to perform the behaviour; (iii) perceived control over the behavior (TPB only); (see Figure 5.1). In general, the more favourable the attitude and perceived norms and the greater the perceived behavioural control, the stronger should the person's intention be to perform the behaviour in question. The relative importance, or weight, of these three determinants on intentions will differ between individuals and between types of behaviour. The stronger the intention (operationalised as the subjective likelihood of occurrence), the more likely it is the behavior will be carried out.

Figure 5.1: Schematic presentation of the reasoned action approach and potential influence of new graphic cigarette packet warnings. Adapted from Fishbein & Ajzen (2010)



Fishbein and Ajzen argue that beliefs that people hold about a behaviour are the fundamental determinants of their decisions about whether to perform behaviour.[1] Attitudes towards the behaviour can range from highly favourable to highly unfavourable, and are determined by the perceived personal consequences of an action, and its perceived likelihood of occurrence. Those beliefs, in turn, have been formed from a variety of information sources, including past personal experiences.

While the Fishbein and Ajzen approach acknowledges the place of social influence and of confidence in one's ability to carry out an action, it is the beliefs that underpin the other determinant – attitude – that are the most accessible to intervention by communication to an individual from a third party. Importantly, *salient* beliefs are the ones determining attitudes. These are defined as 'top of mind' beliefs about a behaviour, that is to say they do not require to be prompted into consciousness, and are therefore assumed to be capable of determining intentions and behaviour on an ongoing basis. It is postulated that no more than 5-7 salient beliefs are held for any attitude object. Separating salient beliefs specific to an individual (the true determinants of attitudes) from other beliefs which are merely indicative of attitudes is difficult, particularly as beliefs that are merely indicative will also correlate highly with attitude. Some beliefs are causal for attitude formation; others arise because the person already has a firm attitude around which beliefs consistent with it aggregate.

It follows that the consumer warnings on cigarette packets, depicting graphically the harms of smoking, could influence attitudes, intentions and smoking behaviour by engendering salient beliefs about negative consequences of smoking that displace previously held salient beliefs. As well, graphic health warnings might change the outcome evaluation (e.g. increase the negative valence of gangrene as a consequence of smoking). Since it is the *product* of perceived likelihood and outcome evaluation that is relevant, change in either would have an impact on a person's attitude. Arguably, the packet warnings might also influence peers' perceptions of the risks and benefits of smoking and their approval or disapproval of the smoker's behaviour. In addition, it is also possible that the inclusion of the Quitline number on cigarette packets might influence the same smoker's perceptions of their own ability to quit smoking.

The reasoned action approach (TRA and TPB) has been widely applied and tested, predicting a range of behaviours, including health behaviours, such as smoking. To

date, however, it does not appear to have been applied to the examination of the impact on attitudes of interventions such as graphic health warnings on cigarette packets.

In order to influence beliefs, any consumer information must meet some basic requirements in order to attract and retain attention. For example, health warnings need to be noticeable and have clear strong messages.[71] Previous research has indicated that such warnings do attract sufficient attention for information to be processed. Introduction of stronger health warnings has demonstrably increased knowledge of the subject matter contained in the warnings both in Canada [149, 150] and in Australia.[72, 151] Overall, smokers have greater knowledge about particular health effects in countries where those health effects are the subject of warnings than in countries where they are not.[82, 150] Increased health knowledge among smokers was positively associated with higher intentions to quit, in four countries with different warnings regimes,[82] demonstrating the importance of awareness of health effects as a motivator for quitting. Comparison of different warning styles (e.g. graphic health warnings vs high and low profile text-based warnings) across countries and time has demonstrated that the stronger the warnings the greater their cognitive impact on smokers and the greater the behavioural reactions.[89]

Previous studies into the new Australian graphic health warnings on cigarette packets have documented their impact on Australian smokers' awareness in a variety of ways. The volume of Australian media coverage relating to the warnings to which Australian consumers may have been exposed has been documented.[137] The pace of the roll out and prevalence of new warnings on packs in retail outlets has also been described.[137] New Zealand has also documented observations of industry behaviour during their rollout and lessons learned to improve the process of the introduction of graphic warnings in other countries.[152, 153]

A survey of smokers and recent quitters demonstrated high recall of the new Australian graphic health warnings.[150, 154] Another study demonstrated that new graphic health warnings were more salient than text only warnings (i.e. they were read and noticed) and that they stimulated thoughts about the harms of smoking, about quitting and the behaviour of foregoing cigarettes.[125] Further, it has been demonstrated that Australian graphic health warnings were noticed by Australian adolescents whose cognitive processing about the health risks covered by the warnings increased after their

introduction.[126] Both Australian and New Zealand warnings have prompted increased calls to local Quitline telephone cessation services.[138, 155]

This study was conducted in the context of the introduction on 1 March 2006, of the first phase of a new Australian tobacco control policy measure i.e. mandating of the following pictorial warnings as follows: *Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease*; *Smoking causes emphysema*; *Smoking clogs your arteries*; and *Don't let children breath in your smoke*.

The present study applies Fishbein and Ajzen's reasoned action approach [1] to investigate the potential impact of new graphic cigarette packet warnings on determinants of smokers' behavioural intentions and actual behaviour. First, Fishbein and Ajzen's model (see Figure 5.1) is tested in this situation, where it is expected to be predictive. That is to say, we hypothesised that (smoking) behavioural intentions will be independently predicted by attitudes, social norms and perceived behavioural control. Consistent with the theory, we also hypothesised that (smoking) behavioural intentions will be predictive of actual behaviour.

The model proposes that attitudes consist of beliefs about the specific consequences of a behaviour and evaluations of those consequences. Behavioural beliefs and outcome evaluations can change in response to new information, resulting in changes in attitudes. In this study, we examine the influence of the new graphic health warnings on smokers. Specifically, we predict that the new graphic cigarette warnings will influence behavioural beliefs and outcome evaluations, which in turn influence attitudes about continuing to smoke.

If, as we hypothesise, graphic health warnings do influence smokers in accordance with Fishbein and Ajzen's model, the study will provide empirical validation of the theoretical literature [71] outlining how and why graphic cigarette packet warnings would be expected to influence smokers. The better the mechanisms of influence are understood, the more effective policy makers can be in designing new graphic cigarette packet warnings.

The model predicts that beliefs and attitudes influence behaviour via their influence on intentions, rather than directly. The focus on the first (baseline) part of this study, therefore, is on the relationships between beliefs, attitudes and intentions, rather than on

quitting behavior itself. The second (follow-up) study tests whether intentions predict behaviour, and looks for changes in beliefs, which would be expected to influence intentions and behaviour into the future and beyond the timeline of this study.

METHODS

Recruitment and follow-up

Participants were recruited and baseline data collected as a part of an annual crosssectional survey of the South Australian population. The survey involves a multistage, systematic, clustered area sample of households, with Australian Bureau of Statistics Collector's Districts as the sampling frame. Greater details on sampling are provided elsewhere.[131] At each selected household, one person aged 15 years or older whose birthday was due next was selected for interview. Structured interviews were conducted in the respondents' own homes by trained interviewers. Up to six call-back visits were made to each household in an attempt to obtain an interview if the respondent was not home.

Participants from the population survey were eligible for inclusion in the sample for this study if they were a current smoker, had a landline and were willing to participate in a follow-up telephone survey. The baseline survey was conducted in September to November 2005.

A sub-set of the eligible sample was randomly selected to participate in a follow-up telephone survey. The cohort was followed up in August 2006; 6 months after the graphic cigarette packet warnings were legislated to start, by which time the packs were becoming prevalent in retail stores.[137]

Measures

Smoking *behaviour* was measured using standard Australian Institute of Health and Welfare measures.[146] A participant was classified as a smoker if they smoked "daily", "at least weekly", or "less than weekly". Behavioural *intention* is conceived as subjective probability and hence was measured by asking: "A year from now how likely is it that you will be smoking: 1=definitely will; 2=probably will; 3=might or might not; 4=probably will not; 5=definitely will not".

Table 5.1 shows the different scale items used for the purpose of measuring the relevant variables of interest. These variables were constructed in accordance with Fishbein & Ajzen's recommendations for applying their reasoned action approach and constructing a reasoned action questionnaire.[1, 66] Their rationale is explained in detail elsewhere.[1] These variables are: *direct measure of attitude* towards quitting, *perceived norm* and *perceived behavioural control*. The question used to elicit smokers' modal *salient beliefs* about quitting is also provided in Table 5.1. The responses to this open-ended question were recorded according to pre-coded categories determined from the most common responses offered during the pilot stage of the study.

Additional questions were added which related directly to different risks of smoking depicted on the graphic cigarette packet warnings. Ten questions assessed Graphic Health Warning related (*GHW*) behavioural beliefs (b_i) and 10 assessed *GHW outcome evaluations* (e_i). These variables were deliberately constructed to match the graphic health warnings, and unlike the modal salient beliefs above, cannot be interpreted as being pure measures of salient beliefs. However, the scales used for these questions were also consistent with Fishbein and Ajzen's recommendations.[1, 66] Responses to each question were coded on bipolar 5-point scales. Also consistent with Fishbein & Ajzen's recommendations,[1] *individual attitudinal components* $b_i e_i$ were calculated by multiplying the outcome evaluation (e_i) by the belief (b_i); yielding an attitude score with a range 1-25. (The belief and outcomes evaluations relating to "harming an unborn baby if you continued to smoke" were only asked of women below 45 years of age.)

Table 5.1: Survey measures

Question	Scale
Graphic Health Warning related (GHW) Outcome Evaluations (e _i)	
On a scale of 1 to 5 with 1 being it wouldn't bother me at all and 5 being one of the worst things that could happen how would it be if …	
you got peripheral vascular disease (or gangrene)? you got emphysema? you got clogged arteries?	1-5 1-5 1-5
you got clogged alteries? children you know got sick from breathing in your smoke? you got lung cancer?	1-5 1-5 1-5
you got heart disease? you had a stroke?	1-5 1-5
you became blind or got irreversible eye damage? you were addicted to smoking?	1-5 1-5
your smoking harmed your unborn baby? [asked only of women of childbearing age]	1-5
GHW Beliefs (<i>b_i</i>)	
On a scale of 1 to 5 with 1 being certain not to happen and 5 being certain to happen, how likely is it that	
you will get peripheral vascular disease if you continue to smoke	1-5
you will get clogged arteries if you continue to smoke	1-5
children you know will get sick from breathing in your smoke if you smoke around them	1-5
you will get lung cancer if you continue to smoke	1-5
you will have a stroke if you continue to smoke	1-5
you will experience blindness or irreversible eye damage if you	1-5
you will be addicted to smoking if you continue to smoke your smoking would harm your unborn baby if you continue to smoke during the pregnancy [asked only of women of childbearing age]	1-5 1-5
GHW Attitude (belief-evaluation product <i>b_ie_i</i>)	
e.g. Attitude emphysema = belief emphysema x outcome evaluation emphysema	1-25
Modal beliefs	
Thinking about what quitting smoking completely would mean for you, what would be some of the good or bad things about quitting smoking completely	Unprompted, pre-coded binary response options
Attitude (direct measure)	
On a scale of 1 to 7 with 1 being extremely good and 7 being extremely bad, how good or bad it would be to quit smoking completely	1-7
Perceived norm	
Thinking about the people whose opinions influence what you do, what proportion of them wants you to quit smoking completely?	0-100%
Perceived behavioural control	
On a scale of 1 to 7, with 1 being extremely difficult, how easy or difficult would it be for you to quit smoking if you wanted to?	1-7

Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using PASW® Statistics 17.0.[156] Differences between proportions were analysed using chi-squares. Differences between means were assessed using t-tests for paired-samples and one-way ANOVAs, as indicated in the results. Dimension reduction was conducted using Principal Components Analysis. Multivariate relationships were examined using linear regression analyses.

RESULTS

Participants

In total, 587 smokers participated in the baseline survey. The mean age of the baseline sample was 43.1 (SD=15.0); 53.8% were women and 32.9% had attained a diploma or degree. Overall, 85.9% were daily smokers and mean cigarettes consumed per day was 13.1 (SD=10.3). Mean years smoking at baseline was 25.9 years (SD=14.6), and 27.7% smoked their first cigarette of the day less than 15 minutes after waking. Of this sample, a sub-set of 293 was randomly selected to participate in the cohort study of whom 158 (53.9%) were able to be recontacted and completed a follow-up interview. This group that completed a baseline and follow-up interview will be referred to as the follow-up sub-sample.

The follow-up sub-sample did not differ significantly at baseline from the remainder of the baseline sample on any of the demographic or smoking behaviour variables with mean age of 44.5 (SD=14.7), 58.2% female and 32.9% with a diploma or degree. At baseline, all participants were smokers (by definition), 83.5% were daily smokers and mean cigarettes consumed per day was 13.9 (SD=10.9). Mean years smoking was 27.8 (SD=13.6), and 24.8% had their first cigarette less than 15 minutes after waking.

Baseline Survey

First, to confirm the validity of the Fishbein and Ajzen approach in this application, linear regression was undertaken to explain intention to quit smoking, using direct measure of attitude, perceived social norm and perceived behavioural control as independent variables. The resulting model explained 10.5% of the variance in intention to quit F(3,565)=23.2; p<0.001, and all of the independent variables were significant predictors of intention, with fairly even independent contributions from each (see Table 5.2).

		Adj R2	F	B *	β * *
Model 1		0.105	23.2***		
	Constant			3.157	
	Direct measure of attitude			-0.110	0.168***
	Social norm			0.007	0.217***
	Perceived behavioural control			-0.100	0.169***
* Upoton	derdiged regression coefficient				

Table 5.2: Linear regression for intention to quit smoking at baseline (n=568)

* Unstandardised regression coefficient
 ** Standardised regression coefficient

*** p<0.001.

Second, attitudes and their components were examined. The modal (eight mostmentioned) salient beliefs about quitting smoking are presented in Table 5.3, together with the associations between these salient beliefs and the direct measure of attitude towards quitting. Having more money (62.0%); better health and/or fitness (59.3%); and being less likely to get sick or die (32.5%) were the three most prevalent salient beliefs about quitting smoking. Smokers holding each of these three beliefs had more favourable mean (direct measure) attitudes towards quitting.

Table 5.3 shows that smokers whose more specific salient beliefs about quitting included: having better health (F(2,568)=6.24; p<0.01); and/or being less likely to get sick or die (F(2,568)=4.35; p<0.05); and/or kids/family would like it (F(2,568)=5.24; p<0.01); and/or "I won't smell" (F(2,568)=3.91; p<0.05); also had significantly higher mean intentions to quit at baseline, than smokers for whom those beliefs were not salient. Such a difference was not observed for salient beliefs about having more money, finding it easier when going out, or improved sense of taste.

Salient beliefs	N=586	Mean direct attitude towards quitting (1=extremely good)	One-way ANOVA (F; p)	Mean intention to quit (5=definitely will not be smoking)	One-way ANOVA (F; p)
1. More money					
% Yes	62.0%	1.88	3.52	2.91	2.22
% No	38.0%	2.25	p<0.05	2.76	NSD
2. Better health and/or increased fitness					
% Yes	59.3%	1.82	5.45	2.98	6.24
% No	40.7%	2.30	p<0.01	2.66	p<0.01
3. Less likely to get sick or die					-
% Yes	32.5%	1.75	3.62	3.03	4.35
% No	67.5%	2.14	p<0.01	2.77	p<0.05
4. Weight gain			•		•
% Yes	12.3%	1.83	1.11	2.97	1.62
% No	87.7%	2.04	NSD	2.84	NSD
5. Kids / family would like it					
% Yes	11.4%	1.90	0.87	3.25	5.24
% No	88.6%	2.03	NSD	2.80	p<0.01
6. I won't smell					
% Yes	11.6%	1.75	1.62	3.21	3.91
% No	88.4%	2.05	NSD	2.80	p<0.05
7. Easier when going out					
% Yes	7.7%	1.76	1.20	3.02	1.72
% No	92.3%	2.04	NSD	2.84	NSD
8. Improved taste					
% Yes	7.2%	2.00	0.90	3.20	2.32
% No	92.8%	2.02	NSD	2.82	NSD

Table 5.3: Salient beliefs about the good and bad things about quitting smoking completely, at baseline

Table 5.2 demonstrated the overarching relationship between a favourable general attitude towards quitting and intention to quit. Table 5.3 demonstrates that when smokers' specific, unprompted, top-of-mind beliefs about quitting relate to health benefits of quitting (or eliminating health costs of smoking), their general attitudes towards quitting are more favourable and quitting intentions are higher. These data affirm the relevance of beliefs about health consequences as a factor in predicting smokers' intentions.

Table 5.4 presents the baseline GHW beliefs (b_i), GHW outcome evaluations (e_i) and GHW belief-evaluation products (or GHW attitude components) ($b_i e_i$) relating to the

smoking-related consequences depicted on the new graphic cigarette packet warnings. The first four listed belief items relate to the pack warnings about to be released at the time of the survey, and it is noteworthy that the belief strength of these tended to be lower than the others which had either already been featured on packs or which had been given a lower priority for introduction.

			Mean (SD)	Correlation with attitude	Correlation with intention
Attitudes – GHW attitude components	Outcome (e _i) mean(SD)	Belief (<i>b_i</i>) mean(SD)			
Peripheral vascular disease (or gangrene); n=580	4.54 (0.97)	2.71 (1.20)	12.48 (6.30)	038	.142**
Emphysema; n=581	4.52 (0.92)	3.40 (1.22)	15.63 (6.68)	162***	.165***
Clogged arteries; n=581	4.39 (1.00)	3.37 (1.25)	15.22 (6.94)	125**	.177***
Children you know got sick from breathing in your smoke; n=579	4.72 (0.82)	2.64 (1.55)	12.73 (7.97)	062	.070
Lung cancer; n=581	4.65 (0.87)	3.41 (1.24)	16.20 (6.75)	141**	.144**
Heart disease; n=581	4.48 (0.97)	3.36 (1.28)	15.51 (7.03)	171***	.148***
Stroke; n=581	4.60 (0.90)	3.27 (1.24)	15.42 (6.76)	130***	.157***
Blindness or irreversible eye damage; n=581	4.62 (0.88)	2.93 (1.28)	13.80 (6.69)	089*	.138**
Addicted to smoking; n=581	3.87 (1.46)	4.12 (1.37)	16.13 (8.42)	113**	.104*
Harm unborn baby if you continued to smoke during pregnancy ;n=185	4.76 (0.79)	3.37 (1.60)	16.37 (8.27)	.069	.244**
Direct measure of attitude to quitting				1.000	212***
(1=extremely good; 7=extremely bad); n=587			(1.84)		
Perceived norm Proportion of people who want you to quit smoking completely (0-100%); n=584					.222**
Perceived behavioural control					
How easy or difficult for you to quit smoking if you wanted to (1=extremely easy; 7=extremely difficult); n=587			4.86 (2.04)		159**
Intention					
A year from now, how likely to be still smoking (1=definitely; 5=definitely not); n=571			2.85 (1.20)		1.000

Table 5.4: Cigarette packet warnings related beliefs, outcome evaluations (*e_i*) and belief strength (*b_i*) products

*** Correlation is significant at the 0.001 level (2-tailed).
 ** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 5.4 also shows the relationship between the GHW attitude components ($b_i e_i$), and general attitudes towards quitting and intentions to quit. All but one of the attitude components ($b_i e_i$) correlated with intentions to quit at baseline. Table 3 demonstrated the importance of beliefs about smoking-related health consequences, generally, as a factor in predicting smokers' intentions. These data indicate that the specific health consequences depicted in the graphic health warnings, are also relevant to quitting intentions.

Follow-up Survey

Smoking behaviour at follow-up

At follow-up, six months later, 19.5% of participants had quit smoking.

One-way ANOVA using the paired sample (n=152), revealed a significantly higher mean baseline intention to quit ($F_{(1,150)}=11.52$; p=0.01) among those that went on to quit at follow-up (3.53; SD=0.98) than among those who were still smoking at the time of the follow-up (2.73; SD=1.23). None of the variables: direct measure of attitude; perceived social norm; or perceived behavioural control, differed significantly, at baseline, between those who went on to quit and those who were still smoking at follow-up, which is not inconsistent with the reasoned action model's predictions, which emphasizes the mediating effect of behavioural intention.

Behavioural beliefs, outcomes evaluations and salient beliefs at follow-up

Figure 5.2 presents the mean values of GHW beliefs (b_i), and GHW outcome evaluations (e_i) among respondents who smoked at baseline and follow-up (n=126). For example, the mean outcome evaluation about getting peripheral vascular disease (or gangrene) increased significantly from 4.44 at baseline to 4.68 at follow-up, (t=-2.14; df=124; p<0.05). Statistically significant increases were observed 3 out of the 4 mean GHW outcome evaluation scores (e_i) about seriousness for smoking-related health consequences but mean GHW belief scores (b_i), about perceived likelihood remained unchanged. The frequency of salient beliefs about the health benefits of quitting smoking did not show statistically significant change between baseline and follow-up, among those who continued to smoke (n=126). At baseline, 51.6% of this group cited improved health and/or fitness as a salient belief about quitting smoking, compared to 58.7% at follow-up (chi-square=1.3; df=1; p=0.25) and 26.0% cited being less likely to get sick or die at both time points. Kids or family would like it was cited by 14.3% at baseline and 23.0% at follow-up (chi-square=3.17; df=1; p=0.07). More money was cited by 62.7% at baseline and 51.6% follow-up (chi-square=3.18; df=1; p=0.07).



Figure 5.2: Mean outcome evaluation and mean beliefs at baseline and follow-up, among smokers

DISCUSSION

The baseline study was conducted six months prior to the legislated date of introduction of the first phase of Australia's new graphic cigarette packet warnings. Because of the delay in the appearance of new packs in stores the baseline survey was conducted nearly a full year before packs with new warnings were prevalent in stores. The followup survey was conducted six months after the legislated date for introduction, as packs with new warnings were becoming prevalent in stores and when most smokers intercepted in city streets had new packs or had bought at least one pack with new warnings.[137] In other words, at the time of the follow-up, the new cigarette packet warnings were in the market but still relatively new. This is a limitation of this study, as is the fact that smokers were not asked explicitly about their personal exposure to the new graphic health warnings.

Although the total amount of variance in quitting intention explained by the regression model was modest, smokers' baseline attitudes towards quitting smoking, proved to be good predictors of intentions to quit smoking, consistent with the reasoned action approach (TRA and TPB). Regression modeling also confirmed the independent influence of attitudes towards quitting, social norms and perceived control on intentions to quit at baseline. The more positive the smokers' attitude was towards quitting; the higher the proportion of the smokers' referent groups who they perceived wanted them to quit smoking completely; and the easier smokers thought it would be to quit smoking, the less likely they were to expect to be smoking in a year.

Nearly one in five of the participants quit smoking between the baseline and the followup surveys and consistent with the reasoned action approach, those with stronger intentions to quit smoking at baseline were more likely to go on to quit smoking at follow-up than other smokers. Taken together, these findings affirm the relevance of Fishbein and Ajzen's model,[1] in predicting quitting intentions and behaviour, generally, and the importance of smokers' attitudes in predicting quitting, via the mediator of intentions.

The reasoned action approach submits that salient beliefs are the determinants of attitudes. Health consequences of smoking were at the forefront of smokers' minds, forming two of the three most prevalent salient beliefs about quitting smoking. Two social benefits of quitting were also in the top seven most prevalent salient beliefs. Consistent with the model, these salient beliefs were related to the direct measure of attitude towards quitting and intentions to quit. Other salient beliefs, not related to health effects or social pressure did not show the same relationship with quitting, further indicating the potential of beliefs about health and social effects to influence quitting intentions, which in turn influence smoking behaviour.

There is evidence that information about the specific consequences of smoking presented on Australian cigarette packets has the opportunity to influence beliefs, attitudes and intentions to quit smoking. All but one of the individual GHW attitude components (belief x evaluation: $b_i e_i$) correlated with intention to quit smoking.

At baseline, prior to the implementation of the new graphic health warnings on Australian cigarette packets, smokers' (outcome) evaluations (e_i) about pack-warnings related health consequences of smoking were already very high. Mean scores for 9 of the 10 beliefs measured were in excess of 4 out of a possible 5, with 5 being "one of the worst things that could happen". Smokers' beliefs (b_i) about the likelihood of experiencing those same health consequences were somewhat lower, ranging from 2.64 (with 5 being certain to happen) for "children you know get sick from breathing in your smoke" to 4.12 for "addicted to smoking". Despite a very high baseline, the follow-up survey of continuing smokers demonstrated significant increases in three out of four pack-warnings related outcome evaluations but beliefs about likelihood were unchanged. In other words, smokers' evaluations of the severity of the health outcomes of smoking depicted on new cigarette pack warnings increased. Although their perceptions of the likelihood of experiencing those consequences were unchanged, only one of the belief or outcome scores needs to show change to influence attitude. Despite some evidence of positive trends, there were no significant changes in salient beliefs about quitting smoking among those who continued to smoke.

As with any research of this kind, our study has limitations including its sample size. A larger study may be able to establish more conclusively any influence of the new information in graphic cigarette packet warnings on smokers' specific health related beliefs, salient beliefs and attitudes towards quitting. Another limitation of this study is its inability to determine if the follow-up participants reflected a biased sample, with respect to quitting behaviour. We cannot determine whether those who were followed-up successfully had quit in higher numbers than those who were not successfully recontacted, nor can we assess the beliefs, attitudes or intentions of those who were not contacted.

This study applied a well-tried theory to predict and explain smoking related intentions and behaviour. The Theory of Reasoned Action is in large part an information processing model, in which new information can be expected to influence behaviour.

Notwithstanding the huge role of addiction in tobacco smoking, we have produced some evidence that reasoned action plays a part. Our study demonstrates that providing evidence to smokers in the form of graphic health packet warnings on cigarette packets can make a difference in the decision making around smoking. Interestingly, the effect appears to have been related to the perceived severity of the consequences (an affective response) rather than to the subjective probability of occurrence.

Ahead of many other countries, Australia and New Zealand have recognized tobacco as a different consumer product to others, one that requires special controls, commensurate with the harm it causes. Australia and New Zealand have progressively put controls in place to prevent the promotions of the supposed "benefits" of the product and to limit the means by which by which tobacco smoking is glamorized. They have prohibited tobacco advertising on television, on radio and at the cinema. Within the context of increasing marketing restrictions, the cigarette packet itself has become an increasingly important component of marketing strategy for the tobacco industry.[34] In Australia, restrictions have been expanded to include controls over advertising at point-of sale and controls over the displays of the packets themselves. The Australian Government is now preparing to introduce plain packaging,[157] which New Zealand health groups have called for, for some time.[158]

Meanwhile, attempts to warn consumers of the health costs of smoking have increased via social marketing campaigns. The warnings on cigarette packets have increased from small, low-profile text based warnings on the bottom of packets noting that "Smoking is a health hazard" to large graphic warnings depicting gangrenous feet and lung cancer. Reducing the promotion to consumers, and potential consumers, of the supposed "benefits" of tobacco use and increasing consumers' awareness of the true costs of smoking form essential, and according to our results, effective, components of a comprehensive suite of policy measures to control the harm caused by this deadly product.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

This chapter draws together the findings or implications from the series of studies conducted for this thesis. While it will not revisit the discussion contained within each of the four chapters, it will offer overarching comment about the original research questions. It will also assess the contribution that each of the sub-studies contained in this thesis has made. In the time since the studies contained in this thesis began in 2005, many more countries have introduced such warnings and the literature has expanded, which is discussed in another section below. Because the four papers (Chapters 2-5), encompassing six different studies, have been published in the international peer-reviewed literature during the course of this thesis, a substantial section of the findings and their implications have already been made widely available. A small subset of the findings included here has since been validated by published studies from other countries. This concluding chapter will also discuss the limitations of the work and comment on the directions for future research.

Summary of findings

This thesis examined a major public health policy intervention in Australia, the introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings. At the time of their introduction, Australia was among the first handful of countries to introduce such warnings; it was ahead of what was required under the international obligations of the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. These warnings constituted a major step forward from the text-based warnings that preceded them. The policy was introduced by the Australian Government despite heavy opposition from the tobacco industry which argued it the policy intervention would not 'work' and the mooting of legal challenges, as evidenced in Chapter 2.

The first research question was: 1). *How did the implementation of this policy occur in Australia; and Are there lessons of process to help policy makers in other countries?* Chapter 2 documented the roll out and monitored the political environment via what was reported in the media. The tobacco industry has a long history of opposing tobacco control legislative measures and this proved to be no exception. Political pressure from the tobacco industry was evident in Australia, the apparent outcome of which was a two

year delay in the implementation of graphic warnings from the date of introduction originally announced by the Australian government. Tobacco industry arguments were reported in the media, including a handful of articles reporting on internal Australian government documents (obtained using Freedom of Information provisions) which inferred that this lobbing had affected government decision making. The final government announcement about a delayed implementation cited tobacco industry arguments, further increasing the appearance that industry lobbying tactics had been effective in delaying the introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings in Australia. Australian legislation prescribed a date of production for new packs, rather than a date of sale, which created further opportunities for delays. It was noted in Chapter 2 that policy makers in other countries could prescribe a date for sale rather than a date for manufacture in order to avoid similar delays.

In the time since this work was completed an Indian study[159] has also documented apparent delays in introduction due to similar political pressure. A lesson from the implementation of the Australian legislation which influenced the introduction of warnings in New Zealand was that mandating a start date for production, as Australia did, rather than a start date for sale provided about 6 months extra delay until cigarette packets were distributed in stores and thereby delayed any impact of the intervention.

The literature used as a context for this thesis postulates that beliefs influence behaviour via attitudes and intentions. Therefore, beliefs about smoking are theoretically relevant important precursors to attitudes towards smoking and quitting, quitting intentions and quitting behaviour.

Chapters 2 and 3 addressed question 2). Were the new warnings successful in attracting the attention of smokers, and communicating information about smoking to change smokers' beliefs? The results from studies reported on in both these chapters indicate that graphic warnings did indeed attract attention, communicate information and change beliefs. The smoker intercept survey, conducted as soon as the packets with new warnings were common in stores (reported in Chapter 2), demonstrated that most smokers had been exposed to and were well aware of the new warnings. The findings of the major cross-sectional surveys reported in Chapter 3 showed that unprompted recall of new graphic cigarette warnings was high in the months following their introduction, further demonstrating that smokers had been exposed to them and had

noticed them. Cigarette packets were cited by smokers as a source of anti-smoking information much more frequently after graphic health warnings were introduced and they were second only to television as a source. Smokers also demonstrated an increase in awareness about smoking-related diseases specific to the warning messages. Warnings that conveyed new information and had emotive images demonstrated greater impact on recall and smokers' beliefs than more familiar information and less emotive images. The policy-relevant implications are that fresh messaging and visceral images have the greatest impact.

The fact that graphic health warnings attract smoker attention is now well established in the international literature. The International Tobacco Control policy evaluation project (ITC Project), which has run concurrent to this thesis and is discussed in greater detail in the next section, has demonstrated well the differential impact of graphic versus text style warnings in attracting attention and changing smoker awareness around outcomes of smoking.[82] A major review of the peer-reviewed and "gray" literature including government commissioned studies has reinforced that graphic health warnings are more likely than text only warnings to be noticed and read, are associated with stronger beliefs about the health consequences of smoking and increased motivation to quit.[160]

The ITC Project has also observed that warnings are second only to television as a source of information about the risks of smoking, across many countries.[150] The ITC Project studies focuses on warning styles at a macro level, between countries and across time. The studies contributing to this thesis were distinct in that they looked at the impact of Australia's graphic health warnings as a whole, but also looked at individual warnings and demonstrated that some warnings were more successful than others.

By way of an aside, New Zealand researchers have since attempted to monitor the distribution of different warnings on cigarette packets in that country. They published a study which showed some evidence of uneven distribution of different warnings, concluding that tobacco companies may be printing different proportions of warnings according to beliefs about their effectiveness as tools for tobacco control.[153]

This thesis then asked the questions: 3). Did the new warnings lead to any attitude or other changes in smokers, predictive of future quitting? and furthermore, 4). Did the new warnings lead to change in behaviour?

Chapter 5 looked at questions 3 and 4 in detail with a cohort of smokers, interviewed before and after the implementation of the graphic cigarette packet warnings.

The study reported in Chapter 5 found that Fishbein and Ajzen's theoretical model (see Figure 1.1; page 30) worked in this context, in that (i) attitudes, (ii) social norms and (iii) perceived control predicted intentions to quit smoking. A substantial proportion of participants in the cohort study (19%) quit smoking, and consistent with the model, intentions to quit smoking predicted actual cessation.

The model predicts that salient beliefs influence behaviour via the pre-cursers of attitude change and behavioural intentions. Again, this study affirmed the applicability of the model, demonstrating that salient health-related beliefs about smoking correlated with both attitudes and intentions to quit smoking.

The largest contribution that the cohort study makes to this thesis is by demonstrating the mechanism by which - *i.e. how* - graphic health warnings in cigarette packets work, to influence quitting intentions and quitting behaviour. It produced strong evidence *at baseline* that smoking related health beliefs, relevant to graphic health warnings, correlated to mediating variables which are the precursors of behaviour change. The study also observed considerable change in smoking behaviour, predicted by those same mediating variables, affirming the predictive validity of the theoretical model, and the *potential* for graphic health warnings to induce behaviour change via mediating variables including salient beliefs.

However the prospective cohort study sample was small and it only observed modest changes in those same smoking-related health beliefs over time. Therefore the cohort study only produced modest evidence of change in beliefs, attributable to graphic health warnings. Among that modest pool of evidence was good evidence of change in smokers' perceptions about the severity of the consequences of smoking, specifically relevant to individual health effects presented in warnings on cigarette packets. This belief change reflects an affective reaction to the warnings, and suggests that those warnings have made the effects of smoking more "real" for smokers.

Within the broader context of the thesis, the findings reported in Chapter 5 demonstrating *why* changes in beliefs were important and *how* graphic warnings would work and if they influenced beliefs, reinforce the significance of the findings reported in Chapter 3. Chapter 3 demonstrates that wide-scale changes to beliefs *did occur*, at a population level, and those belief changes are specific to graphic health warnings. Taken together, the results reported in Chapter 5 and Chapter 3 demonstrate that graphic health warnings influence smokers' beliefs with direct implications for quitting intentions and behaviour.

Chapter 4 also demonstrated very clear change in behaviour closely related to quitting; finding that calls to Australia's Quitline increased markedly in the year after the warnings were introduced. This finding was consistent with effects observed when the Dutch Quitline number was put on their (text-based) pack warnings. A more modest effect was subsequently observed in New Zealand. Regression modelling accounting for televised anti-smoking commercials, a proven predictor of call to the Quitline and quitting behaviour, found a doubling of calls to the Australian Quitline in the year the new warnings were introduced. Demand for the Quitline service tapered back the next year but remained substantially higher than before the warnings were introduced. It was also consistent with the findings about recall of the Quitline number from the population monitoring study presented in Chapter 3.

Limitations

This thesis set out to evaluate a major public health policy initiative and social marketing intervention, as it happened, in real time. The intervention under investigation was essentially a natural experiment and therefore well beyond the control of a PhD candidate. This presented a number of major challenges between research conception, design, implementation and interpretation. The greatest difficulty was that of timing. The Australian Government first announced its intention in September 2003, to introduce graphic health warnings on cigarette packets in 2004. Apparently in response to heavy lobbying by the tobacco industry, the Australian Government then revised its plans and re-announced, in June 2004, its intention to introduce graphic

health warnings on cigarette packets, with legislation to take effect from March 2006, some two years later.

Meanwhile, health groups developed a mass-media campaign linked directly to the messages on graphic cigarette packets which was planned to launch some months after March 2006. In fact the launches of the components of the campaign (see Chapter 2 - scheduled May 2006 and late July 2006) were originally planned with a view to reinvigorate the impact of the warnings on packets which were expected to have been prevalent in the market place for some time. In reality, the separate elements of the intervention (the graphic health warnings on packets and the mass-media campaigns) were compressed into one because the legislative detail included no requirement to have packs in store by any set date, and the roll-out of packs into stores was quite slow (see chapter 2).

Several studies were impacted. The Quitline study (reported in Chapter 4) was originally intended to demonstrate the independent impact of new graphic health warnings on packets and mass media campaigns on calls to the Quitline. This was going to be possible because a lag was anticipated between the onset of warnings and the onset of campaigns and a dummy variable marking time would have been used in regression modelling. Instead Chapter 4 reports the simultaneous combined impact of the pack warnings and mass-media on calls to the Quitline. The regression modelling was used to delineate the independent effect, without a dummy variable for time.

The smoker intercept study (reported in Chapter 2) was originally conceived of going into the field in late March 2006, but was delayed, month on month, until the retail monitoring study (also reported in Chapter 2) produced results, which indicated we could be reasonably confident that most smokers would have had the chance to be exposed to the new warnings and their initial reactions could be gauged. This study went into the field in July 2006, in the middle of Australia's winter, when it was more time consuming and difficult to recruit smokers on the street.

The cohort study (reported in Chapter 5) was originally designed with additional scope. The study was designed with two arms; to assess i) the independent impact of the graphic health warnings on cigarette packets, and ii) the mass-media campaigns. One arm of the cohort study was to be recontacted in April 2006 (between March when the

warnings were introduced and May when the first campaign was launched). The other arm of the study was to be recontacted after the mass-media campaigns went to air. This study had to be substantially redesigned into the final form presented in Chapter 5.

Another limitation of this thesis studying a real-life intervention was noise. Any policy measure happens in a noisy, busy environment. Graphic health warnings were introduced then delayed. There was considerable media debate, there were messages from health groups and from industry, and the airtime devoted to the topic coverage waxed and waned. The challenges of evaluating a changing intervention in a noisy environment meant that the control that a researcher has is greatly reduced. Studies needed to be designed and sometimes redesigned. Sometimes data were collected and discarded (e.g. for the original cohort study) because they no longer offered any value. The approach to this suite of research projects needed to be and was pragmatic. The fluctuating media coverage was turned into an opportunity for a monitoring study (included in Chapter 2), and another way to respond to the first research question: *What occurred during the introduction and implementation of graphic consumer warnings labels on Australian cigarette packets?*

Recruitment to studies, sample size, response rates and in particular retention, are a challenge for all research, particularly in real-life rather than lab-based settings. The studies in this thesis were no exception. Elements of data collection were outsourced, notably the population monitoring studies (presented in Chapter 3) and cohort study (presented in Chapter 5, meaning that they were essentially beyond the control of the researcher (PhD candidate). The population monitoring study was part of a larger Health Omnibus Survey commissioned by the South Australian State Government and contracted to a health and market research company. The survey series has been running for is over 20 years, is conducted face-to-face and is a major undertaking. Response rates have varied from year to year, and in 2008, one of the years used in this thesis, the response rate was markedly lower. While this was beyond the control of the researcher, steps were taken to check for biases within the sample that was achieved.

Changes to design brought about in response to changes in the intervention as well as external recruitment resulted in a smaller than originally planned sample for the cohort study (reported in Chapter 5). Because the sample size at follow-up was modest, the

study was limited in its power, or its ability to detect real changes, if they were present. This was a major limitation for this study's follow-up component.

Despite its limitations, the studies in this thesis answered all four of the research questions posed. Three of the four research questions posed in this thesis, asked whether the new warnings lead to changes in quitting behaviour and its pre-cursers. The cumulative finding from this thesis is that they did. The demonstration in this thesis, of changes to precursors of behaviour, notably beliefs, was stronger than demonstration of actual behaviour change. However, the case is even more compelling if taken within the context of the literature published since this thesis started, discussed in the next major section below.

Evidence of the impact of cigarette pack warnings since 2006

In the time since Australia introduced graphic cigarette packet warnings, a further 39 countries have adopted them or stated their intention to do so. Despite this, few additional jurisdictions have published data demonstrating the impact of those warnings in the peer-reviewed literature. The International Tobacco Control (ITC Project) policy evaluation project is the most notable exception. The project has published crosscountry findings about the impact of warning style (i.e. graphic vs. text; comparing Canada, USA, UK and Australia; across 5 waves from 2002 to 2006). In 2007, they reported data up to 2005 that showed that large, comprehensive warnings such as those on Canadian cigarette packages were more likely to be noticed and rated as effective by smokers.[89] In 2009, they reported that pack warning style influenced: salience (operationalised as reading and noticing pack warnings); cognitive responses (thoughts of harm and quitting); and the behavioural responses of forgoing cigarettes and avoiding the warnings. They reported that all four indicators of impact increased markedly among Australian smokers following the introduction of graphic warnings.[127] They also reported that the Australian warnings stimulated more cognitive responses than newly introduced UK (text-only) warnings.[127] In addition, the same project published findings from 2002–2006 across the same four countries, noting that forgoing cigarettes as a result of noticing warnings and quit-related cognitive reactions to warnings were consistent prospective predictors of making quit
attempts.[125] Great strengths of the ITC Project and the studies that it produces are the project's longitudinal and multi-country design. The project allows ecological study of tobacco control policy interventions with real time controls in other countries, as well as trends over time within countries. The study findings are at a macro country level and the findings from within this thesis are complementary and more detailed.

Neither the ITC Project studies cited, nor this thesis examined adolescents' reactions. A study of nearly 2500 Australian adolescent school students, [126] conducted prior to and approximately 6 months after the introduction of Australian graphic health warnings, found that the majority (72%) of students had seen warnings at baseline (which were then older text based style warnings) and three-quarters (77%) had seen warnings at follow-up (the majority of which (88%) had seen new graphic warnings). At follow-up, students had read, attended to, and talked about warning labels more frequently than at baseline. As well as smoking students, a large proportion of susceptible non-smokers had seen them too. These authors' findings demonstrate some cut-through with Australian adolescents, reinforcing the findings from this thesis that the new warnings were successful in gaining attention. This study also noted among smoking students a decline in the positive image of cigarettes; a finding similar to that observed and reported in Chapter 2 of this thesis, where 60% of smokers reported that the new warnings detracted from the look of their brand. The authors concluded that the introduction of graphic warning labels may help to reduce smoking among adolescents, predominantly through their influence on beliefs.

An experimental study of adolescents in Canada, manipulated graphic warnings into gain-framed and loss-framed messages and assessed their impact on attitudes and behavioural intentions.[161] Authors of the Canadian study found that loss-framed tobacco warning labels appeared to be more effective in influencing adolescents' smoking-related attitudes and behavioural intentions. However, the study was very small in size and scope limiting the conclusions that can be drawn from the findings. Reports commissioned by the Canadian Government A second experimental study with more limited implications, looked at male Greek adolescents' reactions to European Union (EU) text-based warnings and EU recommended graphic warnings.[162] The authors reported that non-smoking adolescents rated the graphic warnings labels as likely to be more effective in preventing them from smoking than the existing EU text-

only warnings. The peer-reviewed literature on the impact that graphic health warnings has actually had on adolescents is still limited, creating opportunities for further research. A recent major review of the literature demonstrated that there is good evidence of effectiveness with youth, when the peer-reviewed findings literature is complied with government commissioned studies, most notably from Canada.[160] The same review has examined the evidence about warnings impact in initiation, concluding that there was not sufficient evidence to quantify impact but that health warnings discouraged initiation of smoking.

In 2008, two years after their introduction, the Australian Government commissioned and published online an evaluation of the Australian graphic health warnings.[154] The evaluation methodology included a series of focus groups and a telephone survey of 670 adult smokers and 120 recent quitters, selected using random digit dialling and quota sampling. This commissioned evaluation found that in 2008, most smokers (86%) had observed new graphic warnings. This was the same proportion that was observed in this thesis to have noticed new warnings (very) often in 2006, in the representative population survey reported in Chapter 3 of this thesis. In the government commissioned evaluation, those warnings with highest unaided recall were "smoking harms unborn babies" (43% among smokers and 48% among recent quitters) and "smoking causes lung cancer" (34% among smokers and 38% among recent quitters) and "smoking causes peripheral vascular disease: (34% and 26%), with aided recall being far higher. In Chapter 3 this thesis reports similar findings from the population surveys. In their year of introduction, highest recall was among smokers observed for smoking causes lung cancer (48%), smoking causes peripheral vascular disease (40%), smoking causes mouth and throat cancer (32%), smoking harms unborn babies (31%) and smoking causes heart disease (31%). The same commissioned evaluation measured prompted recall of warnings; a measure not undertaken in the studies on this thesis. Smoking causes lung cancer was again the most recalled warning (with prompting), cited by 94% of smokers, and followed by smoking harms unborn babies (90%). No warnings' level of prompted recall fell below 60%.

Rates of unaided recall were higher in the results reported in this thesis, than in the later commissioned evaluation, but the warnings which were found to have performed strongly in the studies in this thesis, were also the ones that had higher recall relative to

other warnings, in the Australian government commissioned evaluation. The substantial body of peer-reviewed and gray literature now published reinforces the finding that graphic depictions of the health consequences of smoking, generating "negative" emotional reactions such as fear, are more effective warnings.[160] Similarly, evidence from population based surveys reinforces that positive-framed health warnings consistently perform less well.[160]

The Australian government commissioned evaluation reported high public support for the graphic health warnings and very high levels of "believability" (92% of smokers and 97% of recent quitters) and sound perceived effectiveness in terms of communicating health information (63% smokers and 74% recent quitters). Furthermore, 28% of smokers and 30% of recent quitters reported that when they saw the health warnings on packs, they thought "I should stop/quit". Again, these findings reinforce the findings of this thesis. For example in Chapter 2, results from the small smoker intercept survey included 38% of smokers feeling motivated by the new warnings to quit, as part of their initial reactions.

The authors of the commissioned evaluation recorded an increase in familiarity with and use of the Australian Quitline which they attributed to the inclusion of the Quitline number prominently on graphic cigarette pack warnings.[154] In parallel, a New Zealand study[155] observed an increase in new registrations with their Quitline attributed to newly introduced graphic health warnings on cigarette packets in that country. These findings are reinforcing of, but less compelling than the doubling of actual calls to the Australian Quitline reported in Chapter 2.

The Australian and Canadian governments have both reported on qualitative feedback from smokers that would strengthen the existing warnings in those two countries. The Australian government commissioned report described qualitative feedback from smokers which suggested potential improvements to the Australian graphic health warnings, which were then two years old.[154] This feedback included smokers noting that the front-of-pack warnings were too small (taking up 30% of the pack), and the larger (90% of pack) back-of-pack warnings were more noticeable, with greater impact. Research conducted by the Canadian Government (also in 2008 and published online) with adults[163] and adolescents[164] also reported consumer feedback that the Canadian warnings (taking up 50% of the pack face) still allowed cigarette brand

imagery to dominate. They reported feedback that larger (90%) warnings would be more effective in communicating the risks of smoking, in connecting with consumers emotionally and persuading them to stay away from smoking. Qualitative feedback from Australian smokers[154] also noted that the use of white text on a red background on the back of the Australian packs, created a sense of danger thereby contributing to impact. Also noted by some, was that there was too much text on the back of the packs making them too cluttered. Others demonstrated that they had read and thought about the text and that the detail in the text added credibility. These responses are consistent with high vs. low cognitive elaboration or information processing discussed earlier, and emphasise the importance of ensuring graphic warnings are conducive to message acceptance in both cases.

A small amount of work has been published in the peer-reviewed literature on the implementation or roll-out of graphic cigarette packet warnings, and in particular the activity of the tobacco industry. An Indian study mentioned earlier reported that the introduction of graphic tobacco warnings had been repeatedly postponed in that country, and then watered down apparently due to political pressure exerted by the tobacco industry.[159] Also mentioned above, a New Zealand study,[153] measured industry compliance with the requirement to distribute different graphic warnings evenly among all cigarette packs produced (as opposed to printing more of some potentially weaker warnings and less of others). They used the proxy sample of discarded packs on city streets. They observed that those packs classified *a priori* to be weaker were indeed more common than stronger or "more disturbing" warnings, and concluded that the results were indicative that tobacco companies were not following the regulations.

The work that has been published in the time since this thesis was designed and while it was being conducted is largely complementary. The International Tobacco Control Policy Evaluation Project continues to demonstrate at a macro level, that graphic health warnings on cigarette packets influence smoking related cognitions, intentions and to some extent behaviours. This thesis, delved more deeply into the theories that underpin the measurement of smoking-related cognitions including Fishbein and Ajzen's reasoned action approach. In Chapter 6, validity of that well-tested model was confirmed in the context of this intervention, showing that smoking related beliefs

influence attitudes, attitudes predict intentions, and intentions predict behaviour. The ITC Project publications have focussed on different countries' cigarette packet warnings as a whole or as a set, and this thesis looked at the impact of the warnings as a whole and also at individual warnings. This thesis found that, consistent with the literature outlined in Chapter 1, serious, emotive, negative-framed messages had greatest impact and statistic-based, less tangible, or positively framed messages had less impact in general.

Future Directions

In terms of future directions, while the combined literature on graphic pack warnings, including this thesis, comes from a limited number of countries, the case for their effectiveness is well made. In terms of their consolidation as a policy initiative, the FCTC has now published its guideline recommending graphic warnings, giving them greater status for signatories to that WHO global health treaty.

There are some areas touched on in this thesis which warrant further investigation. The actual impact of graphic health warnings on young smokers or people at risk of smoking is an area with potential for further research in addition to that already published.[126] This thesis showed some evidence that smokers thought that graphic health warnings in cigarette packets impacted negatively on the look of their brand of cigarettes (reported in Chapter 2). The Canadian Government has published compelling qualitative research demonstrating that smokers believe that branding still dominates the packet.[163, 164]

Plain packaging is the new frontier in the packaging and labelling of cigarette products to protect consumers. At the time of writing the Australian Government had announced its intention to introduce plain packaging (including larger graphic cigarette warnings), making it the world leader. There is still benefit for countries yet to introduce graphic cigarette packet warnings, in publishing subsequent evaluations, and there is work to be done to encourage governments to rotate warnings and use the most effective ones. However, the efforts for future research in the area of cigarette packaging and labelling would now yield best marginal returns in the field of plain packaging, instead of in the

field of graphic warnings on branded cigarette packets. This is where Australian tobacco control research effort would be best placed.

Concluding remarks

Taken as a whole, the studies presented in this thesis provide a case study of the roll-out of Australian graphic cigarette packet warning labels and evidence of their impact on smokers. Information presented here from the Australian roll-out offers insight for policy makers in other countries. The studies provide very strong evidence that the new warnings labels were successful in attracting the attention of smokers and in communicating to smokers, information that influenced their beliefs about the consequences of smoking. The studies also provided good evidence of translation into interest in quitting and some evidence of quitting behaviour, the ultimate aim of the public policy intervention.

This thesis emphasised and demonstrated that there is an important role for theory in public policy interventions, which include a component of persuasive communication i.e. social marketing interventions. Theory provided a lot of relevant insights about how people process information, and elements of messages which make them more or less likely to be persuasive. Different graphic health warnings on Australian cigarette packets had different impacts. In general, these differences were as theory would predict. This generates a lesson for public health advocates and policy makers in Australia, namely that this evidence base about persuasive messaging should be used consciously in the development of new phases of warnings and when new warnings are developed they should be tested to ensure that they meet the necessary conditions of attracting attention, and engaging smokers in ways that maximise the changes of beliefs and attitude and motivate behaviour change.

Tobacco control has a long history of employing theory and evidence in developing interventions. The need for this culture of evidence-informed practice is driven, in part, by the need to make compelling cases to government in the face of opposition from a powerful tobacco industry, and the need for persuasive communications to the community asking them to change a behaviour which is well entrenched, and involves consuming an a addictive substance. However, this discipline has served tobacco

control efforts well and tobacco control is arguably one of the great success stories of health promotion and public health.

The implications of this call for evidence-informed practice and evidence to support policy change go well beyond tobacco control. For example, excess alcohol consumption and obesity are emerging areas of significance in cancer control and public health, requiring a mix of public policy interventions and individual behaviour change. Policy makers will need to be persuaded with evidence of harm and evidence that making a political and/or financial investment in different interventions will be effective in reducing that harm. The community will need to be persuaded to accept public policy changes and to change beliefs, attitudes, social norms and entrenched behaviours. Industry groups with profits at stake will inevitably work very hard to protect their interests and counter public health initiatives. The same bodies of theoretical and empirical literature about persuasive and effective communication, and the culture of evidence in practice will empower social marketing efforts to overcome these emerging public health monsters.

Bibliography

- 1. Fishbein, M. and I. Ajzen, *Predicting and Changing Behavior*. 2010, New York: Taylor & Francis Group.
- 2. Doll, R., *Tobacco: A medical history*. Journal of Urban Health, 1999. **76**(3): p. 289-313.
- 3. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, *Australia's Health 2008. Cat. no. AUS 99.* . 2009, AIHW: Canberra.
- 4. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare & Australasian Association of Cancer Registries, *Cancer in Australia 1997: Incidence and Mortality Data for 1997 and Selected Data for 1998 and 1999.* 2000, AIHW & AACR: Canberra.
- 5. Doll, R. and R. Peto, *The causes of cancer*. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 1981. **66**: p. 1191–308.
- 6. Begg S, et al., *The burden of disease and injury in Australia 2003. PHE 82.* 2007, Australian Institute for Health and Welfare: Canberra.
- 7. Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Local Government., *Road deaths Australia: 2008 Statistical summary.* 2009, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra.
- 8. Australian Bureau of Statistics, *Drug Induced Deaths, Australia, 1991-2001 3321.0.55.001.* 2003, ABS Canberra.
- 9. US Department of Health and Human Services, *The Health Consequences of Smoking: A Report of the Surgeon General*, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, Editor. 2004: Atlanta, Georgia.
- 10. Scollo, M.M. and M.H. Winstanley, eds. *Tobacco in Australia: Facts and Issues*. Third ed. 2008, Cancer Council Victoria: Melbourne.
- 11. Tan, N., M. Wakefield, and J. Freeman, *Changes associated with the National Tobacco Campaign: results of the second follow-up survey, in Australia's National Tobacco Campaign, in Evaluation Report Volume Two K.* Hassard, Editor. 2000, Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care: Canberra.
- 12. Collins, D. and H. Lapsley, *The costs of tobacco, alcohol and illicit drug abuse to Australian society in 2004/05. P3 2625. 2008*, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra.
- 13. Doll, R., et al., *Mortality in relation to smoking: 50 years' observations on male British doctors.* BMJ 2004. **328**: p. 1519.
- 14. Ministerial Council on Drug Strategy, *National Tobacco Strategy*, 2004–2009. 2005, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra.
- 15. Parkin, M., *Microeconomics*. 1990, Sydney: Addison-Wesley.
- 16. Weinstein, N., et al., *Public understanding of the illnesses caused by smoking*. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2004. **6**(2): p. 349-55.
- 17. Weinstein, N., S. Marcus, and R. Moser, *Smokers' unrealistic optimism about their risk* Tobacco Control, 2005. **14**: p. 55-59.
- 18. Waxman, H.A., *Tobacco industry statements in the US Department of Justice lawsuit*. Tobacco Control, 2003 **12**: p. 94-101.

- 19. Chapman, S. and S. Carter, "Avoid health warnings on all tobacco products for just as long as we can": a history of Australian tobacco industry efforts to avoid, delay and dilute health warnings on cigarettes. Tobacco Control 2003. **12** (suppl III): p. iii13-22.
- 20. US Department of Health and Human Services, *Reducing Tobacco Use: A Report of the Surgeon General.* 2000, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health.: Atlanta, Georgia.
- 21. Jamrozik, K. and M. Le, *Tobacco's uncounted victims*. Med J Aust, 2001. **174**(10): p. 490-1.
- 22. Harper, T., *Marketing life after advertising bans*. Tobacco Control. **10**: p. 196-198.
- 23. Cummings, K., et al., *Marketing to America's youth: evidence from corporate documents.* Tobacco Control, 2002. **11**(Supp 1): p. i5-i17.
- 24. Yach, D. and D. Bettcher, *Globalisation of tobacco industry influence and new global responses*. Tobacco Control, 2000. **9**: p. 206-216.
- 25. World Health Organisation, *WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control*. 2003, World Health Organisation: Geneva.
- 26. World Health Organization Tobacco Free Initiative, *Building Blocks for Tobacco Control: A Handbook*. 2004: Geneva.
- 27. World Health Organization. *WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control*. 2010 [cited 14 December 2010]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/fctc/en/</u>.
- 28. British American Tobacco Australasia, *The challenge of change [CD ROM for internal company use]*, B.A.T. Australasia, Editor. 2001, British American Tobacco Australasia: Sydney.
- 29. Tobacco Advertising Prohibition Act (Cwth) (1992)
- 30. Carter, S., *New frontier, new power: the retail environment in Australia's dark market.* Tobacco Control, 2003. **12**(Suppl 3): p. iii95-101.
- Philip Morris. [Presentation notes-slides 1-73 Australian retail market: notes for a NY Marketing Meeting]. 1992 [cited; Available from: <u>http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/dii29e00</u>.
- 32. Tobacco Products Regulation Act (SA) (1997).
- Government of South Australia. News Release: HELPING SMOKERS TO QUIT AND STAY QUIT. 2 March 2011 [cited 10 April 2011]; Available from: http://www.premier.sa.gov.au/images/stories/mediareleasesMAR11/smoking.pdf.
- 34. Wakefield, M., et al., *The cigarette pack as image: new evidence from tobacco industry documents.* Tobacco Control 2002. **11(Suppl 1)**: p. i73-i80.
- 35. Noble, T., Cigarette warnings to use images of disease, in Sydney Morning Herald. 2003.
- 36. Department of Health and Ageing. *Tobacco Health warnings*. [Website] 2005 30 March 2009 [cited 25 November 2010]; Available from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/tobacco-warn.
- 37. Mahood, G., *Warnings that tell the truth: breaking new ground in Canada*. Tobacco Control 1999. **8**: p. 356-61.
- 38. Trade Practices Act (Cwth) (1974)

- 39. Trade Practices (Consumer Product Information Standards) (Tobacco) Regulations (Cwth) (2004).
- 40. Department of Health and Ageing. Graphic Health Warnings on Tobacco Product Packaging. 2007 [cited; Available from: <u>http://www.quitnow.info.au/internet/quitnow/publishing.nsf/Content/3172F58B51B8086ACA25</u> 76D60002D2B6/\$File/brochure.pdf
- 41. Department of Health and Ageing. *Cigarette Ingredient Disclosure*. [Website] 2005 [cited 16 December 2010]; Available from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/tobacco-ingred.
- 42. Department of Health and Ageing. *quitnow Graphic Health Warnings Television Commercial*. [Website] 2006 [cited 16 December 2010]; Available from: http://www.quitnow.info.au/internet/quitnow/publishing.nsf/Content/warnings-tvc.
- 43. Quit Victoria. *Quit Victoria Resource & Media Centre Campaign: Amputation* 2006 [cited 16 December 2010]; Available from: http://www.quit.org.au/media/article.aspx?ContentID=amputation.
- 44. Quit Victoria. *Quit Victoria Resource & Media Centre Campaign: Mouth cancer* 2006 [cited 16 December 2010]; Available from: http://www.quit.org.au/media/article.aspx?ContentID=mouth-cancer.
- 45. Summers, J., R. Borland, and M. Walker, *Psychology: an introduction*. 1989, Sydney: John Wiley & Sons.
- 46. Gilbert, D.T., S.T. Fiske, and G. Lindzey, eds. *The Handbook Of Social Psychology*. Fourth ed. 1998, McGraw Hill: Boston, Massachusetts.
- 47. Donovan, R. and N. Henley, *Social Marketing: Principles and Practice*. 2003, Melbourne: IP Communications.
- 48. Andreasen, A.R., *Social Marketing: Its Definition and Domain*. Journal of Public Policy & Marketing, 1994. **13**(1): p. 108-114.
- 49. Donovan, R. and N. Henley, *Principles nd Practice of Social Marketing: An international Perspective*. 2nd ed. 2010, Melbourne: IP Communications.
- 50. Festinger, L., *A theory of cognitive dissonance*. 1957, Stanford CA: Stanford University Press.
- Chapman, S., W. Wai Leng, and W. Smith, Self-Exempting Beliefs About Smoking and Health: Differences Between Smokers and Ex-Smokers. American Journal of Public Health, 1993. 83(2): p. 215-219.
- 52. Oakes, W., et al., "Bulletproof skeptics in life's jungle": which self-exempting beliefs about smoking most predict lack of progression towards quitting? Preventive Medicine, 2004. **39**(4): p. 776-782.
- 53. Heider, F., *The psychology of interpersonal relations*. 1958, New York: Wiley.
- 54. McGuire, W.J., *Some Internal Psychological Factors Influencing Consumer Choice*. Journal of Consumer Research, 1976. **2**(4): p. 302-319.
- 55. Chaiken, S., *Heuristic versus systematic information processing and the use of source versus message cues in persuasion*. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1980. **39**(5): p. 752-766.

- 56. Eagly, A.H., S. Chaiken, and B. Leonard, *Cognitive Theories of Persuasion*, in *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*. 1984, Academic Press. p. 267-359.
- 57. Petty, R.E., J.T. Cacioppo, and B. Leonard, *The Elaboration Likelihood Model of Persuasion*, in *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*. 1986, Academic Press. p. 123-205.
- 58. Becker, M.H., ed., *The Health Belief Model and Personal Health Behavior*. Health Education Monographs, 1974. **2**: p. 324-473.
- 59. Harrison, J.A., P.D. Mullen, and L.W. Green, *A Meta-Analysis of Studies of the Health Belief Model*. Health Education Research 1992. **7**: p. 107-116.
- 60. Bandura, A., *Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change*. Psychological Review, 1977. **84**(2): p. 191-215.
- 61. Rogers, R. W., *A protection motivation theory of fear appeals and attitude change*. Journal of Psychology, 1975. **91**: p. 93-114.
- 62. Salovey, P., A.J. Rothman, and J. Rodin, *Health Psychology*, in *The Handbook Of Social Psychology*, D.T. Gilbert, S.T. Fiske, and G. Lindzey, Editors. 1998, McGraw Hill: Boston, Massachusetts.
- 63. Bandura, A., *Social Learning Theory*. 1977, General Learning Press.
- 64. Rotter, J. B., Social Learning and Clinical Psychology. 1945: Prentice-Hall.
- 65. Ajzen, I. and M. Fishbein, *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior*. 1980, Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- 66. Fishbein, M. and I. Azjen, *Belief, attitude, intention and behaviour*. 1975, Reading, Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley.
- 67. Ajzen, I., *The theory of planned behaviour*. Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Process, 1991. **50**: p. 179-211.
- 68. Ajzen, I. and M. Fishbein, *Predicting behavior from intentions (Ch 4)*, in *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior*. 1980, Prentice-Hall: Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- 69. Ajzen, I. and M. Fishbein, *Determinantion of the Attitudinal and Normative Components (Ch 6)*, in *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior*. 1980, Prentice-Hall: Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- 70. Soley, L. and L. Reid, *Predicting Industrial Advertisement Readership*. Industrial Marketing Management, 1983(July): p. 201-206.
- 71. Strahan, E.J., et al., *Enhancing the effectiveness of tobacco package warning labels: a social psychological perspective.* Tobacco Control, 2002. **11**(3): p. 183–90.
- 72. Borland, R. and D.J. Hill, *Initial impact of the new Australian tobacco health warnings on knowledge and beliefs*. Tobacco Control, 1997. **6**: p. 317-325.
- Borland, R. and D. Hill, *The path to Australia's tobacco health warnings*. Addiction, 1997. 92(9): p. 1151-1157.
- 74. Hannah, D. and B. Sternthal, *Detecting and Explaining the Sleeper Effect*. Journal of Consumer Research, 1984(September): p. 632-642.
- 75. Hawkins, D., C. Neal, and P. Quester, *Consumer Behaviour: Implications for Marketing Strategy*. 1994, Sydney: Irwin.

- 76. Hassard, K., ed. *Australia's National Tobacco Campaign Evaluation Report Volume Two*. 2000, Commonwelath of Australia: Canberra.
- 77. Janis, I. and S. Feshbach, *Effects of fear-arousing communications*. J Abnorm Soc Psychol, 1953. **48**: p. 78-92.
- 78. Hill, D., S. Chapman, and R. Donovan, *The Return to Scare Tactics*. Tobacco Control, 1998. 7: p. 5-8.
- 79. Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman, *The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice*. Science, 1986. **211**: p. 453-458.
- 80. Meyerowitz, B. and C. Chaiken, *The effect of message framing on breast self-examination attitudes, intentions, and behaviors.* Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 1987. **52**: p. 500-510.
- 81. Borland, R., *Tobacco health warnings and smoking-related cognitions and behaviours*. Addiction, 1997. **92**(11): p. 1147-35.
- 82. Hammond, D., et al., *Effectiveness of cigarette warning labels in informing smokers about the risks of smoking: findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey.* Tobacco Control, 2006. **15**(Suppl 3): p. iii19–25.
- 83. Hammond, D., et al., *Impact of the graphic Canadian warning labels on adult smoking behaviour*. Tobacco Control, 2003. **12**(4): p. 391–5.
- 84. Hammond, D., et al., *Graphic Canadian Cigarette Warning Labels and Adverse Outcomes: Evidence from Canadian Smokers.* Am J Public Health, 2004. **94**(8): p. 1442-1445.
- 85. Anvisa. *Cigarette packs will display stronger images*. 28 October 2003, [cited December 2010]; Available from: <u>http://www.anvisa.gov.br/eng/informs/news/281003.htm</u>.
- 86. Willemsen, M., C. Simons, and G. Zeeman, *Impact of the new EU health warnings on the Dutch quit line*. Tob Control 2002. **11**: p. 381-382.
- 87. Department of Health and Ageing, *National Tobacco Strategy 2004 to 2009: The Strategy*. 2005, Commwealth of Australia: Canberra.
- 88. Hammond, D., et al., *Impact of the graphic Canadian warning labels on adult smoking behaviour*. Tobacco Control, 2003. **12**: p. 391-395.
- 89. Hammond, D., et al., *Text and Graphic Warnings on Cigarette Packages: Findings from the International Tobacco Control Four Country Study.* American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2007. **32**(3): p. 202-209.
- 90. Fong, G.T., Larger, Picture-Based Warnings Increase Effectiveness: Results from the ITC Project, in Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, Conference of the Parties 2. 2007, Framwork Convention Alliance: Bangkok.
- 91. Hammond, D., *Best Practices in Product Labelling*, in *Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, Conference of the Parties 2*. 2007, Framework Convention Alliance: Bangkok.
- 92. World Health Organization, *Guidelines for implementation of Article 11 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Packaging and labelling of tobacco products) (decision FCTC/COP3(10)).* 2009, World Health Organization: Geneva.
- 93. Department of Health and Ageing. *Tobacco Warnings Cigarette Packs Set A*. [Website] 2005 03 December 2007 [cited 2007 13 October 2008]; Available from:

http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/health-publith-strateg-drugs-tobacco-warning-packs-A.htm.

- 94. Department of Health and Ageing. *Tobacco Warnings Cigarette Packs Set B*. [Website] 2005 03 December 2007 [cited 2008 13 October 2008]; Available from: <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/health-publith-strateg-drugs-tobacco-warning-packs-B.htm</u>.
- 95. Mackinnon, A., et al., A short form of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule: Evaluation of factorial validity and invariance across demographic variables in a community sample. Personality and Individual Differences, 1999. **27**: p. 405-416.
- 96. Wroe, D., Warning plan for smokers under fire, in The Age. 2004, Age.
- 97. Noble, T., Cigarette makers forced to put smoking disease image on packets, in Sydney Morning Herald. 2004.
- 98. Richards, P., *A good story goes up in smoke*, in *Australian Financial Review*. 2004, Australian Financial Review.
- 99. Battle with tobacco, in The Australian. 2005, Australian.
- 100. Brenchley, F., *Fight to keep graphics off fags*, in *Australian Financial Review*. 2004, Australian Financial Review.
- 101. Harris, T. and M. McKinnon, *Cigarette warnings shrunk by cabinet*, in *The Australian*. 2005, Australian.
- 102. Wroe, D., Tobacco and campaign angers MPs, in The Age. 2004, Age.
- 103. Ellerman, A., Giant step in making smoking a pariah, in The Advertiser. 2004. p. 18.
- 104. Harper, T., Stay with big cigarette-pack warnings. 2004, Australian Financial Review.
- 105. Harper, T., *Australia's tardiness the burning question*, in *Australian Financial REview*. 2004, Australian Financial Review.
- 106. Smoking Kills, in Sydney Morning Herald. 2006: Sydney. p. 8.
- 107. Leo, J., Survey Graphic packets to combat ignorance. Smokers oblivious to high cancer risks in Adelaide Advertiser. 2006: Adelaide. p. 31.
- 108. Smith, B., *Grisly images aim to shock smokers into quitting for good*, in *Age*. 2006: Melbourne. p. 3.
- 109. Call to ban covers, in Adelaide Advertiser. 2006: Adelaide. p. 4.
- 110. Should cigarette "sleeves" be banned?, in Adelaide Advertiser. 2006: Adelaide. p. 18.
- 111. Jewett, P., Complete ban, in Adelaide Advertiser. 2006: Adelaide. p. 17.
- 112. Owen, M., SANFL chief's wife in smoking battle, in Adelaide Advertiser. 2006: Adelaide. p. 1.
- 113. Owen, M., Smokes covers morally worng Gago, in Adelaide Advertiser. 2006. p. 7.
- 114. Scholefield, B., Supporters appalled, in Adelaide Advertiser. 2006: Adelaide. p. 18.
- 115. Jewett, P., Alcohol warning labels, in Advertiser. 2006: Adelaide. p. 20.

- 116. Treccasi, L., Beware of cancer risks in alcohol, in Advertiser. 2006: Adelaide. p. 9.
- 117. Carter, S., R. Borland, and S. Chapman, *Finding the strength to kill your best friend Smokers talk about smoking and quitting.* 2001, Australian Smoking Cessation Consortium and GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare: Sydney.
- 118. Carter, S.M., *The Australian cigarette brand as product, person, and symbol.* Tob Control, 2003. **12**(90003): p. iii79-86.
- 119. Chapman, S. and B. Fitzgerald, *Brand preference and advertising recall in adolescent smokers: some implications for health promotion.* Am J Public Health, 1982. **72**(5): p. 491-494.
- 120. Pollay, R.W., *Targeting youth and concerned smokers: evidence from Canadian tobacco industry documents*. Tob Control, 2000. **9**(2): p. 136-147.
- 121. Maddux, J.E. and R.W. Rogers, *Protection motivation and self-efficacy: A revised theory of fear appeals and attitude change*. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 1983. **19**(5): p. 469-479.
- 122. Hammond, D., et al., *Graphic Canadian cigarette warning labels and adverse outcomes: evidence from Canadian smokers.* American Journal of Public Health, 2004. **94**(8): p. 1442–5.
- 123. O'Hegarty, M., et al., *Reactions of young adult smokers to warning labels on cigarette packages.* American Journal of Preventative Medicine, 2006. **30**(6): p. 467–73.
- 124. Willemsen, M., The new EU cigarette health warnings benefit smokers who want to quit the habit: results from the Dutch Continuous Survey of Smoking Habits. Eur J Public Health, 2005. 15(4): p. 389-92.
- 125. Borland R, et al., *How reaction to cigarette packet health warnings influence quitting: Findings from the ITC Four Country survey.* Addiction, 2009. **104**: p. 669-75.
- 126. White, V., B. Webster, and M. Wakefield, *Do graphic health warning labels have an impact on adolescents' smoking-related beliefs and behaviours?* Addiction, 2008. **103**(9): p. 1562–71.
- 127. Borland, R., et al., Impact of Graphic and Text Warnings on Cigarette Packs: Findings from Four Countries over Five Years. Tobacco Control, 2009(18): p. 358-64.
- 128. Hassard, K., ed. *Australia's National Tobacco Campaign Evaluation Report Volume One*. 1999, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra.
- 129. Hill, D., S. Chapman, and R. Donovan, *The return of scare tactics*. Tob Control, 1998. **7**(1): p. 5-8.
- 130. Research and Evaluation Committee, ed. *Australia's National Tobacco Campaign Evaluation Report Volume Three*. 2004, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra.
- 131. Wilson, D., M. Wakefield, and A. Taylor, *The South Australian Health Omnibus Survey*. Health Prom J Aust, 1992. **2**: p. 47-49.
- 132. Abernethy, A.P., et al., *Specialized palliative care services are associated with improved shortand long-term caregiver outcomes.* Support Care Cancer, 2008. **16**(6): p. 585-97.
- 133. Adams, R., et al., *Asthma prevalence, morbidity and management practices in South Australia,* 1992-1995. Aust N Z J Med, 1997. **27**(6): p. 672-9.
- 134. Goldney, R.D., et al., *Have education and publicity about depression made a difference? Comparison of prevalence, service use and excess costs in South Australia: 1998 and 2004.* Aust N Z J Psychiatry, 2007. **41**(1): p. 38-53.

- 135. MacLennan, A.H., A.W. Taylor, and D.H. Wilson, *Hormone therapy use after the Women's Health Initiative*. Climacteric, 2004. 7(2): p. 138-42.
- 136. Miller, C., et al., *Evaluation of smoke-free dining in South Australia: support and compliance among the community and restaurateurs.* Aust N Z J Public Health, 2002. **26**(1): p. 38-44.
- 137. Miller, C.L., et al., *Response of mass media, tobacco industry and smokers to the introduction of graphic cigarette pack warnings in Australia.* European Journal of Public Health, 2009. **19**(6): p. 644-649.
- 138. Miller, C.L., et al., *Impact on the Australian Quitline of new graphic cigarette pack warnings including the Quitline number*. Tob Control, 2009. **18**(3): p. 235-237.
- 139. Chapman, S., *Falling prevalence of smoking: how low can we go?* Tobacco Control, 2007. **16**: p. 145-147.
- 140. Department of Health (UK), *Consultation on the introduction of picutre warnings on tobacco packs*.
- 141. Miller, C.L., M. Wakefield, and L. Roberts, *Uptake and effectiveness of the Australian telephone Quitline service in the context of a mass media campaign*. Tob Control, 2003. **12**(Supp 2): p. 53ii-58.
- Pierce, J., et al., Promoting smoking cessation in the United States: effect of public service announcements on the Cancer Information Service telephone line. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1992.
 84(9): p. 677-83.
- 143. Siahpush M, et al., *Antismoking television advertising and socioeconomic variations in calls to Quitline*. J Epidemiol Community Health, 2007. **61**(4): p. 298-301.
- 144. Wakefield MA, et al., *Impact of tobacco control policies and mass media campaigns on monthly adult smoking prevalence*. American Journal of Public Health, 2008. **98**(8): p. 1443-50.
- 145. Hill, D.J., *Skin Cancer Prevention: A Commentary*. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2004. **27**(5): p. 482-3.
- 146. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2007 National Drug Strategy Household Survey: first results. Drug Statistics Series number 20.Cat. no. PHE 98. 2008, AIHW: Canberra.
- 147. Ministerial Council on Drug Strategy, *National Tobacco Strategy*, 2004-2009. 2005, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra.
- 148. Mullins, R., M. Morand, and R. Borland, Key findings of the 1994 and 1995 Household Survey, in Quit Evaluation Studies No. 8, 1994–1995. 1996, Victorian Smoking and Health Program: Melbourne. p. 1-23.
- 149. Environics Research Group Limited, *The health effects of tobacco and health warning messages on cigarette packages-- survey of adults and adult smokers: Wave 9 surveys.* 2005, Health Canada: Ottowa.
- 150. International Tobacco Control Policy Evaluation Project, *FCTC Article 11 Tobacco Warning Labels: Evidence and Recommendations from the ITC Project.* 2009, Roswell Park Cancer Institute: Buffalo, New York.
- 151. Hill, D.J., *New cigarette-packet warnings: are they getting through?* . Medical Journal of Australia 1988(148): p. 487-480.
- 152. Hoek, J., et al., *Lessons from New Zealand's introduction of pictorial health warnings on tobacco packaging*. Bull World Health Organ, 2010. **88**: p. 861-866.

- 153. Wilson, N., et al., *Distribution of new graphic warning labels: Are tobacco companies following regulations?* Tobacco Induced Diseases, 2009. **5**(1): p. 14.
- 154. Elliot and Shanahan Research, *Evaluation of the Effectiveness of the Graphic Health Warnings* on *Tobacco Product Packaging 2008*. 2009, Department of Health and Ageing: Canberra.
- 155. Li, J. and M. Grigg, *New Zealand: new graphic warnings encourage registrations with the quitline*. Tob Control, 2009: p. 18:72.
- 156. SPSS, PASW Statistics 17.0. 2009, SPSS Inc: Chicago.
- 157. Prime Minister of Australia. *Media Release: Anti-smoking action* 2010 [cited 7 November 2010]; Available from: <u>http://pmrudd.archive.dpmc.gov.au/taxonomy/term/9?page=3</u>.
- 158. Smokefree Coalition. *Tobacco Free New Zealand 2020: Achieving the Vision*. 2009 [cited 7 November 2010]; Available from: <u>http://www.sfc.org.nz/pdfs/091221AchievingtheVision.pdf</u>.
- 159. Oswal K, Pednekar M, and Gupta P, *Tobacco industry interference for pictorial warnings*. Indian Journal of Cancer, 2010. **47**(Suppl 1): p. 101-104.
- 160. Hammond, D., *Health warning messages on tobacco products: a review.* Tobacco Control, 2011. **online ahead of publication doi:10.1136/tc.2010.037630**
- 161. Goodall C and Appiah O, *Adolescents' perceptions of Canadian cigarette package warning labels: investigating the effects of message framing.* Health Communication, 2008. **23**(2): p. 117-127.
- 162. Vardavas C, et al., *Adolescents perceived effectiveness of the proposed European graphic tobacco warning labels.* European Journal of Public Health, 2009. **19**(2): p. 212-217.
- 163. Createc, *Effects of modified packaging through increasing the size of warnings on cigarette packages: Quantitative study of Canadian adult smokers and vulnerable non-smokers.* 2008, Health Canada: Ottawa.
- 164. Createc, *Effects of modified packaging through increasing the size of warnings on cigarette packages: Quantitative study of Canadian youth smokers and vulnerable non-smokers.* 2008, Health Canada: Ottawa.

Appendices

Australian Graphic Health Warnings

Reprints of published papers

NOTE: Appendix 1 is included in the print copy of the thesis held in the University of Adelaide Library.

Australian Government of Health and Aging, 2007, *Graphic Health Warnings on Tobacco Product Packaging Pamphlet*, QuitNow, Canberra.

NOTE: Appendix 2 is included in the print copy of the thesis held in the University of Adelaide Library.

Miller, C.L., Hill, D.J., Quester, P.G. & Hiller, J.E. (2009) Response of mass media, tobacco industry and smokers to the introduction of graphic cigarette pack warnings in Australia. *European Journal of Public Health, v. 19 (6), pp. 644 - 649*

NOTE: This publication is included in the print copy of the thesis held in the University of Adelaide Library.

It is also available online to authorised users at:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckp089

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Open Access

Smokers' recall of Australian graphic cigarette packet warnings & awareness of associated health effects, 2005-2008

Caroline L Miller^{1,2*}, Pascale G Quester³, David J Hill⁴ and Janet E Hiller^{2,5}

Abstract

Background: In 2006, Australia introduced graphic cigarette packet warnings. The new warnings include one of 14 pictures, many depicting tobacco-related pathology. The warnings were introduced in two sets; Set A in March and Set B from November. This study explores their impact on smokers' beliefs about smoking related illnesses. This study also examines the varying impact of different warnings, to see whether warnings with visceral images have greater impact on smokers' beliefs than other images.

Methods: Representative samples of South Australian smokers were interviewed in four independent cross-sectional omnibus surveys; in 2005 (n = 504), 2006 (n = 525), 2007 (n = 414) and 2008 (n = 464).

Results: Unprompted recall of new graphic cigarette warnings was high in the months following their introduction, demonstrating that smokers' had been exposed to them. Smokers also demonstrated an increase in awareness about smoking-related diseases specific to the warning messages. Warnings that conveyed new information and had emotive images demonstrated greater impact on recall and smokers' beliefs than more familiar information and less emotive images.

Conclusions: Overall graphic pack warnings have had the intended impact on smokers. Some have greater impact than others. The implications for policy makers in countries introducing similar warnings are that fresh messaging and visceral images have the greatest impact.

Background

The World Health Organization's Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) is a global health treaty designed to help curb the global tobacco epidemic and associated burden of disease and mortality [1]. Countries that ratify the FCTC commit themselves to a schedule of tobacco control legislative reform in an effort to advance disease prevention and health promotion. The regulation of packaging and labelling of tobacco products is one component of a comprehensive approach (see Articles 6-14). Australia was one of the first 40 countries to ratify the FCTC, and so became a full Party on 27 February 2005. In early 2006, Australia followed Canada, Brazil, Singapore, Thailand, Venezuela and Panama in introducing new graphic cigarette packet

* Correspondence: cmiller@cancersa.org.au



Cigarette packet warnings are an important form of health communication to consumers. Australia's graphic health warnings were designed to provide "a strong and confronting message to smokers about the harmful health consequences of tobacco products and convey the 'quit' message every time a person reaches for a cigarette" [3]. The stated intention was that graphic images would increase consumer awareness of the health effects of smoking, which would in turn decrease likelihood of smoking [3].

Theories of consumer behaviour and social psychology predict that a number of predisposing variables influence behaviour and the probability of behavioural change, with people's beliefs being an important contributor [4-7]. Consumer behaviour theory holds that behaviour change, such as stopping smoking, can be induced by increasing consumer perception that the



© 2011 Miller et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

¹Cancer Council SA, 202 Greenhill Rd, Eastwood, South Australia, Australia Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

behaviour is a 'problem' for them, requiring behavioural modification [4]. By increasing a person's belief that smoking leads to negative health consequences, pack warnings could change the consumer's satisfaction with his/her current status as a smoker and induce (or increase) his/her desire to quit, increasing the chances that s/he would try to quit.

It has been widely demonstrated that beliefs which are 'top of mind' for people or salient are also more likely to influence behaviour [5,8]. Hence, if pack warnings increase a person's awareness that smoking leads to particular negative health consequences, and the beliefs about those health consequence are salient for the smoker, they would be more likely to influence quitting behaviour.

Of course, other factors can also induce behavioural change such as other internal factors [6] and social and environmental factors also influence smoking behaviour [5]. Beliefs are, however, an important antecedent of behaviour change, and one that has the potential to be influenced by information contained in graphic cigarette packet warnings.

In order to change beliefs, consumer information first has to be noticed and attended to. Tobacco health warnings have also been shown to be effective in attracting and maintaining attention, as well as assisting information processing, provided the messages are clear, noticeable, strong, direct and frequently rotated [9]. International studies have demonstrated greater knowledge about particular health effects in countries where those health effects are the subject of a cigarette packet warning than in countries where they are not [10]. These studies have confirmed that smaller text-based cigarette packet warnings have lesser impact while larger warnings, including those with clear, simple language and graphic images, are associated with: better knowledge; higher recall; greater motivation to quit; and quit attempts [10-15]. Some smokers also take steps to avoid stronger warnings, particularly some graphic warnings [14]. Borland et al. [16] found no evidence that warning avoidance, arguably a defensive reaction against feararousing warnings, had a negative effect on quitting behaviour.

The new Australian graphic cigarette pack warnings (available for view elsewhere [17]) are larger than ever seen before on Australian cigarette packets and cover 30% of the front and 90% of the back of the pack. The graphic image of a health effect contrasts with the otherwise appealing aesthetics of the rest of the cigarette packaging. The Quitline number is 'stamped' on top of the graphic image on the backs of packs.

There are 14 different warnings divided into two sets; Set A and Set B [3]. The sets of warnings are rotated 12-monthly, including a 4 month transition period, during which any of the warnings from either set may appear. Set A only could appear on packs manufactured or imported from 1 March-31 October 2006. Set B only could appear on packs manufactured or imported from 1 March-31 October 2007.

The packs include a combination of new and familiar images and messages. Some messages had been on textbased packets for some time; others had not. Some images and messages had been used before in televised anti-tobacco social marketing campaigns; others had not. Table 1 lists the new warnings and the extent to which the text and imagery is new to Australian smokers. For example, "Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease", and "Smoking causes mouth and throat cancer" were unique in that they contained both new images and new messages and had not previously been the subject of text-based pack warnings or social marketing campaigns. Hence, these warnings would be novel for many smokers. By contrast "Smoking causes lung cancer" was introduced as a text-based pack warning in 1987 and the image on the packet was used in a televised anti-tobacco campaign from 1997.

We wanted to explore the changes in recall of the new warnings over time as well as changes in beliefs about the health effects of smoking, associated with the new system of graphic warnings. We also looked at the differential impact of individual new health warnings on smokers, given that the extent to which each of the new warnings: captures attention; delivers new information (or old information in new ways); is comprehended; changes awareness or beliefs about health effects; and is recalled, are all important aspects of information processing. These variables influence the degree to which different warnings may influence behaviour change.

One study has already indicated that Australian warnings were noticed by the majority of adolescents and led to increased cognitive processing about the health risks covered [18]. Another study demonstrated that new Australian health warnings were read and noticed more than UK's text only warnings and that they stimulated thoughts about the harms of smoking, thoughts about quitting and the behaviour of foregoing cigarettes [19]. Our study measured changes in smokers' basic beliefs about the different harms of smoking, at the adult population level over time, as the various warnings were rolled out. The study also measured degree of recall of specific warnings. In this study, changes in beliefs and recall were measured across smokers in the community as a whole and among different subgroups, such as younger smokers. The purpose of these sub-group analyses was to ascertain whether graphic cigarette packet warnings had differential impact with different demographic groups of smokers or whether any impact was universal. Anti-tobacco television campaigns have

Text	Image	First use of compon	warning ents	Previous TV anti-smoking campaign or health effect		
		Text	Image			
Set A						
Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease	Gangrenous foot	2006 (Mar)	2006 (Mar)	No		
Smoking causes emphysema	Dissected lung	2006 (Mar)	1997	Yes		
Smoking causes mouth and throat cancer	Cancerous lip	2006 (Mar)	2006 (Mar)	No		
Smoking clogs your arteries	Dissected artery	2006 (Mar)	1997	Yes		
Don't let children breathe your smoke	Child on oxygen	2006 (Mar)	2006 (Mar)	Yes		
Smoking - a leading cause of death	Bar chart	2006 (Mar)	2006 (Mar)	Yes		
Quitting will improve your health	Quitline caller	2006 (Mar)	1998*	Yes		
<u>Set B</u>						
Smoking causes blindness	Eye close up	2006 (Nov)	2000	Yes		
Smoking doubles your risk of stroke	Dissected brain	2006 (Nov)	1998	Yes		
Tobacco smoke is toxic	Beaker of chemicals	2006 (Nov)	2000*	Yes		
Smoking harms unborn babies/(Smoking while pregnant may harm the unborn child)	Premature baby	2006 (Nov)/ 1995	2006 (Nov)	No		
Smoking is addictive	Stained fingers	1995	2006 (Nov)	Yes		
Smoking causes lung cancer	Tumour close up	1987	1997	Yes		
Smoking causes heart disease	Heart surgery	1987	2006	Yes		

Table 1 New cigarette packet warnings and previous use of warning components in Australia

* Essentially equivalent image to that was used in television campaign

consistently demonstrated that images and messages eliciting a visceral response and messages that are novel or "new news" are more likely to be attended to and have impact on quitting behaviour [20-22]. Hence, it is hypothesized that new packet warnings which are most novel or contain the newest 'news' for smokers will result in the greatest attention to the pack warnings themselves, greatest recall of warnings and greatest increases in basic beliefs about smoking related illnesses. It is further hypothesized that visceral images will have greater impact on these variables than other images.

Other factors likely to influence behaviour change, including perceived ability to change behaviour, social and environmental factors are beyond the scope of the current study.

Methods

Sample

Data were collected as a part of the South Australian Health Omnibus Surveys; annual independent cross-sectional surveys of the South Australian population, undertaken from September to November. These population surveys involve a multistage, systematic, clustered area sample of households, with Australian Bureau of Statistics Collector's Districts as the sampling frame. Greater details on sampling are provided elsewhere [23]. At each selected household, one person aged 15 years or older whose birthday was due next was selected for interview. Structured interviews were conducted in the respondents' own homes by trained interviewers. Up to six call-back visits were made to each household in an attempt to obtain an interview if the respondent was not home.

(Nov)

The South Australian Health Omnibus Survey tool used the same methods each year. Data were weighted by household size, age, gender and local government area, so that estimates would reflect the South Australian population. Hence, the samples are directly comparable from year to year. Studies measuring changes over time in behaviour and attitudes in the South Australian population, using this tool and its comparable samples, have been accepted in many areas of inquiry [24-28].

Data for this study were collected in the South Australian Health Omnibus Surveys of 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008. The survey achieved response rates of 70.9%, yielding 3047 interviews in total and 571 smokers in

2005; 63.8% with N = 2969 (609 smokers) in 2006; 62.7% with N = 2401 (478 smokers) in 2007; and 53.6% with N = 2824 (553 smokers) in 2008. Despite different response rates the samples from the four survey years did not differ significantly in age, gender or quitting experience. Respondents were classified as smokers if in response to the question: "Do you currently smoke: daily; at least weekly (but not daily); less often than weekly; or not at all", they answered other than "not at all". Similarly, respondents were classified as smokers of manufactured cigarettes according to their responses to the question "How often do you smoke manufactured cigarettes: Daily, weekly; less than weekly; or not at all". This study was restricted to the responses of smokers of manufactured cigarettes. Non-smokers (never-smokers and ex-smokers) were not included in this study because it was not expected that they would be exposed to or attuned to cigarette packet warnings.

The 2005 survey occurred before any new packet warnings were introduced, the 2006 survey occurred after Set A warnings were introduced and became prevalent in stores [29] but before Set B warnings were rolled out. The 2007 survey occurred after Set B warnings were introduced.

Measurements

Participants were asked a series of questions. To measure top of mind awareness of the effects of smoking, participants were first asked "Which illnesses are caused by smoking?" Participants were not prompted with response options. Some but not all of the pre-coded response options matched the new warnings, as listed in Table 2. To assess recall of pack warnings, participants were asked "In the past 6 months, how often, if at all, have you noticed advertising or information that talks about the dangers of smoking, or encourages quitting". Prompted response options were "never", "rarely", "sometimes", "often" or "very often". If they did not respond "never" they were then asked "Where did you see that information?" Unprompted pre-coded responses included "TV", "radio", "cigarette packets", "cinema" and "internet". Smokers and ex-smokers were later asked "As far as you know, what do the warnings on cigarette packets say?" Pre-coded options for the unprompted responses included all new and previous cigarette packet warnings as well as "Quitline number", "Pictures of effects of smoking" and "Don't know/can't remember". Participants were also asked "Can you tell me the name of any services or programs available to help people quit smoking". Unprompted response options were "Quitline", "Quit campaign", "Nicotine Replacement Therapy", "Zyban/buproprion", "Talking to a doctor", "Alternative Therapy", "Other" and "Don't know". Subsequent to that, smokers were asked whether "During the past year, have you done any of the following: "Called the Quitline", and so on for other quitting services. All of these questions have been routinely used in the South Australian Health Omnibus Survey for 10 years.

Newness or novelty of text and images included in the graphic cigarette packet warnings is defined by their use in previous population based tobacco control interventions, namely text-based cigarette packet warnings and mass media cessation campaigns. Table 1 provides information about previous use of pack warnings text content and images. When text has been used previously in text-based cigarette packet warnings it is classified as "old". When text has not been used previously in text-based cigarette packet warnings it is classified as "old". When text has not been used previously in text-based cigarette packet warnings it is classified as "new". When images have been used in mass media campaigns previously they are classified as "old" and when they have not they are classified as "new".

Statistical Analyses

Data analyses were undertaken using STATA v10.0. STATA provides survey estimating tools required to account for this survey design. The survey estimating tools adjust the standard errors to account for the design which involved clustering by Australian Census District, stratification (metropolitan vs. rural) and data that are weighted to the population. Inter-year and intra-year differences between proportions were analysed using Pearson chi-square statistics which are then converted in to F-statistics to account for survey design.

Results

Respondents

The South Australian Health Omnibus Survey samples reflected the South Australian population. In the 2005 survey, for example, 49.0% of respondents were male. Overall, 23.7% were aged 15-29, 27.9% were aged 30-44, 24.0% were aged 45-59 and 24.3% were aged 60+. In 2005, 77.5% of respondents were Australian born (with 3.5% of respondents being Indigenous Australians), 9.4% were from the UK or Ireland; 6.4% were European born and 6.1% were born in other countries. Overall, 6.5% of respondents were still at school, 12.5% did not complete high school, 28.2% had high school education only, 36.3% had completed a trade or certificate and 15.9% had completed a university degree. In 2005, 18.7% of the sample were current smokers and 16.5% (n = 504) were smokers of manufactured cigarettes. In 2006, 20.5% were smokers 17.7% (n = 525) and smoked manufactured cigarettes. In 2007, 19.9% were smokers and 17.2% (n = 414) smoked manufactured cigarettes. In 2008, 19.6% were smokers and 16.4% (n = 464) smoked manufactured cigarettes.

Awareness of health effects

Table 2 shows the changes in awareness about different health consequences of smoking over time. Top-of-mind

		2005 (n = 504)	2006 (n = 525)	2007 (n = 414)	2008 (n = 464)
Beliefs that smoking causes illness and/or damage to the body					
Set A related beliefs	Text/Image				
Emphysema	New/Old	60%	59%	57%	52%
Mouth cancer	New/New	10%	24% ^a	21% ^a	21% ^a
Throat cancer	New/New	14%	17%	17%	22% ^b
Gangrene	New/New	4%	27% ^a	25% ^a	28% ^a
Blocked arteries	New/Old	10%	19% ^b	14%	12% ^β
Set B related beliefs					
Blindness/Eye damage	New/Old	16%	11%	25% ^b	16% ^φ
Stroke	New/Old	9%	8%	17% ^b	11% ^φ
Harms unborn babies*	New/Old	8%	5%	13% ^c	13%
Addiction [#]	Old/New	7%	10%	10%	10%
Heart disease [#]	Old/New	39%	34%	36%	33%
Lung cancer#	Old/New	55%	53%	55%	55%
<u>'Control' beliefs</u>					
Asthma	n/a	20%	19%	15%	6% ^a
Cough	n/a	9%	6%	8%	12%
Blood pressure	n/a	11%	7%	7%	7%
Impotence	n/a	0%	0%	<1%	<1%
What services are available to help smokers quit					
Quitline		71%	75%	81% ^a	78% ^c
Correct recall of Quitline number		5%	n/a	14% ^b	n/a
Method of quit attempt (of those who tried to quit in the past year)		(n = 201)	(n = 209)	(n = 163)	(n = 164)
Called the Quitline		7%	8% ^b	11%	12%

Table 2 Awareness of health effects, Quitline and use of Quitline (unprompted) (smokers of manufactured cigarettes only)

* Similar to previous warning "smoking in pregnancy may harm the unborn child" # Old warnings and new warning.

^aSignificant difference from baseline (2005) p < 0.001.

^bSignificant difference from baseline (2005) p < 0.01.

^cSignificant difference from baseline (2005) p < 0.05.

 $^{\beta}$ Significant difference from 2006 p < 0.01.

 $^{\phi}\text{Significant}$ difference from 2007 p < 0.05.

responses that smoking caused gangrene increased 6fold between baseline (2005) and the next year when those warnings were introduced (2006). Awareness that smoking caused mouth cancer more than doubled. Topof-mind awareness that smoking caused blocked arteries, blindness, stroke, throat cancer and harm to unborn babies all rose significantly after the related warnings were introduced.

Between baseline and 2006 and/or 2007 and/or 2008, significant increases in awareness occurred for nearly all diseases which were also the subject of new pack warnings. No increases were observed in awareness about emphysema, lung cancer, heart disease or addiction, all of which started from a high baseline and/or were already warnings on packs. No increases were observed in health effects unrelated to pack warnings e.g. asthma and impotence.

Unprompted awareness of the Quitline as a service available to help smokers quit rose significantly over time, as did the proportion of smokers able to recite the Quitline number.

Recall of warnings

Table 3 shows that general recall of anti-tobacco advertising among smoking participants increased markedly in the year that pack warnings were introduced. This effect was specific to cigarette pack warnings, in that while there was a more than doubling in participants

Table 3 Noticing warnings and recall of specific pack warnings (unprompted) (smokers of manufactured cigarettes only)

		2005 (n = 504)	2006 (n = 525)	2007 (n = 414)	2008 (n = 464)
Noticed anti-tobacco advertising in the past 6 mo	onths				
% often or very often		67%	89% ^a	91% ^a	93% ^a
Where - % on TV		89%	93%	91%	93% ^c
Where - % on radio		19%	22%	20%	24%
Where - % on Internet		<1%	1%	1%	2% ^c
Where - % on cigarette packs		20%	56% ^a	57% ^a	53% ^a
Notice warnings on cigarette packets (prompted)					
% Often or very often		63%	86% ^a	-	-
Recall of new warnings					
Pictures		0%	14% ^a	9% ^a	12% ^a
Quitline number		<1%	9% ^a	10% ^a	12% ^a
Set A	Text/Image				
Smoking causes emphysema	New/Old	3%	23% ^a	20% ^a	27% ^a
Smoking causes mouth and throat cancer	New/New	<1%	32% ^a	16% ^{a,α}	24% ^a
Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease	New/New	0%	40% ^a	26% ^{a,α}	30% ^{a,α}
Smoking clogs your arteries	New/Old	<1%	11% ^a	7% ^{a,} x	14% ^{a,δ}
Smoking - a leading cause of death	New/New	2%	10% ^a	5% ^c	10% ^a
Quitting will improve your health	New/Old	0%	6% ^a	5% ^a	7% ^a
Don't let children breath in your smoke	New/New	1%	13% ^a	2% ^α	7% ^{c, α, δ}
Set B					
Smoking causes blindness	New/Old	<1%		17% ^a	12% ^{a,φ}
Smoking doubles your risk of stroke	New/Old	<1%		9 % ^a	5% ^a
Tobacco smoke is toxic	New/Old	<1%		4% ^a	4% ^b
Smoking harms unborn babies*	Old*/New	29%		31%	25%
Smoking is addictive [#]	Old/New	8%		8%	4% ^c
Smoking causes heart disease [#]	Old/New	38%		31% ^c	28% ^b
Smoking causes lung cancer [#]	Old/Old	56%		48% ^c	46% ^b
Don't know/can't remember		2%	3%	5% ^c	5% ^c

*Very similar to previous warning "smoking in pregnancy may harm the unborn child".

[#]Old warnings and new warning.

^aSignificant difference from baseline (2005) p < 0.001.

^bSignificant difference from baseline (2005) p < 0.01.

^cSignificant difference from baseline (2005) p < 0.05.

^{α}Significant difference from 2006 p < 0.001.

^{χ}Significant difference from 2006 p < 0.05.

^{δ}Significant difference from 2007 p < 0.001.

^{ϕ}Significant difference from 2007 p < 0.05.

reporting (unprompted) they had noticed anti-tobacco information on cigarette packets, virtually no change was observed in relation to television or other sources. Cigarette packets became the second most cited source of anti-tobacco messaging after television. When prompted, 86% of smokers reported noticing new warnings on cigarette packets. Immediately after the two-phased introduction of the new pack warnings, for all the new health warnings significant increases were observed in the proportion of smokers recalling new messages. There was no increased recall of any of the new graphic warnings that retained old messages. The long standing warning "Smoking causes lung cancer" remained the most recalled (48%), followed by the totally new "Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease" (40%), "Smoking causes throat and mouth cancer" (32%), "Smoking causes heart disease" (31%) and "Smoking harms unborn babies" (31%). Recall was lowest for "Tobacco smoke is toxic" (4%), "Quitting will improve your health" (6%), "Smoking - a leading cause of death" (10%). The graphic new version "Smoking is addictive" remained low at 8%. The mean absolute change for "new"/"new" warnings (i.e. packs with new images and new text; n = 4) was 23% and the mean absolute change for "new"/"old" and "old"/"new" packs (n = 9) was 7%.

Differences between subgroups

Table 4 shows the different responses of sub-groups to the new warnings. All groups were significantly more likely to report noticing cigarette warnings after the new warnings were introduced.

"Smoking harms unborn babies" was more recalled by younger smokers. Female smokers were more likely to recall warnings relating to gangrene, mouth cancer and children than their male counterparts. These were the exception; more often than not, there were no significant differences in recall of the warnings between subgroups. Generally, warnings with the highest increased recall overall (e.g. "Gangrene" and "mouth and throat cancer"), were also the warnings with the highest increases in recall among all sub-groups. Generally, warnings that had weaker recall overall were also the weakest within the sub-groups.

Younger smokers were significantly better able to recount the Quitline number than older smokers after it was introduced onto cigarette packets, showing a dramatic increase from baseline. After the new warnings were introduced, awareness of the Quitline number increased in both smokers interested to quit in the next 6 months and those not interested. A greater gain was observed among smokers not (yet) seriously considering quitting.

Effects over time

Tables 2 and 3 present data from 2005 to 2008. Data in Table 3 show that cigarette packets remained a noticed source of anti-tobacco advertising. Table 3 shows indications of decline in recall of warnings introduced in early 2006 (Set A) during 2007, with some recall rebounding again in 2008. Similarly, some fall off of Set B warnings recall occurred in 2008. Table 2 shows very little evidence of decline in recall of health effects of smoking specific to new packet warnings, 2 years post first implementation. Table 3 shows that two-years post implementation, "Smoking causes lung cancer" remained the highest recalled pack (46%), followed by a second tier: "peripheral vascular disease", "heart disease", "emphysema", "unborn babies", "mouth and throat cancer" ranging from 30% to 24% unprompted recall. Those with lowest impact initially remained low, with recall ranging down to 4% for "toxic" and "addictive".

Discussion

This study demonstrates that new graphic cigarette packet warnings coincided with increased awareness among smokers of the health consequences of smoking observed in cross-sectional surveys of South Australian smokers across four years. While it is possible that these increases in awareness of smoking related illnesses may have happened due to other influences or by chance, new graphic cigarette packet warnings are the most likely cause of the increases in awareness of smoking related disease.

Over the time that new graphic cigarette pack warnings were introduced, we observed substantial increases in top-of-mind awareness of diseases that were the subject of new warnings, and no increases in awareness of other health effects. Further supporting evidence was provided by the increased proportion of smokers who reported noticing warnings on cigarette packets after the new warnings were introduced. We also observed significant increases in smokers' unprompted recall of pack warnings as a source of anti-tobacco information. Again, this effect was isolated to pack warnings and not generalised to other sources such as television. After the new warnings were introduced, cigarette packets became second only to television as a recalled source of antitobacco messages for smokers. Arguably, noticing antitobacco messages on television could be at saturation point, after 20 years of regular anti-smoking campaigns. However, there was no increase in noticing messages on the less used media of radio or on the internet.

As observed in this study, it has been demonstrated previously that new messages delivered via television campaigns can markedly increase awareness of smoking related diseases in a 6-month period. As was the case in this study, the effects on awareness were specific to the diseases highlighted in the advertisements and not generalised to all smoking related illnesses [21].

Similar to the Canadian experience [14], cigarette packets became a prominent important source of antitobacco information, after graphic cigarette warnings were introduced, and they remained so in the 2 years after they were introduced. In this study there was some evidence of a spike of recall of new warnings with some short term attrition, followed by more steady results. Importantly, most of the data in this study are on unprompted recall, so it is to be expected that top-ofmind recall of warnings and associated health beliefs would be highest in the year that new warnings are introduced, and that it might subsequently be displaced

		Notice packs Gangrene (unprompted)		Emphysema		Mouth & Throat		Arteries		Don't let children		Cause of death		Quitting			
		2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006	2005	2006
Age	e groups																
	15-29 years (n ₂₀₀₅ = 135; n ₂₀₀₆ = 159)	26.1	60.7 ^a	0.0	39.5 ^α	2.2	19.8 ^α	1.7	36.5 ^α	0.0	7.6 ^x	0.7	18.4 ^α	2.2	12.2 ^β	0.0	2.6
	30-44 (n ₂₀₀₅ = 205; n ₂₀₀₆ = 168)	15.4	56.5 ^α	0.5	46.5 ^α	3.4	29.4 ^α	0.3	31.2 ^α	0.5	11.7 ^α	1.2	12.6 ^α	1.4	8.0 ^x	0.0	7.0 ^β
	45-59 (n ₂₀₀₅ = 109; n ₂₀₀₆ = 130)	20.5	52.8 ^α	0.4	37.0 ^α	5.8	21.8 ^α	1.6	28.3 ^α	0.0	13.6 ^α	0.9	8.4 ^α	2.1	10.1 ^x	0.4	9.0 ^α
	60+ ($n_{2005} = 55; n_{2006} = 68$)	25.7	46.9 ^x	0.0	30.2 ^a	1.6	18.7 ^α	0.0	28.8 ^α	0.9	15.4 ^β	0.0	7.4	0.0	5.7 ×	0.0	4.2
Sex					b				b				b	С	С		
	Male (n ₂₀₀₅ = 258; n ₂₀₀₆ = 284)	18.9	52.5 ^α	0.2	33.4 ^α	2.9	24.9 ^α	0.8	24.1 ^α	0.4	8.5 ^α	0.8	8.0α	2.6	6.5	0.2	4.4 ^α
	Female ($n_{2005} = 246$; $n_{2006} = 241$)	22.1	59.3 ^α	0.4	47.6 ^α	4.0	21.2 ^α	0.9	40.8 ^α	0.2	14.8 ^α	1.0	18.1 ^α	0.6	13.0 ^α	0.0	7.5 ^α
Plar moi	nning to quit in next 6 nths																
	Yes (n ₂₀₀₅ = 275; n ₂₀₀₆ = 287)	18.9	54.7 ^α	0.0	38.8 ^α	3.2	21.6 ^α	0.6	34.5 ^α	0.4	9.2 ^α	1.4	14.0 ^α	1.6	8.5 ^β	0.0	6.0 ^α
	No/Can't say ($n_{2005} = 229$; $n_{2006} = 235$)	22.3	56.7 ^α	0.6	41.3 ^α	3.7	25.2 ^α	1.3	28.5 ^α	0.2	14.1 ^α	0.3	11.0 ^α	1.6	10.7 ^α	0.2	5.6 ^α
TOT	AL (n ₂₀₀₅ = 504; n ₂₀₀₆ = 525)	20.5	55.6 ^α	0.3	40.0 ^α	3.4	23.2 ^α	0.9	31.8 ^α	0.3	11.4 ^a	0.9	12.7 ^α	1.6	9.5 ^α	0.1	5.8 ^α
		Correc Quitli	t recall ne no.	Unk bal	oorn Dies	Blind	lness	Lu car	ng icer	He dise	art ease	Str	oke	Addi	ctive	То	xic
		2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007	2005	2007
Age	groups		d		d			b						С		С	
	15-29 years (n ₂₀₀₅ = 135; n ₂₀₀₇ = 119)	7.2	26.8 ^β	27.4	41.3	0.9	11.9 ^α	59.3	50.2	45.9	28.7 ^x	0.7	5.4 ^x	12.9	11.6	1.9	4.1
	30-44 (n ₂₀₀₅ = 205; n ₂₀₀₇ = 148)	5.8	11.9	33.6	34.2	0.2	19.9 ^α	62.6	56.0	36.9	38.0	0.7	10.5 ^α	8.9	8.3	0.0	5.6 ^α
	45-59 (n ₂₀₀₅ = 109; n ₂₀₀₇ = 109)	1.0	6.8 ^β	25.6	22.4	0.0	20.3 ^α	51.6	41.0	35.0	26.9	0.7	10.7 ^β	2.6	4.2	0.0	3.5 ^x
	60+ (n ₂₀₀₅ = 55; n ₂₀₀₇ = 39)	0.0	1.8	18.3	13.0	0.0	13.1 ^β	33.2	38.3	26.7	22.0	0.0	7.5 ^x	5.4	8.3	0.0	3.6
Sex																	4 4 ^β
<u>Sex</u>	Male (n ₂₀₀₅ = 258; n ₂₀₀₇ = 200)	5.9	10.7	29.4	28.0	0.2	14.5 ^α	58.1	45.1 ^χ	39.1	29.2	0.9	8.3 ^α	6.9	7.9	0.0	
<u>Sex</u>	Male ($n_{2005} = 258$; $n_{2007} = 200$) Female ($n_{2005} = 246$; $n_{2007} = 214$)	5.9 3.6	10.7 16.8 ^α	29.4 27.6	28.0 34.1	0.2 0.5	14.5 ^α 19.5 ^α	58.1 54.1	45.1 ^x 52.1	39.1 36.4	29.2 32.6	0.9 0.3	8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α	6.9 9.6	7.9 8.5	0.0 1.0	4.5 ^x
<u>Sex</u>	Male ($n_{2005} = 258$; $n_{2007} = 200$) Female ($n_{2005} = 246$; $n_{2007} = 214$) aning to quit in next 6	5.9 3.6	10.7 16.8 ^α	29.4 27.6	28.0 34.1	0.2 0.5	14.5 ^α 19.5 ^α	58.1 54.1	45.1 ^x 52.1	39.1 36.4	29.2 32.6	0.9 0.3	8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α	6.9 9.6	7.9 8.5	0.0	4.5 ^x
<u>Plar</u>	Male $(n_{2005} = 258; n_{2007} = 200)$ Female $(n_{2005} = 246; n_{2007} = 214)$ nning to quit in next 6 nths	5.9 3.6	10.7 16.8 ^α	29.4 27.6	28.0 34.1	0.2 0.5	14.5 ^α 19.5 ^α	58.1 54.1	45.1 ^x 52.1	39.1 36.4	29.2 32.6	0.9	8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α	6.9 9.6	7.9 8.5	0.0	4.5 ^x
<u>Plar</u> mor	Male $(n_{2005} = 258; n_{2007} = 200)$ Female $(n_{2005} = 246; n_{2007} = 214)$ aning to quit in next 6 <u>nths</u> Yes $(n_{2005} = 275; n_{2007} = 209)$	5.9 3.6 5.9	10.7 16.8 ^α 12.9 ^χ	29.4 27.6 27.9	28.0 34.1 35.8	0.2 0.5 0.2	14.5 ^α 19.5 ^α 18.3 ^α	58.1 54.1 59.2	45.1 ^x 52.1 51.2	39.1 36.4 41.0	29.2 32.6 32.8	0.9 0.3 0.5	8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α 9.8 ^α	6.9 9.6 7.6	7.9 8.5 8.0	0.0 1.0 0.3	4.5 ^χ 3.7 ^β
<u>Plar</u> moi	Male $(n_{2005} = 258; n_{2007} = 200)$ Female $(n_{2005} = 246; n_{2007} = 214)$ ming to quit in next 6 <u>nths</u> Yes $(n_{2005} = 275; n_{2007} = 209)$ No/Can't say $(n_{2005} = 229; n_{2007} = 205)$	5.9 3.6 5.9 2.8	10.7 16.8 ^α 12.9 ^χ 14.8 ^β	29.4 27.6 27.9 29.3	28.0 34.1 35.8 26.4	0.2 0.5 0.2 0.5	 14.5^α 19.5^α 18.3^α 15.8^α 	58.1 54.1 59.2 52.5	45.1 ^x 52.1 51.2 46.2	39.136.441.033.9	29.232.632.829.0	0.9 0.3 0.5 0.8	8.3 ^α 9.3 ^α 9.8 ^α 7.8 ^α	6.9 9.6 7.6 9.0	7.9 8.5 8.0 8.4	0.0 1.0 0.3 0.8	 4.5^χ 3.7^β 5.1^χ
<u>Plar</u> mon	Male $(n_{2005} = 258; n_{2007} = 200)$ Female $(n_{2005} = 246; n_{2007} = 214)$ ming to quit in next 6 <u>ming to quit in next 6</u> Yes $(n_{2005} = 275; n_{2007} = 209)$ No/Can't say $(n_{2005} = 229; n_{2007} = 205)$ TAL $(n_{2005} = 504; n_{2007} = 414)$	5.9 3.6 5.9 2.8 4.5	10.7 16.8 ^α 12.9 ^χ 14.8 ^β 13.9 ^β	29.4 27.6 27.9 29.3 28.5	28.034.135.826.431.1	0.2 0.5 0.2 0.5 0.3	 14.5^α 19.5^α 18.3^α 15.8^α 17.1^α 	58.1 54.1 59.2 52.5 56.1	 45.1^χ 52.1 51.2 46.2 48.7^α 	39.136.441.033.937.8	 29.2 32.6 32.8 29.0 30.9^α 	0.9 0.3 0.5 0.8 0.6	 8.3^α 9.3^α 9.8^α 7.8^α 8.8^α 	6.9 9.6 7.6 9.0 8.2	 7.9 8.5 8.0 8.4 8.2 	0.0 1.0 0.3 0.8 0.5	 4.5^χ 3.7^β 5.1^χ 4.4^α

|--|

Significant differences within year (between subgroups): Chi-square: a = p < 0.001; b = p < 0.01; c = p < 0.05; Chi-square for trend: d = p < 0.001.

from top-of-mind by more recent warnings. This would be consistent with Fishbein & Ajzen's [5] contention that people's salient beliefs about the consequences of any contemplated action do not exceed 5-9 in number. Warning and health effect recall does appear to stabilise but more longitudinal data are required to ascertain longer term effects.

The impact varied greatly between warnings. "Smoking causes heart disease" and "lung cancer" are warnings that have been on Australian cigarette packets for a long time (as text-based warnings). They are also diseases which a high proportion of smokers were already aware were caused by smoking, at baseline. Awareness of these diseases and recall of these pack warnings remained high but demonstrated no improvement once the new graphic warnings were introduced. "Smoking is addictive" was also a graphic adaptation of an old textbased warning. Like "heart disease" and "lung cancer" messages, no significant increase was observed in awareness of the relationship with smoking, or in recall of the warnings. However, unlike "heart disease" and "lung cancer", "addictive" stayed at a low level on both measures. At baseline, smokers already had a high awareness of the relationship between smoking and emphysema. The introduction of the completely new "emphysema" warning (with a familiar graphic - see Table 1), did increase recall of the warnings but did not shift the already high awareness of the disease among smokers. These four cases suggest that adding a graphic image (or at least these graphic images) to an old warning or an "old news" disease did nothing to improve awareness or recall.

By contrast, when baseline awareness of a disease/ damage caused by smoking was low, and the disease/ damage had not previously been used as a pack warning, awareness grew very significantly. Greatest growth in awareness was observed in relation to gangrene (4% to 27%) and mouth cancer (10% to 24%), both of which were "new news" and contained new images. Even topics that involved new warnings but images and messages which had been the subject of previous tobacco control campaigns (see Table 1) induced significant growth in awareness: "blocked arteries" increased 8%; "blindness" increased 9%; and "stroke" increased 8%. Hence, based on these examples, adding a new graphic image (or at least these graphic images) to a new warning would seem to improve awareness considerably, as does adding a familiar graphic image to a new warning.

Moreover, those warnings most recalled across the board and in different subgroups were those which were "new news", and used new images and particularly images of body parts likely to elicit a visceral "yuck" response. "Gangrene" (40% unprompted recall) and "mouth cancer" (32%) were dominant in this sense. Although "heart disease", "lung cancer" and "harms unborn babies" were also recalled well (49%, 31% and 31% respectively) and contained visceral or emotive images, the new packs failed to provoke an improvement in recall over baseline, suggesting their high recall cannot be attributed to the graphic imagery.

The warnings with weakest recall were "Tobacco smoke is toxic" (4%), "Smoking is addictive" (8%), "Quitting will improve your health" (6%), "Smoking - a leading cause of death" (11%). With the exception of "Smoking is addictive" all of these warnings are general rather than specific about the consequences of smoking and none of these warnings contain images of body parts. Anti-tobacco television campaigns have consistently demonstrated that images and messages eliciting a visceral response and messages that are novel or "new news" are more likely to be attended to and have impact on quitting behaviour [20,22,30]. This study demonstrates that these findings are generalisable to cigarette pack warnings. This study also demonstrates that these findings apply to smokers in general, as well as to different subgroups of smokers.

The addition of the Quitline number to the cigarette packet appears to have increased general top-of-mind awareness of the availability of the Quitline service. This is noteworthy because the Australian Quitline has been operating for over two decades and already enjoyed high levels of awareness. Although not significant, a coincident trend was observed in increased use of the Quitline as a source of help to quit. The proportion of smokers who knew the Quitline number doubled; and in 2007, one in eight smokers could recite the number accurately. An independent study demonstrated that calls to the Australian Quitline doubled in the year after the new warnings were introduced [31].

Health promotion often aims to segment different messages for different markets in the expectation of having greater impact. The case has been made, using mass-media quit campaigns as the example, that this is unnecessary and even counter-productive because it comes at a cost, namely the dilution of resources required for population-wide campaigns [32]. Comparisons between warnings as well as comparisons between population sub-groups show that what "works", works well across the board and what "doesn't work" across the board, also doesn't work well with any subgroup. The only exception in this study was the greater propensity shown by women and younger smokers to respond to warnings about unborn babies and children, presumably because their closer specific personal relevance. Overall, this study provides another example of a population-based intervention working well with both smokers generally and within subgroups, building the case for non-segmented interventions.

This study provides clear evidence that Australia's new graphic cigarette packets succeeded in attracting the attention of Australian smokers. A limitation of this study is that it did not explicitly ask smokers what, about the different warnings, attracted their attention, nor did it ask smokers directly about their perceptions of the credibility of different warnings. Some warnings may have been better recalled than others because smokers thought they made outrageous and incredible claims. However, this study provides evidence that smokers did find the highly recalled warnings credible. The fact that smokers' unprompted recall of illnesses caused by smoking increased in line with the increased recall of warnings is evidence of this. Changes in awareness about the harms of smoking are an important antecedent to behaviour change for many smokers. Whether behaviour change did follow was not measured in the current study.

This study provides support for the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control Article 11, mandating large cigarette packet warnings and recommending graphic imagery. Tobacco control policies, such as the FCTC and Australia's National Tobacco Control Strategies, recognise the complexity of smoking behaviour and the multiple behavioural and structural interventions required to reduce tobacco's toll. Graphic cigarette packet warnings play a role as one component of a comprehensive suite of tobacco control interventions.

Conclusions

In conclusion, Australian graphic cigarette packet warnings have been shown in this study to have caught the attention of Australian smokers who have extended the range of their beliefs about the harmful consequences of smoking. Lessons for policy makers planning to introduce graphic warnings are that, as with anti-tobacco television campaigns, "new news" attracts more attention than "old news" and visceral images are more powerful than other graphics. The importance of "new news" should also be considered by policy makers in countries where graphic warnings have already been introduced, as many of the health effects of smoking are unfamiliar to many smokers and an opportunity exists to increase awareness by updating and rotating warnings.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Cancer Council SA.

Author details

¹Cancer Council SA, 202 Greenhill Rd, Eastwood, South Australia, Australia. ²Discipline of Public Health, School of Population Health and Clinical Practice, University of Adelaide, South Australia, Australia. ³University of Adelaide Business School, South Australia, Australia. ⁴The Cancer Council Victoria, 1 Rathdowne St, Carlton, Victoria, Australia. ⁵Australian Catholic University, Melbourne, Australia.

Authors' contributions

All authors participated in the conceptual development, the study design, the writing and editing of the article. In addition, CLM was also responsible for data analysis and drafting of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Received: 30 November 2010 Accepted: 17 April 2011 Published: 17 April 2011

References

- 1. World Health Organization: WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003.
- 2. Commonwealth of Australia: Trade Practices (Consumer Product Information Standards) (Tobacco) Regulations. 2004.

- Hawkins D, Neal C, Quester P: Consumer Behaviour: Implications for Marketing Strategy Sydney: Invin; 1994.
- Fishbein M, Azjen I: Belief, attitude, intention and behaviour Reading, Massachusetts: Addison-Wesley; 1975.
- Rogers RW: A protection motivation theory of fear appeals and attitude change. Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied 1975, 91(1):93-114.
- Maddux JE, Rogers RW: Protection motivation and self-efficacy: A revised theory of fear appeals and attitude change. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology* 1983, 19(5):469-479.
- 8. Fishbein M, Ajzen I: *Predicting and Changing Behavior* New York: Taylor & Francis Group; 2010.
- Strahan EJ, White K, Fong GT, Fabrigar LR, Zanna MP, Cameron R: Enhancing the effectiveness of tobacco package warning labels: a social psychological perspective. *Tobacco Control* 2002, 11(3):183-190.
- Hammond D, Fong GT, McNeill A, Borland R, Cummings KM: Effectiveness of cigarette warning labels in informing smokers about the risks of smoking: findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey. Tobacco Control 2006, 15(Suppl 3):iii19-25.
- 11. Willemsen M: The new EU cigarette health warnings benefit smokers who want to quit the habit: results from the Dutch Continuous Survey of Smoking Habits. *Eur J Public Health* 2005, **15(4)**:389-392.
- Hammond D, Fong G, McDonald P, Brown K, Cameron R: Graphic Canadian cigarette warning labels and adverse outcomes: evidence from Canadian smokers. *American Journal of Public Health* 2004, 94(8):1442-1445.
- O'Hegarty M, Pederson LL, Nelson DE, Mowery P, Gable JM, Wortley P: Reactions of young adult smokers to warning labels on cigarette packages. American Journal of Preventative Medicine 2006, 30(6):467-473.
- Hammond D, Fong GT, Borland R, Cummings KM, McNeill A, Driezen P: Text and graphic warnings on cigarette packages: findings from the international tobacco control four country study. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine* 2007, 32(3):202-209.
- Hammond D, Fong G, McDonald P, Cameron R, Brown K: Impact of the graphic Canadian warning labels on adult smoking behaviour. *Tobacco Control* 2003, 12:391-395.
- Borland R, Yong HH, Wilson N, Fong GT, Hammond D, Cummings KM, et al: How reaction to cigarette packet health warnings influence quitting: Findings from the ITC Four Country survey. Addiction 2009, 104:669-675.
- Department of Health and Ageing: Graphic Health Warnings on Tobacco Product Packaging. Canberra: Australian Government; 2007.
- White V, Webster B, Wakefield M: Do graphic health warning labels have an impact on adolescents' smoking-related beliefs and behaviours? *Addiction* 2008, 103(9):1562-1571.
- Borland R, Wilson N, Fong GT, Hammond KD, Cummings M, Yong HH, Hosking W, Hastings G, Thrasher J, McNeill A: Impact of Graphic and Text Warnings on Cigarette Packs: Findings from Four Countries over Five Years. *Tobacco Control* 2009, 18: 358-364.
- Hill D, Chapman S, Donovan R: The Return to Scare Tactics. *Tobacco Control* 1998, 7:5-8.
- Hassard K, (Ed.): Australia's National Tobacco Campaign Evaluation Report Volume One Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 1999.
- 22. Research and Evaluation Committee (Ed.): *Australia's National Tobacco Campaign Evaluation Report Volume Three* Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2004.
- 23. Wilson D, Wakefield M, Taylor A: The South Australian Health Omnibus Survey. *Health Prom J Aust* 1992, 2:47-49.
- 24. Abernethy AP, Currow DC, Fazekas BS, Luszcz MA, Wheeler JL, Kuchibhatla M: Specialized palliative care services are associated with improved short- and long-term caregiver outcomes. *Support Care Cancer* 2008, 16(6):585-597.
- Adams R, Ruffin R, Wakefield M, Campbell D, Smith B: Asthma prevalence, morbidity and management practices in South Australia, 1992-1995. *Aust N Z J Med* 1997, 27(6):672-679.
- Goldney RD, Fisher LJ, Grande ED, Taylor AW, Hawthorne G: Have education and publicity about depression made a difference? Comparison of prevalence, service use and excess costs in South Australia: 1998 and 2004. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2007, 41(1):38-53.

- 27. MacLennan AH, Taylor AW, Wilson DH: Hormone therapy use after the Women's Health Initiative. *Climacteric* 2004, 7(2):138-142.
- Miller C, Wakefield M, Kriven S, Hyland A: Evaluation of smoke-free dining in South Australia: support and compliance among the community and restaurateurs. Aust N Z J Public Health 2002, 26(1):38-44.
- Miller CL, Hill DJ, Quester PG, Hiller JE: Response of mass media, tobacco industry and smokers to the introduction of graphic cigarette pack warnings in Australia. *European Journal of Public Health* 2009, 19:644-649.
- Hassard K, (Ed.): Australia's National Tobacco Campaign Evaluation Report Volume Two Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2000.
- Miller CL, Hill DJ, Quester PG, Hiller JE: Impact on the Australian Quitline of new graphic cigarette pack warnings including the Quitline number. *Tob Control* 2009, 18(3):235-237.
- 32. Chapman S: Falling prevalence of smoking: how low can we go? *Tobacco Control* 2007, 16:145-147.

Pre-publication history

The pre-publication history for this paper can be accessed here: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/11/238/prepub

doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-238

Cite this article as: Miller *et al.*: Smokers' recall of Australian graphic cigarette packet warnings & awareness of associated health effects, 2005-2008. *BMC Public Health* 2011 11:238.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

BioMed Central



Impact on the Australian Quitline of new graphic cigarette pack warnings including the Quitline number

C L Miller, D J Hill, P G Quester and J E Hiller

Tob. Control 2009;18;235-237; originally published online 11 Feb 2009; doi:10.1136/tc.2008.028290

Updated information and services can be found at: http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/cgi/content/full/18/3/235

These include:

References	This article cites 7 articles, 6 of which can be accessed free at: http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/cgi/content/full/18/3/235#BIBL
Open Access	This article is free to access
Rapid responses	You can respond to this article at: http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/cgi/eletter-submit/18/3/235
Email alerting service	Receive free email alerts when new articles cite this article - sign up in the box at the top right corner of the article

Notes

To order reprints of this article go to: http://journals.bmj.com/cgi/reprintform

Impact on the Australian Quitline of new graphic cigarette pack warnings including the Quitline number

C L Miller,^{1,2} D J Hill,³ P G Quester,⁴ J E Hiller²

ABSTRACT

Background: In March 2006, Australia introduced graphic pictorial warnings on cigarette packets. For the first time, packs include the Quitline number.

Objective: To measure the combined effect of graphic cigarette pack warnings and printing the Quitline number on packs on calls to the Australian Quitline service.

Methods: Calls to the Australian Quitline were monitored over 4 years, 2 years before and after the new packets were introduced.

Results: There were twice as many calls to the Quitline in 2006 (the year of introduction), as there were in each of the preceding 2 years. The observed increase in calls exceeds that explained by the accompanying television advertising alone. While call volume tapered back in 2007, it remained at a level higher than before the introduction of new packets. No change was observed in the proportion of first time callers.

Conclusion: Introducing graphic cigarette packet warnings and the Quitline number on cigarette packets boosts demand for Quitline services, with likely flow on effects to cessation.

In March 2006, graphic health warnings were included on cigarette and other tobacco packs in Australia. In addition, and for the first time, the Australian Quitline number was printed on packets. Prior to 2006, Australia had text-based warnings. There was an infoline number printed in small text on the side of the pack. This number diverted to the Quitline.

Like the text-based warnings that preceded them, the graphic health warnings are mandated under Australia's Trade Practices Act,1 which includes regulations to inform and protect consumers. Graphic images and explanatory messages cover 30% of the front and 90% of the back of the pack. The message "You CAN quit smoking. Call the Quitline 131 848, talk to your doctor or pharmacist, or visit www.quitnow.info.au" is also included on the back of all packs. The Quitline number is also "stamped" on top of the graphic image on the backs of packs. Regulations prescribe the details of the size of the elements.¹ There are 14 different warnings divided into 2 sets,23 rotated semi-annually. Many but not all of the messages and images were new to Australian smokers. Currently, there is no provision to update the messages or images on packets that were introduced to consumers in 2006.

A series of mass media campaign activities accompanied the introduction of the new cigarette packet warnings. The Australian Government screened an awareness raising campaign in February 2006.⁴ In addition, a collaboration of Australian state and territory-based non-government health agencies developed a campaign to reinforce the pack warnings and promote quitting. This quit campaign featured two television commercials (TVCs) linked directly to the new graphic cigarette packet warnings; "Amputation",⁵ linked to the warning "Smoking causes peripheral vascular disease" and "Mouth Cancer",⁵ linked to the warning "Smoking causes mouth and throat cancer". "Amputation" first aired in May 2006 and "Mouth Cancer" first aired in July 2006.

Australia is not the first country to introduce a Quitline or smokers' helpline number on cigarette packets. In 2002, a smoking cessation message and quit line number were included on Dutch cigarette packets, along with prominent text warnings. This led to a 3.5-fold increase in calls to the Dutch Quitline.⁶ In the UK, written pack warnings, accompanied by a smoking helpline number, were reported as the second largest driver of callers to the UK National Health Service Stop Smoking Helpline.⁷ However, to date, no data have been published on the impact of the graphic cigarette packet warnings, accompanied by a Quitline number, on demand for a Quitline service.

It is well established that television advertising to promote quitting can increase calls to Quitlines⁸⁻¹⁰ and, therefore, quitting itself.¹¹ This study measures the impact of new style cigarette packets, which included graphic cigarette packet warnings and the Quitline number, on calls to the Australian Quitline, and the extent to which call volume exceeded that which would be expected from the usual mass media cessation advertising.

METHODS

Quitline call data

The Australian Quitline can be accessed from anywhere in Australia by dialling 131848 or 13 QUIT (137848) for the price of a local call. The Telstra Analyser (Telestra, Melbourne, Australia), software of the telecommunications provider, provides data on volume of calls, call source (broken down by state and region), time and duration of calls.

Individual states and territories have their own databases of caller details. These data were examined in one jurisdiction (South Australia), where callers who spoke to a counsellor (51% of all callers) were asked routinely whether they had called the Quitline before.

¹ The Cancer Council South Australia, Eastwood, South Australia, Australia; ² Discipline of Public Health, School of Population Health and Clinical Practice, University of Adelaide, South Australia, Australia; ³ The Cancer Council Victoria, Victoria, Australia; ⁴ Business School, University of Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

Correspondence to: C Miller, The Cancer Council South Australia, PO Box 929, UNLEY BC SA 5061, Australia; cmiller@cancersa.org.au

Received 27 October 2008 Accepted 29 January 2009 Published Online First 11 February 2009



This paper is freely available online under the BMJ Journals unlocked scheme, see http:// tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/info/ unlocked.dtl

Brief report

Advertising data

Television anti-smoking advertising is quantified using target audience rating points (TARPs), provided by a media agency ACNielsen (Sydney, Australia). TARPs are a standard measure of television advertising weight. TARPs are used to indicate the number of people within a certain demographic group that were exposed to an advertisement within a given period of time. For example, 100 TARPs for 1 week is equal to an average of 1 exposure per person in the target population within that week of the campaign. In the present study, the TARPs relate to the target audience of Australians aged \geq 18 years.

Analyses

Data analyses were conducted with SPSS V. 15 (SPSS, Chicago, Illinois, USA). Linear regression analyses were used to estimate the effect on calls to the Quitline of television advertising and the introduction of graphic pack warnings using data from January 2004 to December 2007 inclusive. In regression modelling, calls to the Quitline were the dependent variable, TARPs were a continuous independent variable and separate dummy variables were created for 2006 and 2007. Although data were not distributed normally, data were not transformed as this did nothing to strengthen the resulting model.

RESULTS

Figure 1 shows the volume of calls to the Australian Quitline service over a 4-year period. Every year, calls to the Quitline peak at New Year, around World No Tobacco Day (31 May) and coinciding with other major cessation campaigns. In 2006, the Australian Quitline received 164 850 calls. This compares with 81 490 calls in 2004, 84 442 calls in 2005 and 117 544 calls in 2007. The number of calls received in 2006, the year that new

graphic cigarette packet warnings including the Quitline number were introduced, represents a doubling of calls received in either of the preceding 2 years. The number of calls received in 2006 was 40% higher than those received in 2007, the year after the warnings were introduced.

Calls increased markedly when new cigarette packet warnings were first introduced. Call volume levelled off in the weeks following the initial launch but built up again in subsequent months when the accompanying quit campaign TVCs were launched.

The linear regression model showed significant relationships between the independent variables and the dependent variable overall and had good overall explanatory value (F = 133.4; p<0.001; adjusted R² = 0.657). The model predicted a base number of calls (constant B = 1161; t = 17.0, p<0.001); a significant linear relationship between every 100 TARPs and calls to the Quitline (B = 119.0; t = 12.6; p<0.001); and separate independent increases in calls were observed for years 2006 (B = 1236.2; t = 11.7; p<0.001); and 2007 (B = 341.0; t = 3.2; p = 0.001), above what was explained by TARPs alone. Call volume was still elevated in 2007, compared to 2004 and 2005, although there was erosion in call volume from 2006.

When a South Australia subsample of callers to the Quitline was examined further, it revealed that there was no increase in the proportion of first time callers in 2006 (77%), the year in which new pack warnings including the Quitline number were introduced, compared to 2005 (78%).

DISCUSSION

Australia is a "mature" tobacco control market where most forms of tobacco promotion are banned, increasing the significance of the packet as a medium for marketing.¹² The introduction of graphic health warnings on cigarette packets



Figure 1 Calls to the Australian Quitline prior to and after the introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings.

What this paper adds

- Many countries are moving to introduce graphic cigarette packet warnings; some with a Quitline or helpline number.
- However, the impact on calls to the Quitline of graphic (in contrast to text-only) warnings with accompanying Quitline number has not previously been quantified.
- This study shows that even in a "mature" tobacco control environment such as Australia, such an intervention has considerable positive impact on demand for a Quitline, with positive implications for quitting.

represented a major change in Australia. The new warnings are larger than the old text-based warnings, they are in colour, many feature confronting images known to have a strong impact on smokers (unpublished results) and, for the first time, they feature the Quitline number prominently. Graphic cigarette packet warnings provided a chance to communicate new information to Australian smokers in a new way. They went some way towards countering the glamourisation and promotion of tobacco through packet appearance.

Since the 1980s, most Australian state and territories have established strong anti-tobacco (quit) mass media campaigns, supported by the Australian Quitline. Because of the clear relationships between high-quality mass media campaigns, calls to the Quitline and quitting behaviour,^{9 11} the introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings was viewed by health agencies as an opportunity to reinforce and sustain any impact with tailored new mass media quit campaigns. As a consequence, it is not possible to completely separate the independent effects of the packs themselves and the accompanying mass media communications themed around the pack warnings.

However, the rise in calls to the Australian Quitline service observed in this study was substantial and sustained. The size and timing of the rise in calls, compared to the previous 2 years, indicates that this is highly likely to be due to the introduction of the new graphic cigarette packet warnings that included the Quitline number. The regression analysis also demonstrates that it is very unlikely that mass media alone explained the observed increase in calls because the introduction of the warnings had an independent effect. Further evidence that mass media quit campaigns were not the primary cause of increased calls is the fact that some of the increase in calls was observed prior to the launch of the quit campaigns. The Quitline number is a prominent but integrated component of the new-style warnings on Australian cigarette packets. There was no prominent display of the Quitline number on Australian cigarette packets prior to this, only the low-profile infoline number. Therefore it is not possible to separate the contributions of the components of the new warnings: namely the visual image, the large warning text, the detailed warning on the back of the packet or the Quitline number. Their impact has been measured as a whole.

There was no change in the proportion of first time callers, compared to the previous year, indicating that the intervention had a positive effect upon new quitters and repeat callers.

The observed increase in call volume did persist in the year following the introduction of the warnings (2007). Although

there are 14 different warnings, with a scheduled rotation mechanism, it is likely that the reduction in call volume was due to a degree of "wear out". This provides another example of a health promotion intervention having a positive effect more akin to a spring than a screw.¹³ The analogy is one about sustainability. Once driven down, a screw stays where it is whereas a spring needs ongoing pressure to avoid a rebound due to opposing force. Tobacco control initiatives, such as graphic warnings, compete in an environment with opposing forces, including below-the-line tobacco promotion and consumer adaptation levels to warnings. The apparent "wear out" of the initial impact of the warnings suggests the need for governments to be able to change warnings for the sake of maintaining novelty (and avoiding desensitisation) and to inform smokers of the hazards that come to light from research published since the set of warnings was prescribed.

In conclusion, the Australian Quitline experienced a doubling of calls upon introduction of graphic cigarette packet warnings that included a prominent Quitline number. Other countries with mature tobacco markets could expect a similar impact upon introduction of graphic warnings, especially if accompanied by reinforcing mass media activities. The flow-on effects in terms of quitting are likely to be substantial. Previous research has demonstrated that at 12 months, around 30% of callers to the Australian Quitline have succeeded in quitting smoking,⁹ making such warnings an important source of consumer information but also a worthwhile cessation intervention.

Acknowledgements: The authors thank The Cancer Council Victoria and AC Nielsen for the provision of TARP data.

Funding: This study was funded by the Cancer Council South Australia.

Competing interests: None.

REFERENCES

- Commonwealth of Australia. Trade Practices (Consumer Product Information Standards) (Tobacco) Regulations, Commonwealth Consolidated Acts. Canberra, Australia: 2004
- Department of Health and Ageing. Tobacco Warnings Cigarette Packs Set A. http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/health-pubhlthstrateg-drugs-tobacco-warning-packs-A.htm (accessed 24 October 2008).
- Department of Health and Ageing. Tobacco Warnings Cigarette Packs Set B. http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/health-pubhlthstrateg-drugs-tobacco-warning-packs-B.htm (accessed 24 October 2008).
- Department of Health and Ageing. Quitnow Graphic Health Warnings Television Commercial. http://www.quitnow.info.au/internet/quitnow/publishing.nsf/Content/ warnings-tvc (accessed 24 October 2008).
- Quit Victoria. 2006 Television advertisements. http://www.quit.org.au/browse. asp?ContainerID=2006 tv advertisement1 (accessed 24 October 2008).
- Willemsen M C, Simons C, Zeeman G. Impact of the new EU health warnings on the Dutch quit line. *Tob Control* 2002;11:381–2.
- Department of Health (UK). Consultation on the introduction of picture warnings on tobacco packs. http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@ dh/@en/documents/digitalasset/dh 4135496.pdf (accessed 24 October 2008).
- Pierce JP, Anderson D, Romano RM, et al. Promoting smoking cessation in the United States: effect of public service announcements on the cancer information service telephone line. J Natl Cancer Inst 1992;84:677–83.
- Miller CL, Wakefield MA, Roberts L. Uptake and effectiveness of the Australian telephone Quitline service in the context of a mass media campaign. *Tob Control* 2003;12:ii53–8.
- Siahpush M, Wakefield M, Spittal M, et al. Antismoking television advertising and socioeconomic variations in calls to Quitline. J Epidemiol Community Health 2007;61:298–301.
- Wakefield MA, Durkin S, Spittal MJ, et al. Impact of tobacco control policies and mass media campaigns on monthly adult smoking prevalence. Am J Public Health 2008;98:1443–50.
- Wakefield M, Morley C, Horan JK, et al. The cigarette pack as image: new evidence from tobacco industry documents. *Tob Control* 2002;11:73–80.
- 13. Hill DJ. Skin cancer prevention: a commentary. Am J Prev Med 2004;27:482-3.

NOTE: Appendix 5 is included in the print copy of the thesis held in the University of Adelaide Library.

Miller, C.L., Hill, D.J., Quester, P.G. & Hiller, J.E. (2011) The impact of Australia's new graphic cigarette packet warnings on smokers' beliefs and attitudes. *Australasian Marketing Journal, v. 19 (3), pp. 181-188*

NOTE: This publication is included in the print copy of the thesis held in the University of Adelaide Library.

It is also available online to authorised users at:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ausmj.2011.05.004